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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended September 28, 2013

Or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 000-10030

APPLE INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)

California 94-240411C

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

1 Infinite Loop
Cupertino, California 95014

(Address of principal executive offices (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code(408) 996-1010

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(bheRct:
Common Stock, no par value The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC

(Title of class) (Name of exchange on which registerec

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(¢gh@fct: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405%edb#turities Act.
Yes No O

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Act.
Yes O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant €l filed all reports required to be filed by Secti® or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for ssfobrter period that the registrant was requirefilécsuch reports), and (2) has been sul
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant hdmnitted electronically and posted on its corpoléieb site, if any, every Interactive D
File required to be submitted and posted pursuaRule 405 of Regulation $8232.405 of this chapter) during the precedif@grionths (c
for such shorter period that the registrant wasired to submit and post such files).

Yes No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquélgrs pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation SE&229.405 of this chapter) is not contai
herein, and will not be contained, to the besth# tegistrants knowledge, in definitive proxy or information &ments incorporated
reference in Part Il of this Form 10-K or any amerent to this Form 10-K.[X]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-axxcelerated filer, or a smaller repor!
company. See the definitions of “large accelerdiled,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportingpmpany” in Rule 12b-»f the Exchanc
Act.

Large accelerated fileX] Accelerated filel O
Non-acceleratefiler O (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar O



Indicate by check mark whether the registrantskell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act)
Yes O No

The aggregate market value of the voting and ndamgastock held by nomffiliates of the registrant, as of March 29, 208 last busine
day of the registrardg’ most recently completed second fiscal quartes e@proximately $416,005,000,000. Solely for puegosf thi:
disclosure, shares of common stock held by exeeufficers and directors of the registrant as ahsdate have been excluded because

persons may be deemed to be affiliates. This dé&tetian of executive officers and directors as liafiiés is not necessarily a conclu
determination for any other purposes.

899,738,000 shares of common stock were issuedatstanding as of October 18, 2013.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s definitive proxy statnt relating to its 2014 annual meeting of shddgre (the “2014 Proxy Statement)e
incorporated by reference into Part Il of this Aiah Report on Form 1B-where indicated. The 2014 Proxy Statement wilffikeel with the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission withind&@s after the end of the fiscal year to which thjsort relates.
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The Business section and other parts of this AniRegort on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”) contain forwarlboking statements, within tl
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Refoklit of 1995, that involve risks and uncertaintigany of the forwardeoking statemen
are located in “Management’s Discussion and Analyfi Financial Condition and Results of Operatiéf®rward-looking statements provi
current expectations of future events based oracedassumptions and include any statement that doeslirectly relate to any historical
current fact. Forward-looking statements can alsoitbentified by words such as “future,” “anticipag “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,”
“intends,” “plans,” “predicts,” “will,” “would,” “c  ould,” “can,” “may,” and similar terms. Forwardiooking statements are not guarant
of future performance and the Company’s actual ltesmay differ significantly from the results dissed in the forward-lookingtatement:
Factors that might cause such differences inclidé are not limited to, those discussed in Paltdm 1A of this Forn10-K under the headir
“Risk Factors,” which are incorporated herein byfegence. Each of the terms the “Company” and “Appés used herein refers collectiv
to Apple Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiarieslesn otherwise stated. The Company assumes nabbligo revise or update any forward-
looking statements for any reason, except as requiy law.

PART |
Item 1. Business
Company Background

The Company designs, manufactures, and marketslenodinmunication and media devices, personal coenpuand portable digital mu
players, and sells a variety of related softwagevises, peripherals, networking solutions, anddtparty digital content and applications. -
Company’s products and services include iPhdne ad $P, Mac® , iPo® , Apple TV a portfolio of consumer and professional softy
applications, the iOS and OS® operating syste@Isuid® ,and a variety of accessory, service and suppaegtioffs. The Company also s
and delivers digital content and applications tigiothe iTunes Storé App Store™, iBooks Store™, and Mac App Store. Tenfany sell
its products worldwide through its retail storegjime stores, and direct sales force, as well asutih thirdparty cellular network carrie
wholesalers, retailers, and value-added reselieraddition, the Company sells a variety of thiraity iPhone, iPad, Mac and iPod compa
products, including application software, and vasi@accessories, through its online and retail stofee Company sells to consumers; s
and mid-sized businesses (“SMB”); and educatioterpnise and government customers. The Comparscalfiyear is the 52 or 58eek perio
that ends on the last Saturday of September. Unldmswise stated, all information presented iis fiorm 10-K is based on the Company’
fiscal calendar. The Company is a California coation established in 1977.

Business Strategy

The Company is committed to bringing the best @sgerience to its customers through its innovalimedware, software and services.
Companys business strategy leverages its unique abiligegign and develop its own operating systems weae application software, @
services to provide its customers new products soidtions with superior ease-oée, seamless integration, and innovative desidye
Company believes continual investment in researdh development, marketing and advertising is @itio the development and sale
innovative products and technologies. As part ®fsirategy, the Company continues to expand itfopta for the discovery and delivery
third-party digital content and applications thrbufye iTunes Store. As part of the iTunes Store,Gompanys App Store and iBooks St
allow customers to discover and download applicatiand books through either a Mac or Windows-basedputer or through “iOS devices,”
namely iPhone, iPad and iPod tough . The Compmaiac App Store allows customers to easily discodewnload and install M
applications. The Company also supports a commuaityhe development of thirgarty software and hardware products and digitatert
that complement the Company’s offerings. The Comdalieves a higlguality buying experience with knowledgeable sadespns who ce
convey the value of the Company’s products andiees\greatly enhances its ability to attract artdinecustomers. Therefore, the Company’
strategy also includes enhancing and expandimgnitsretail and online stores and its thpdrty distribution network to effectively reach re
customers and provide them with a high-quality saled post-sales support experience.

1
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Business Organization

The Company manages its business primarily on grgebic basis. Accordingly, the Company determiitedeportable operating segme
which are generally based on the nature and latafidts customers, to be the Americas, Europeada@reater China, Rest of Asia Pacific
Retail. The Americas segment includes both Nortth &outh America. The Europe segment includes Earogeuntries, as well as India,
Middle East and Africa. The Greater China segmantudes China, Hong Kong and Taiwan. The Rest d& Aacific segment includ
Australia and Asian countries, other than thosentries included in the Comparsyother operating segments. The Retail segmentatg:
Apple retail stores in 13 countries, including HHeS. Each operating segment provides similar harelvead software products and sinr
services. The results of the Compangeographic segments do not include results oRitil segment. Further information regarding
Company’s operating segments may be found in Rdtein 7 of this Form 10-K under the subheadingd®ent Operating Performanceyic
in Part Il, Item 8 of this Form 10-K in the Notes@onsolidated Financial Statements in Note 11gh$nt Information and Geographic Data.”

Products
iPhone

iPhone is the Company’s line of smartphones thatlines a phone, music player, and internet deviaane product, and is based on Apgple’
iOS Multi-Touch™ operating system. iPhone has an integratetbpand video camera and photo library app, anduatifying devices, als
includes Siri® ,a voice activated intelligent assistant. iPhoneksowith the iTunes Store, the App Store and iBoBksre for purchasin
organizing and playing music, movies, TV shows, qastls, books, and apps. In addition to apps deliveith iOS, beginning in Septem
2013, free downloads of iPhoto , iMovie and iW@rlpps for iOS became available with all new iPhorféisone is compatible with bc
Mac and Windows personal computers and Agpl€loud services which provide synchronizatiomwdil, contacts, calendars, apps, mt
photos, documents, and more across users’ deVlibedatest versions, introduced in September 28d8iPhone 5c¢ and iPhone 5s.

iPad

iPad and iPad mini™ are the Company’s line of muliipose tablets based on Apple’s iOS Muilbbch operating system. iPad has
integrated photo and video camera and photo libapgy, and on qualifying devices, also includes. 8%d works with the iTunes Store,
iBooks Store, and the App Store for purchasing @laging music, movies, TV shows, podcasts, booRd, apps. In addition to apps delive
with iOS for qualifying devices, beginning in Septeer 2013, iPhoto, iMovie and iWork apps for iOSdme available as free downloads
all new iPads. iPad is compatible with both Mac &viddows personal computers and AppléCloud services. In October 2013, the Com|
announced iPad Air™, its fifth generation iPad, #&ald mini with Retin& display.

Mac

Mac is the Companyg' line of desktop and portable personal compubdexs feature Intel microprocessors, the OS X opegatystem ar
include Mail, Safari web browser, Messages, Caled@eminders, Contacts and the iLffe suite ofveafe apps. The Compasyteskto
computers include iMa® , Mac PR and Mac mini. T®@mpany’'s portable computers include MacBook Prod BlacBook Air® .
Beginning in October 2013, the Company’s iWork pratilzity suite of apps for OS X became availabldéras downloads with all new Macs.

iPod

The Company’s iPod line of portable digital musitanedia players includes iPod touch, iPod nandPod ishuffle® and iPod classic All
iPods work with iTunes to purchase and synchrooimgent. iPod touch, based on the Company’s iOSiMolch operating system, is a flash
memory-based iPod with an integrated photo
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and video camera and photo library app, and aldades Siri. iPod touch works with the iTunes Steoine App Store, and the iBooks Store
purchasing and playing music, movies, TV shows,cpets, books, and apps. In addition to apps deliverith iOS, beginning in Septem
2013, iPhoto, iMovie and iWork apps for iOS becaamailable as free downloads for all new iPod tosclifeod touch is compatible with b
Mac and Windows personal computers and Apple’su€lgervices.

iTunes and the iTunes Store

Apple’s iTunes app, available for both Mac and Wiwd personal computers, keeps userasic, movies, and TV shows organized in
place. iTunes is integrated with the iTunes Sttire,App Store and the iBooks Store. The iTuneseSatiows users to purchase and down
music and TV shows and to rent or purchase moviks.iTunes Store also includes hundreds of thousahéree Podcasts on a multitude
subjects. The App Store allows customers to discamd download apps and purchase in-app contestiBd¢oks Store featureshmoks fron
major and independent publishers. iTune® &llows users to download free lectures, videos, rande from top universities, museums,
other institutions. iTunes also features Geniusasito find songs that go together and organize itheargenrebased mixes and Home Shai
to allow users to stream content from one comptatenother computer as well as to iOS devices a&wknversions of the CompasyApple
TV. In September 2013, Apple introduced iTunes B&atia free Internet streaming service that allosersi of iOS devices, Mac and Wind«
personal computers and Apple TV to personalizeoratiitions featuring music from the iTunes Store.

Mac App Stor¢

The Mac App Store allows customers to discover,rdoad and install Mac apps. The Mac App Store sffgsplications in education, gar
graphics and design, lifestyle, productivity, tis and other categories. The CompanyS X operating system software and its iLife, il
and other application software titles are alsolaisé on the Mac App Store.

iCloud

iCloud is the Company’s cloud service, which staressic, photos, applications, contacts, calenabrsyments and more, keeping them up-tc
date and available to multiple iOS devices and Miad Windows personal computers. iClaidéatures include iTunes in the Cloud; P!
Stream; Documents in the Cloud; Contacts; Calendait; automatic downloads and purchase historyctumtent, applications and books;
iCloud Backup for iOS devices. Users can sign ugrfee access to iCloud using a device runningifyiiad) versions of iOS or OS X.

Operating System Software

i0S

iOS is the Company’s Mulfl-ouch operating system that serves as the found&irdOS devices. iOS 7 is the current version aag release
in September 2013. Apps delivered with iOS for dyialg devices include Safari web browser, FaceTiuiteo calling, Maps with turn-biurn

directions, Mail, Contacts, Calendar, Clock, Weasti@alculator, Notes, Reminders, Stocks, Compass$ Messages. Devices running iOS
compatible with both Mac and Windows personal corapsuand Apple’s iCloud services.

OS X

OS X, the Company’s Mac operating system, is builtan open-source UNIKased foundation and provides an intuitive andgiratie
computer experience. OS X Mavericks, released itolags 2013, is the tenth major release of OS X.p8upfor iCloud is built into OS X ¢
users can access content and information from tikar Macs, their iOS devices and other suppatdces and access downloaded col
and apps from the
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iTunes Store. In addition to Mail, Safari web brewsMessages, Calendars, Reminders, Contacts and.ife © suite of software apg
Mavericks also includes a new Maps app and a n@ekB app that both work with their iOS counterparts

Application Softwart

iLife

iLife for Mac is the Company’s consumeriented digital lifestyle software application tuincluded with all Mac computers. iLife featt
iPhoto, a digital photo application for storingewiing, editing and sharing photos; iMovie, a digitaleo editing application; and GarageB
®, a music creation application that allows cust@rterplay, record and create music. The Company leds MultiTouch versions of the

iLife applications designed specifically for usei®mone and iPad, and beginning in September 268, iPhoto and iMovie for iOS beca
available as free downloads with all new iOS dewice

iWork

iWork for Mac is the Company’integrated productivity suite designed to helprsi€reate, present, and publish documents, peg&eTs, an
spreadsheets. iWork includes Pades for word proggsd page layout, Keynofe for presentations, Mochbers® for spreadshee
Beginning in October 2013, the iWork suite of afijpsOS X will be available as free downloads withreew Macs. The Company also has
Multi- Touch versions of each iWork application designaettically for use on iOS devices and, beginnm@eptember 2013, they all bec:
available as free downloads with all new iOS dewvice

Other Application Software

The Company also sells various other applicatidtwswe, including its professional line of applicats, Final Cut Pr® , Logi®Pro X, and it
FileMaker® Pro database software.

Displays & Peripheral Product

The Company manufactures the Apple LED Cinema Bispl and Thunderbolt Display. The Company also selsriety of Applebrande:
and third-party Mac-compatible and i@8mpatible peripheral products, including printestarage devices, computer memory, digital v
and still cameras, pointing devices, and variohgiotomputing products and supplies.

Apple TV

Apple TV connects to consumernsgigh definition TVs and enables them to access éBucontent directly for streaming HD video, pla)
music and viewing photos. Content from Netflix, Yale, Flickr, MLB, Hulu Plus, iTunes Radio and atineedia services is also availal
Apple TV allows streaming iTunes content from Maogl Windows personal computers through Home Shadettough AirPlay® from
compatible Mac and iOS devices. Compatible Mac i@l devices can also mirror their device screenselsas stream and play games
Apple TV.

iOS and Mac Developer Programs

The Companys iOS and Mac Developer Programs support app deeedavith the development, testing and distributbiOS and Mac apj
through the App Store and the Mac App Store. Deyrakent tools included with the Company’s DevelopasgPams include Xcod@ the
Companys integrated development environment for creatjpgsdor iOS devices, including iPhone and iPad, lad. Xcode includes proje
management tools; analysis tools to collect, displad compare app performance data; simulatiors taolocally run, test, and debug aj
tools to simplify the design and development ofrussterfaces; and the latest software

4
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development kits for iOS and OS X. The Compareveloper Programs also provide access to meiltipelopment resources including
Company’s Developer Forums, extensive technicaludmntation, and sample code. The Companyeveloper Programs also pro\
developers with access tools and information fangitting their apps to the App Store and the Magp Apore.

Product Support and Services

AppleCare® offers a range of support options forGeenpanys customers. These include assistance that isibigilsoftware products, print
and electronic product manuals, online supportuiticly comprehensive product information as weltehnical assistance, the AppleC
Protection Plan (“APP”) and the AppleCare+ ProtattPlan (“AC+"). APP is a febased service that typically includes two to thyears o
phone support, hardware repairs and dedicated wsbdbsupport resources. AC+ is albased service available in certain countries fooii
and iPad. AC+ offers additional coverage under soireumstances for instances of accidental damageldition to the services offered
APP.

Markets and Distribution

The Companys customers are primarily in the consumer, SMBgcatlan, enterprise and government markets. The @agnpells its produc
and resells thirgbarty products in most of its major markets dine¢ti consumers and SMBs through its retail andnensitores and its dire
sales force. The Company also employs a varietindifect distribution channels, such as thpakty cellular network carriers, wholesal
retailers, and value-added resellers. During 2@h&8, Companys net sales through its direct and indirect distidn channels account
for 30% and 70%, respectively, of total net sales.

The Company believes that sales of its innovatiwe differentiated products are enhanced by knovdallg salespersons who can conve
value of the hardware and software integration, @emhonstrate the unique solutions that are availahlits products. The Company furt
believes providing direct contact with its targetetstomers is an effective way to demonstrate thvarstages of its products over those c
competitors and providing a high-quality sales afidr-sales support experience is critical to ating new and retaining existing customers.

To ensure a higlyuality buying experience for its products in whidrvice and education are emphasized, the Comgartinues to expal
and improve its distribution capabilities by expirgdthe number of its own retail stores worldwidde Companys retail stores are typica
located at highraffic locations in quality shopping malls and anbshopping districts. By operating its own stoaesl locating them
desirable highraffic locations the Company is better position@e@nsure a high quality customer buying experiearaattract new custome
The stores are designed to simplify and enhancetbsentation and marketing of the Comparngroducts and related solutions. The r
stores employ experienced and knowledgeable pessoviro provide product advice, service and trairang offer a wide selection of third-
party hardware, software, and other accessorieparjpherals that complement the Company’s products

The Company has also invested in programs to eehaseller sales by placing high quality Appleuings, merchandising materials and c
resources within selected third-party reseller fioces. Through the Apple Premium Reseller Progreentain thirdparty resellers focus on 1
Apple platform by providing a high level of prodwetpertise, integration and support services.

The Company is committed to delivering solutionshédp educators teach and students learn. The Gonipalieves effective integration
technology into classroom instruction can resulhigher levels of student achievement and has dedi@g range of products, services
programs to address the needs of education custoiftee Company also supports mobile learning aaltirae distribution of, and access
education related materials through iTune8 Ua platform that allows students and teachers toeshiad distribute educational media onl
The Company sells its products to the educatiorketdhrough its direct sales force, select thirdypeesellers and its online and retail stores.

5
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The Company also sells its hardware and softwanduymts to enterprise and government customersdh ehits geographic segments.
Companys products are deployed in these markets becauskeenf performance, productivity, ease of use aedndess integration ir
information technology environments. The Compamy@ducts are compatible with thousands of tipiadity business applications and serv
and its tools enable the development and seculleydepnt of custom applications as well as remotaageadministration.

No single customer accounted for more than 10%ebsales in 2013, 2012 or 20:

Competition

The markets for the Comparsyproducts and services are highly competitive thedCompany is confronted by aggressive competitioall
areas of its business. These markets are chawxtdry frequent product introductions and rapidhiedogical advances that have substani
increased the capabilities and use of mobile conitation and media devices, personal computers,oiimel digital electronic devices. T
Companys competitors who sell mobile devices and persopaiputers based on other operating systems havessiMgly cut prices a
lowered their product margins to gain or maintaiarket share. The Compasyfinancial condition and operating results canaleersel
affected by these and other industvigde downward pressures on gross margins. Principalpetitive factors important to the Company ide
price, product features, relative price/performangeoduct quality and reliability, design innovatjoa strong thirgparty software ar
peripherals ecosystem, marketing and distributagability, service and support, and corporate .

The Company is focused on expanding its market ppities related to personal computers and matbl@munication and media devic
These markets are highly competitive and includeyrarge, wellfunded and experienced participants. The Compapgeg competition

these markets to intensify significantly as contpesi attempt to imitate some of the features ofGbenpanys products and applications wit
their own products or, alternatively, collaboratghweach other to offer solutions that are more petitive than those they currently off
These markets are characterized by aggressivegnmiactices, frequent product introductions, ewvgwlesign approaches and technolo
rapid adoption of technological and product advarems by competitors, and price sensitivity onghg of consumers and businesses.

The Companys digital content services have faced significamhpetition from other companies promoting their adigital music and conte
products and services, including those offering fopeer-to-peer music and video services.

The Company’s future financial condition and opertresults depend on the Companbility to continue to develop and offer r
innovative products and services in each of thekatarin which it competes. The Company believesférs superior innovation and integrat
of the entire solution including the hardware (iRépiPad, Mac, and iPod), software (i0S, OS X dnuhés), online services, and distribu
of digital content and applications (iTunes Stadkpp Store, iBooks Store and Mac App Store). SomthefCompanys current and potent
competitors have substantial resources and mayleet@ provide such products and services at littl@o profit or even at a loss to comj
with the Company’s offerings.

Supply of Components

Although most components essential to the Commahysiness are generally available from multiplerses, a number of components
currently obtained from single or limited sourcés.addition, the Company competes for various camepds with other participants in -
markets for mobile communication and media devams personal computers. Therefore, many componseis$ by the Company, includ
those that are available from multiple sources, aréimes subject to industwide shortage and significant pricing fluctuaticihat ca
materially adversely affect the Company’s financiahdition and operating results.

6
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The Company uses some custom components that axmoonly used by its competitors, and new praglimtroduced by the Compe
often utilize custom components available from onlye source. When a component or product uses aelndlogies, initial capaci
constraints may exist until the suppliers’ yields/é& matured or manufacturing capacity has incredséte Companys supply of componer
for a new or existing product were delayed or amiiséd, or if an outsourcing partner delayed shipsef completed products to
Company, the Company’s financial condition and apeg results could be materially adversely affdct€he Compang business al
financial performance could also be materially adely affected depending on the time required taiaksufficient quantities from the origi
source, or to identify and obtain sufficient quaes from an alternative source. Continued avditghof these components at acceptable pr
or at all, may be affected if those suppliers coteged on the production of common componenteatsbf components customized to r
the Company’s requirements.

The Company has entered into various agreementidasupply of components; however, there can bguaosantee that the Company will
able to extend or renew these agreements on siteilars, or at all. Therefore, the Company remaingest to significant risks of supy
shortages and price increases that can materidigraely affect its financial condition and opangtresults.

While the Company has announced plans to begin faatuing some Macs in the United States, substintll of the Company hardwar
products are currently manufactured by outsourpisgners that are located primarily in Asia. A gigant concentration of this manufactur

is currently performed by a small number of outsmg partners, often in single locations. Certdith@se outsourcing partners are the sol
sourced suppliers of components and manufactuersniiny of the Compang’ products. Although the Company works closely wis
outsourcing partners on manufacturing schedulesCitimpanys operating results could be adversely affectet ibutsourcing partners we
unable to meet their production commitments. Then@anys purchase commitments typically cover its requaets for periods up to 1
days.

Research and Development

Because the industries in which the Company corspate characterized by rapid technological advartbesCompanyg ability to compet
successfully depends heavily upon its ability tewe a continual and timely flow of competitive guets, services and technologies to
marketplace. The Company continues to develop Betwiblogies to enhance existing products and tarekghe range of its product offeril
through research and development, licensing ofiéateial property and acquisition of thipdhrty businesses and technology. Total researc
development expense was $4.5 billion, $3.4 bilaod $2.4 billion in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respebtive

Patents, Trademarks, Copyrights and Licenses

The Company currently holds rights to patents aoyydghts relating to certain aspects of its iPhdRad, Mac and iPod devices, periphe
software and services. The Company has registerdth® applied for trademarks and service markhéU.S. and a number of fore
countries. Although the Company believes the owriprsef such patents, copyrights, trademarks and@Emarks is an important factor in
business and that its success does depend in pahtecownership thereof, the Company relies prilpam the innovative skills, technic
competence and marketing abilities of its persannel

The Company regularly files patent applicationsptotect innovations arising from its research, dmwment and design, and is curre
pursuing thousands of patent applications arouadubrid. Over time, the Company has accumulateatgelportfolio of issued patents in
U.S. and worldwide. The Company holds copyrightatigg to certain aspects of its products and sesi No single patent or copyrigh
solely responsible for protecting the Compangtoducts. The Company believes the durationsgbatents is adequate relative to the exp
lives of its products.
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Many of the Compang’ products are designed to include intellectuapery obtained from third parties. It may be neaggén the future t
seek or renew licenses relating to various asp#dts products, processes and services. WhileCiiapany has generally been able to ol
such licenses on commercially reasonable termiseipast, there is no guarantee that such licermsgd be obtained in the future on reason
terms or at all. Because of technological changedhe industries in which the Company competeseatrextensive patent coverage, anc
rapid rate of issuance of new patents, it is pdsshat certain components of the Compamnyroducts, processes and services may unknov
infringe existing patents or intellectual properights of others. From time to time, the Compang haen notified that it may be infring
certain patents or other intellectual property tsgbf third parties.

Foreign and Domestic Operations and Geographic Data

During 2013, the Company’domestic and international net sales accounte@9%% and 61%, respectively, of total net salefarmatior
regarding financial data by geographic segmeneisfarth in Part Il, Item 7 of this Form 10-K undére subheadingSegment Operatit
Performance,” and in Part I, Item 8 of this ForiK in the Notes to Consolidated Financial StateismiémNote 11, Segment Information a
Geographic Data.”

While substantially all of the Comparsyhardware products are currently manufacturedigonircing partners that are located primaril
Asia, the Company also performs final assemblyesfain products at its manufacturing facility irland. The supply and manufacture
number of components is performed by sole-souregdoorcing partners in the U.S., Asia and Europardifis on sales of the Compasgy’
products in foreign countries, and on sales of pet&lthat include components obtained from foreigppliers, can be adversely affectec
foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations andrgrnational trade regulations, including tarifiad antidumping penalties. Informat
regarding concentration in the available sourcesupply of materials and products is set forthamtM, Item 8 of this Form 10-kn the Note
to Consolidated Financial Statements in Note 1@m@itments and Contingencies.”

Business Seasonality and Product Introductions

The Company has historically experienced higheisatgs in its first quarter compared to other aararin its fiscal year due in part to seas
holiday demand. Additionally, new product introdoos can significantly impact net sales, productteaand operating expenses. Pro
introductions can also impact the Companyét sales to its indirect distribution channslsheese channels are filled with new product inesy
following a product introduction, and often, chahimeventory of a particular product declines as thext related major product laur
approaches. Net sales can also be affected whesum@ns and distributors anticipate a product intetidn. However, neither historic
seasonal patterns nor historical patterns of proohimductions should be considered reliable iathes of the Compang’ future pattern
product introductions, future net sales or finahp&formance.

Warranty

The Company offers a limited parts and labor wayram most of its hardware products. The basic avdyr period is typically one year fr
the date of purchase by the original end-user.démpany also offers a 90-day basic warranty fosétvice parts used to repair the Company
hardware products. In addition, where availableysconers may purchase APP or AC+, which extendscgecoverage on many of |
Company’s hardware products.

Backlog

In the Companys experience, the actual amount of product bachktagny particular time is not a meaningful indiocatof its future busine
prospects. In particular, backlog often increaseanticipation of or immediately following new praat introductions as customers anticij
shortages. Backlog is often reduced once custobwdisve they can obtain sufficient supply. Becaothe foregoing, backlog should not
considered a reliable indicator of the Companyiitglio achieve any particular level of revenuefioancial performance.

8



Table of Contents

Employees

As of September 28, 2013, the Company had appraglyn80,300 full-time equivalent employees and ddi@onal 4,100 fulltime equivaler
temporary employees and contractors. Approxima#y800 of the total full-time equivalent employegerked in the Compang’ Retai
segment.

Available Information

The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quart&gports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Fork) 8hd amendments to reports fi
pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the SeéesiriExchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exch#&ug, are filed with the Securiti
Exchange Commission (the “SEC"fhe Company is subject to the informational requieats of the Exchange Act and files or furnit
reports, proxy statements, and other informatioth ilie SEC. Such reports and other informatiordfily the Company with the SEC
available free of charge on the Company’s webditiaestor.apple.com/sec.cfmhen such reports are available on the SE@bsite. Th
public may read and copy any materials filed by @menpany with the SEC at the SEQPublic Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, F
1580, Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtaforimation on the operation of the Public RefereRoem by calling the SEC at 1-800-
SEC0330. The SEC maintains an Internet site that aesiteeports, proxy and information statements aheroinformation regarding issu
that file electronically with the SEC at www.seorgo The contents of these websites are not incorpdratto this filing. Further, tt
Company’s references to the URLs for these webaitesntended to be inactive textual referenceg.onl

ltem 1A. Risk Factors

The following discussion of risk factors contaimewardiooking statements. These risk factors may be imaporto understanding a
statement in this Form 10-K or elsewhere. The faithg information should be read in conjunction whart I, ltem 7, “Managemerst’
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &ebsults of Operationsind the consolidated financial statements andeladtes in Part
Item 8, “Financial Statements and SupplementanaDaftthis Form 10-K.

Because of the following factors, as well as otfamtors affecting the Comparsyfinancial condition and operating results, pasarfcia
performance should not be considered to be a teliabicator of future performance, and investdrgwdd not use historical trends to anticij
results or trends in future periods.

Global and regional economic conditions could mitiér adversely affect the Company.

The Companys operations and performance depend significantlglobal and regional economic conditions. Uncatjaabout global ar
regional economic conditions poses a risk as corssiand businesses postpone spending in respotig@ter credit, higher unemployme
financial market volatility, government austerityograms, negative financial news, declines in ineamn asset values and/or other fac
These worldwide and regional economic conditionsldtave a material adverse effect on demand ®iGbmpanys products and servic
Demand also could differ materially from the Comyanexpectations because the Company generally naigeEs on goods and services !
outside the U.S. to correspond with the effect agtrangthening of the U.S. dollar. Other factorat tbould influence worldwide or regiol
demand include increases in fuel and other enasgiscconditions in the real estate and mortgag&etss unemployment, labor and health
costs, access to credit, consumer confidence, #ied macroeconomic factors affecting consumer spgristehavior. These and other econc
factors could materially adversely affect demandiie Company’s products and services.

In the event of further financial turmoil affectinlge banking system and financial markets, addifimonsolidation of the financial servis
industry, or significant financial service institut failures, there could be a new or incremernditening in the credit markets, low liquidi
and extreme volatility in fixed income, credit, cemcy, and equity markets. This could have a nunobe&ffects on the Compars/busines
including the insolvency or financial instability @autsourcing partners or suppliers or their ingpto obtain credit to
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finance development and/or manufacture productdtieg in product delays; inability of customensc¢liuding channel partners, to obtain cr
to finance purchases of the Companyroducts; failure of derivative counterpartiesd asther financial institutions; and restricting

Companys ability to issue new debt. Other income and egpealso could vary materially from expectations ethefing on gains
losses realized on the sale or exchange of fineims&uments; impairment charges resulting fronateations of debt and equity securities
other investments; interest rates;cash balancedatiity in foreign exchange rates; and changes fair value of derivativ
instruments. Increased volatility in the finanaisrkets and overall economic uncertainty wouldease the risk of the actual amounts rea
in the future on the Company'’s financial instrunsegiffering significantly from the fair values cently assigned to them.

Global markets for the Compasyproducts and services are highly competitive sulgject to rapid technological change, and the Camy
may be unable to compete effectively in these rtearke

The Companys products and services compete in highly competiglobal markets characterized by aggressive mutegng and resultir
downward pressure on gross margins, frequent inttieh of new products, short product life cyclesplving industry standards, contin
improvement in product price/performance charasties, rapid adoption of technological and procadtancements by competitors, and
sensitivity on the part of consumers.

The Companys ability to compete successfully depends heavilyt® ability to ensure a continuing and timelyraaduction of innovative ne
products and technologies to the marketplace. Tdrapany believes it is unique in that it designs dedelops nearly the entire solution fol
products, including the hardware, operating systammerous software applications, and related sesvids a result, the Company must n
significant investments in research and developmEmné Company currently holds a significant numbgpatents and copyrights and
registered and/or has applied to register numepatents, trademarks and service marks. In contrasty of the Compang’competitors se:
to compete primarily through aggressive pricing araty low cost structures, and emulating the Comgjmproducts and infringir
on its intellectual property. If the Company is bleato continue to develop and sell innovative nawducts with attractive margins ol
competitors infringe on the Company'’s intellectpabperty, the Compang’ability to maintain a competitive advantage colddadverse
affected.

The Company markets certain mobile communicatioth media devices based on the iOS mobile operatistpm and also markets rele
third-party digital content and applications. The Comptages substantial competition in these markets fcompanies that have signific
technical, marketing, distribution and other resesr as well as established hardware, softwaredmitdl content supplier relationships; :
the Company has a minority market share in the tghane market. Additionally, the Company faces i§icent price competition :
competitors reduce their selling prices and attetofmitate the Companyg’ product features and applications within theimgwoducts o
alternatively, collaborate with each other to offalutions that are more competitive than thoseg tharently offer. The Company a
competes with illegitimate ways to obtain third{padigital content and applications. Some of themPanys competitors have grea
experience, product breadth and distribution chisnttean the Company. Because some current and tidtenmpetitors have substan
resources and/or experience and a lower cost stayahey may be able to provide products and sesvat little or no profit or even at a Ic
The Company also expects competition to intensgycampetitors attempt to imitate the Compangpproach to providing compone
seamlessly within their individual offerings or Wocollaboratively to offer integrated solutions. eTiCompanys financial condition ar
operating results depend substantially on the Cogipaability to continually improve iOS and iOS dedda order to maintain their functiol
and design advantages.

The Company is the only authorized maker of hardwesing OS X, which has a minority market sharthépersonal computer market. 1
market is dominated by computer makers using compeiperating systems, most notably Windows. Inrttegket for personal computers
peripherals, the Company faces a significant nunolb@ompetitors, many of which have broader prodings, lower priced products, an
larger installed
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customer base. Historically, consolidation in thiarket has resulted in larger competitors. Pricametition has been particularly intenst
competitors selling Windowbased personal computers have aggressively cuspand lowered product margins. An increasing nurof
Internetenabled devices that include software applicatanms are smaller and simpler than traditional peasoomputers compete for mar
share with the Company’s existing products. The gamy’s financial condition and operating results alspethel on its ability to continual
improve the Mac platform to maintain its functiomald design advantages.

There can be no assurance the Company will betalglentinue to provide products and services thatpete effectively.

To remain competitive and stimulate customer demtmedCompany must successfully manage frequedtuptantroductions and transitions.

Due to the highly volatile and competitive natufettee industries in which the Company competes,Gbenpany must continually introdt
new products, services and technologies, enhanistingx products and services, and effectively states customer demand for new .
upgraded products. The success of new productin¢tmns depends on a number of factors includingnot limited to, timely and succes:
product development, market acceptance, the Con'gability to manage the risks associated with peaduct production rampp issues, tt
availability of application software for new prodsicthe effective management of purchase commitnant inventory levels in line w
anticipated product demand, the availability ofdarcts in appropriate quantities and costs to megtipated demand, and the risk that
products may have quality or other defects or dfies in the early stages of introduction. Acaagty, the Company cannot determine
advance the ultimate effect of new product intrdduns and transitions.

The Company depends on the performance of distributarriers and other resellers.

The Company distributes its products through catlmletwork carriers, wholesalers, national andoregji retailers, and valugdded reseller
many of whom distribute products from competing aofanturers. The Company also sells its productsthind-party products in most of
major markets directly to education, enterprise goekrnment customers, and consumers and smathahsized businesses through its on
and retail stores.

Carriers providing cellular network service for @vte typically subsidize usergurchases of the device. There is no assurancestttd
subsidies will be continued at all or in the sameants upon renewal of the Companggreements with these carriers or in agreembe
Company enters into with new carriers.

Many resellers have narrow operatimgrgins and have been adversely affected in thebyaseak economic conditions. Some resellers
perceived the expansion of the Company’s dire@ssas conflicting with their business interestsliagibutors and resellers of the Company’
products. Such a perception could discourage srseffom investing resources in the distributiod aale of the Company’products or le:
them to limit or cease distribution of those prasud@he Company has invested and will continuetest in programs to enhance reseller <
including staffing selected resellerstores with Company employees and contractors amgfoving product placement displays. Tt
programs could require a substantial investmenteagroviding no assurance of return or incremergaénue. The financial condition of th
resellers could weaken, these resellers could distpbuting the Company’s products, or uncertairggarding demand for the Compasny’
products could cause resellers to reduce theirimgland marketing of the Company’s products.

The Company faces substantial inventory and othseftarisk in addition to purchase commitment cdatieh risk.

The Company records a writlswn for product and component inventories thatehbgcome obsolete or exceed anticipated demane
realizable value and accrues necessary cancellig@reserves for orders of excess products ang@nents. The Company also review:
long-lived assets, including capital assets heldtsatsuppliers’facilities and inventory prepayments, for impairmevhenever events
circumstances indicate the
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carrying amount of an asset may not be recover#filliee Company determines that impairment has wedu it records a writdown equal t
the amount by which the carrying value of the ass&teeds its fair value. Although the Companyelvel its provisions related to invent
capital assets, inventory prepayments and othe&tsassid purchase commitments are currently adequatassurance can be given tha
Company will not incur additional related chargégeg the rapid and unpredictable pace of produsbl@scence in the industries in which
Company competes.

The Company must order components for its prodaretsbuild inventory in advance of product annourseisiand shipments. Consistent
industry practice, components are normally acquinedugh a combination of purchase orders, suppbetracts, and open orders, in each
based on projected demand. Where appropriate uttohases are applied to inventory component prepatgithat are outstanding w
the respective supplier. Purchase commitments dllpicover forecasted component and manufacturaggirements for periods up to :
days. Because the Compasiyharkets are volatile, competitive and subjeatafnd technology and price changes, there is athiskCompan
will forecast incorrectly and order or produce esg®r insufficient amounts of components or pragluot not fully utilize firm purcha:
commitments.

Future operating results depend upon the Com'’s ability to obtain components in sufficient gu&es.

Because the Company currently obtains componeais ingle or limited sources, the Company is subjgsignificant supply and pricil
risks. Many components, including those that a@lable from multiple sources, are at times subjeéhdustrywide shortages and significi
commodity pricing fluctuations. While the Compangshentered into various agreements for the supplgomponents, there can be
assurance that the Company will be able to extengmew these agreements on similar terms, orlafflaé follow-on effects from glob
economic conditions on the Company’s supplierscidesd in “ Global economic conditions could materially advéysaffect the Company”
above, also could affect the Company’s ability bdain components Therefore, the Company remains subject to significesks of suppl
shortages and price increases.

The Company and other participants in the markatsnfobile communication and media devices and paiscomputers also compete
various components with other industries that haxperienced increased demand for their product® Thmpany uses some cus
components that are not common to the rest of timekestries. The Comparg/new products often utilize custom componentslalviai fron
only one source. When a component or product usestachnologies, initial capacity constraints majsteuntil the suppliersyields hav
matured or manufacturing capacity has increasedti@ged availability of these components at acddptarices, or at all, may be affecte
those suppliers decided to concentrate on the ptmgiuof common components instead of componenstomized to meet the Compasy’
requirements. The supply of components for a newxisting product could be delayed or constraimeda key manufacturing vendor co
delay shipments of completed products to the Compan

The Company depends on component and product neanmfg and logistical services provided by outsong partners, many of whom
located outside of the U.S.

Substantially all of the Comparsymanufacturing is performed in whole or in partabfew outsourcing partners located primarily in@A§ he
Company has also outsourced much of its transpamtaind logistics management. While these arrangtsmaay lower operating costs, tl
also reduce the Compasydirect control over production and distributidinis uncertain what effect such diminished contsill have on th
quality or quantity of products or services, or @empanys flexibility to respond to changing conditionstiidugh arrangements with th
partners may contain provisions for warranty experambursement, the Company may remain respongibtee consumer for warrai
service in the event of product defects and coxftbgence an unanticipated product defect or wayrkability. While the Company relies
its partners to adhere to its supplier code of oohdnaterial violations of the supplier code ofdact could occur.

The Company relies on sod®urced outsourcing partners in the U.S., Asia Bmpe to supply and manufacture many critical conemts
and on outsourcing partners in Asia for final adsigrof substantially all
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of the Company’s hardware products. Any failuréhafse partners to perform may have a negative ingrathe Companyg cost or supply
components or finished goods. In addition, manuf@uag or logistics in these locations or transiffittal destinations may be disrupted fc
variety of reasons including, but not limited t@tural and mamrade disasters, information technology system rfeslucommercial disputt
military actions or economic, business, labor, emvinental, public health, or political issues.

The Company has invested in manufacturing procgagpment, much of which is held at certain of itgswurcing partners, and has m
prepayments to certain of its suppliers associatg¢d longterm supply agreements. While these arrangemenys émsure the supply
components and finished goods, if these outsourpariners or suppliers experience severe finaneiblems or other disruptions in tt
business, the net realizable value of these asseld be negatively impacted.

The Company products and services may experience quality lpnod from time to time that can result in decreasalds and operatir
margin and harm to the Company’s reputation.

The Company sells complex hardware and softwardysts and services that can contain design and fagtouing defects. Sophistica
operating system software and applications, sudh@se sold by the Company, often contain “bupsit can unexpectedly interfere with
software’s intended operation. The Compangnline services may from time to time experiengtges, service slowdowns, or errors. De
may also occur in components and products the Coynparchases from third parties. There can be sorasce the Company will be able
detect and fix all defects in the hardware, sofevand services it sells. Failure to do so couldltés lost revenue, significant warranty :
other expenses, and harm to the Company’s repatatio

The Company relies on access to thatty digital content, which may not be availabiethe Company on commercially reasonable tern
at all.

The Company contracts with numerous third partiesffer their digital content through the iTune®i®t This includes the right to mz:
available music, movies, TV shows and books culyemtailable through the iTunes Store. The licegsaanrangements with these third pai
are short-term and do not guarantee the continuaticenewal of these arrangements on reasonaihs,té at all. Some thirgharty conter
providers and distributors currently or in the fistunay offer competing products and services, audticcake action to make it more difficult
impossible for the Company to license their contenthe future. Other content owners, providersdatributors may seek to limit t
Companys access to, or increase the cost of, such conféet.Company may be unable to continue to offerigewariety of content
reasonable prices with acceptable usage rulemmtincie to expand its geographic reach. Failubtain the right to make available thipaity
digital content, or to make available such conamttommercially reasonable terms, could have anabtedverse impact on the Company’
financial condition and operating results.

Some thirdparty digital content providers require the Compdoyprovide digital rights management and otherusgc solutions. |
requirements change, the Company may have to dew@ldicense new technology to provide these smhsti There is no assurance
Company will be able to develop or license suchittmhs at a reasonable cost and in a timely mahnexddition, certain countries have pa:
or may propose and adopt legislation that wouldéddhe Company to license its digital rights managet, which could lessen the protectio
content and subject it to piracy and also couldatiegly affect arrangements with the Company’s ennproviders.

The Company’s future performance depends in padumport from third-party software developers.

The Company believes decisions by customers tohpsecits hardware products depend in part on thdahility of third-party software
applications and services. There is no assuraratettirdparty developers will continue to develop and mamtsoftware applications a
services for the Company’s products. If third-patftware applications and services cease to belal@ed and maintained for the Company’
products, customers may choose not to buy the Coypgaroducts.
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With respect to its Mac products, the Company bebethe availability of third-partgoftware applications and services depends inquathe
developers’ perception and analysis of the relaiimeefits of developing, maintaining, and upgradingh software for the Compasyproduct
compared to Windowbased products. This analysis may be based orrdastich as the market position of the Company &nproducts, tt
anticipated revenue that may be generated, comtiguewth of Mac sales, and the costs of develoginch applications and services. If
Company’s minority share of the global personal potar market causes developers to question the @ayigprospects, developers coulc
less inclined to develop or upgrade software fa& @ompanys products and more inclined to devote their resssito developing a
upgrading software for the larger Windows market.

With respect to iOS devices, the Company reliesthan continued availability and development of coliipg and innovative softwa
applications, which are distributed through a frgjktribution channel, the App Store. The abserfiesultiple distribution channels, which
available for competing platforms, may limit theadability and acceptance of third-party applicasdy the Compang’ customers, there
causing developers to reduce or curtail developrfmmthe iOS platform. In addition, iOS devices ateject to rapid technological char
and, if third-party developers are unable to orag®onot to keep up with this pace of change, thady applications might not successf
operate and may result in dissatisfied customesswith applications for the CompasyMac products, the availability and developmel
these applications also depend on developers’ pgocs and analysis of the relative benefits ofaleping software for the Company’
products rather than its competitopdatforms, such as Android. If developers focusrthforts on these competing platforms, the avmlity
and quality of applications for the Company’s iG&vides may suffer.

The Company relies on access to thpaity intellectual property, which may not be aghle to the Company on commercially reason
terms or at all.

Many of the Company’s products include thpdrty intellectual property, which requires licemdeom those third parties. Based on
experience and industry practice, the Company Wediesuch licenses generally can be obtained ommabhk terms. There is, however,
assurance that the necessary licenses can be ebtamacceptable terms or at all. Failure to obtiagright to use thirgharty intellectue
property, or to use such intellectual property ommercially reasonable terms, could preclude the@amy from selling certain products
otherwise have a material adverse impact on thep@agis financial condition and operating results.

The Company could be impacted by unfavorable resfliegal proceedings, such as being found to hiafringed on intellectual proper
rights.

The Company is subject to various legal proceedamgiclaims that have not yet been fully resolved that have arisen in the ordinary co
of business, and additional claims may arise irftihére.

For example, technology companies, including mahthe Companys competitors, frequently enter into litigation édson allegations

patent infringement or other violations of intetieal property rights. In addition, patent holdinghganies seek to monetize patents they
purchased or otherwise obtained. As the Companygitwmsn, the intellectual property rights claims iagait have increased and may conti
to increase. In particular, the Compasgellular enabled products compete with mobile momication and media device companies that
significant patent portfolios, and the number ofep& claims against the Company has significantréased. The Company is vigorot
defending infringement actions in courts in a numbkU.S. jurisdictions and before the U.S. Inteéim@al Trade Commission, as well
internationally in Europe and Asia. The plaintiffisthese actions frequently seek injunctions arzs&ntial damages.

Regardless of the scope or validity of such patentsher intellectual property rights, or the nieof any claims by potential or actual litiga
the Company may have to engage in protracted titigalf the Company is found to infringe one ormagatents or other intellectual prop:
rights, regardless of whether it can develop ndnriging technology, it may be required to pay sahsial damages or royalties to a thpdrty
or it may be subject to a temporary or permangunnation prohibiting the Company from marketingsedling certain products.
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In certain cases, the Company may consider theaddi#tiy of entering into licensing agreementshaligh no assurance can be given that
licenses can be obtained on acceptable terms ofitigation will not occur. These licenses mayaaksignificantly increase the Compasy’
operating expenses.

Regardless of the merit of particular claims, dtign may be expensive, time-consuming, disruptiveéhe Company operations, ai
distracting to management. In recognition of thesesiderations, the Company may enter into arraegésio settle litigation.

In managemens’ opinion, there is not at least a reasonable Iptisgsithe Company may have incurred a materiabJaw a material loss
excess of a recorded accrual, with respect to tosgingencies, including matters related to infemgent of intellectual property righ
However, the outcome of litigation is inherentlycertain.

Although management considers the likelihood ofhsaa outcome to be remote, if one or more legatermtwere resolved against
Company in a reporting period for amounts in exedsmianagement’s expectations, the Compsgnsolidated financial statements for
reporting period could be materially adversely etiéel. Further, such an outcome could result inifiggimt compensatory, punitive or treb
monetary damages, disgorgement of revenue or grafimedial corporate measures or injunctive raigdinst the Company that co
materially adversely affect its financial conditiand operating results.

The Company is subject to laws and regulations dwaide, changes to which could increase the Compaogsts and individually or in t
aggregate adversely affect the Company’s business.

The Company is subject to laws and regulationsctffg its domestic and international operationa imumber of areas. These U.S. and fol
laws and regulations affect the Companwyctivities including, but not limited to, areak labor, advertising, digital content, consui
protection, real estate, billing,a@mmerce, promotions, quality of services, telecamications, mobile communications and media, tslewi
intellectual property ownership and infringememi,timport and export requirements, adrruption, foreign exchange controls and «
repatriation restrictions, data privacy requiremeahti-competition, environmental, health, aneéBaf

By way of example, laws and regulations relatethtbile communications and media devices in the njangdictions in which the Compa
operates are extensive and subject to change. Suahges could include, among others, restrictionsth® production, manufactu
distribution, and use of devices, locking devicesatcarrier's network, or mandating the use of ckevion more than one carrenetwork
These devices are also subject to certificationragdlation by governmental and standardizatioridsycgs well as by cellular network carr
for use on their networks. These certification psses are extensive and time consuming, and cesidt in additional testing requireme
product modifications, delays in product shipmeated, or preclude the Company from selling cepadaiucts.

Compliance with these laws, regulations and sinmmguirements may be onerous and expensive, agdrthg be inconsistent from jurisdicti
to jurisdiction, further increasing the cost of qiance and doing business. Any such costs, whia rise in the future as a result of chai
in these laws and regulations or in their intergien could individually or in the aggregate make Companys products and services |
attractive to the Comparg/’customers, delay the introduction of new prodirctsne or more regions, or cause the Company aogé or limi
its business practices. The Company has implemeptéidies and procedures designed to ensure conggliavith applicable laws a
regulations, but there can be no assurance tha@dhganys employees, contractors, or agents will not viokich laws and regulations or
Company’s policies and procedures.

The Company’s business is subject to the riskstefriational operations.

The Company derives a significant portion of iteereue and earnings from its international operati@ompliance with applicable U.S. :
foreign laws and regulations, such as import angdodxrequirements, antierruption laws, tax laws, foreign exchange costrahd cas
repatriation restrictions, data privacy requiremsent
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environmental laws, labor laws, and atdimpetition regulations, increases the costs ofgldiusiness in foreign jurisdictions. Although
Company has implemented policies and proceduresomoply with these laws and regulations, a violatmnthe Compang employee
contractors, or agents could nevertheless occur.

The Company also could be significantly affectedollyer risks associated with international actgtincluding, but not limited to, econor
and labor conditions, increased duties, taxes dher @osts, and political instability. Margins osles of the Compang’products in foreic
countries, and on sales of products that includepoments obtained from foreign suppliers, couldnigterially adversely affected
international trade regulations, including dutiesiffs and antidumping penalties. The Companylge axposed to credit and collectability |
on its trade receivables with customers in certai@rnational markets. There can be no assurarc€timpany can effectively limit its cre
risk and avoid losses.

The Company Retail segment has required and will continugetpuire a substantial investment and commitmenésdurces and is subject
numerous risks and uncertainties.

The Companys retail stores have required substantial investimeequipment and leasehold improvements, infoionatystems, inventory a
personnel. The Company also has entered into suladtaperating lease commitments for retail sp&iertain stores have been designec
built to serve as higprofile venues to promote brand awareness and serwehicles for corporate sales and marketingiies. Because
their unique design elements, locations and sizeset stores require substantially more investnear the Compang’ more typical rete
stores. Due to the high cost structure associatddthe Retail segment, a decline in sales or thsuce or poor performance of individua
multiple stores could result in significant leaseination costs, write-offs of equipment and I&ade improvements, and severance costs.

Many factors unique to retail operations, some biclw are beyond the Compasytontrol, pose risks and uncertainties. Theses résk
uncertainties include, but are not limited to, neaeconomic factors that could have an adverse effeadeneral retail activity, as well as
Company’s inability to manage costs associated stitihe construction and operation, the Compsrfigilure to manage relationships with
existing retail channel partners, more challengemyironments in managing retail operations outdide U.S., costs associated v
unanticipated fluctuations in the value of retaiténtory, and the Comparsyinability to obtain and renew leases in qualétail locations at
reasonable cost.

Investment in new business strategies and acdunsiticould disrupt the Compée's ongoing business and present risks not origi
contemplated.

The Company has invested, and in the future magsinin new business strategies or acquisitionsh 8ndeavors may involve significant ri
and uncertainties, including distraction of managetdrom current operations, greater than expddaédities and expenses, inadequate re
of capital, and unidentified issues not discoverethe Companys due diligence. These new ventures are inhereistty and may not
successful.

The Company’s business and reputation may be iragdnt information technology system failures omoek disruptions.

The Company may be subject to information technplegstem failures and network disruptions. Thesg b® caused by natural disast
accidents, power disruptions, telecommunicatioilariss, acts of terrorism or war, computer virugasysical or electronic bredks, or othe
events or disruptions. System redundancy may léettve or inadequate, and the Companglisaster recovery planning may not be suffi
for all eventualities. Such failures or disruptioosuld prevent access to the Companghline stores and services, preclude retail
transactions, compromise Company or customer @aud,result in delayed or cancelled orders. Syst@inrés and disruptions could a
impede the manufacturing and shipping of produdgfiyery of online services, transactions processind financial reporting.
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There may be breaches of the Compsauiyformation technology systems that materialljndge business partner and customer relations
curtail or otherwise adversely impact access tdranktores and services, or subject the Comparsjgitificant reputational, financial, leg:
and operational consequences.

The Company’s business requires it to use and stes®mer, employee, and business partner pergddetitifiable information (“PII").This
may include, among other information, names, adg®sphone numbers, email addresses, contactemeés; tax identification numbers,
payment account information. Although maliciousels to gain access to Pll affect many companiesawarious industries, the Compar
at a relatively greater risk of being targeted bsezof its high profile and the amount of Pl itmages.

The Company requires user names and passwordden tor access its information technology systerhe Company also uses encryption
authentication technologies to secure the transomsand storage of data and prevent access to Gomgata or accounts. As with
companies, these security measures are subjelirdeptarty security breaches, employee error, malfeasdaalty password management
other irregularities. For example, third partiesyratempt to fraudulently induce employees or au&is into disclosing user names, passw
or other sensitive information, which may in tura ised to access the Companiyiformation technology systems. To help protestaemer
and the Company, the Company monitors accountsgsteéms for unusual activity and may freeze acsuntler suspicious circumstan:
which may result in the delay or loss of custonrelecs.

The Company devotes significant resources to nétwecurity, data encryption, and other security sness to protect its systems and dats
these security measures cannot provide absolutgisedo the extent the Company was to experiembeeach of its systems and was un
to protect sensitive data, such a breach couldmafiyedamage business partner and customer raktips, and curtail or otherwise adver
impact access to online stores and services. Meredf a computer security breach affects the Camgjsa systems or results in -
unauthorized release of Pll, the Company’s repataéind brand could be materially damaged, use efCbmpanys products and servic
could decrease, and the Company could be exposedsh of loss or litigation and possible liakyilit

The Company’s business is subject to a variety.8f Bind international laws, rules, policies andestbbligations regarding data protection.

The Company is subject to federal, state and iatemmal laws relating to the collection, use, rétam security and transfer of PIl. In mz:
cases, these laws apply not only to thpatty transactions, but also to transfers of infation between the Company and its subsidiaries
among the Company, its subsidiaries and othergsavtith which the Company has commercial relati@es.eral jurisdictions have passed |
in this area, and other jurisdictions are consmgimposing additional restrictions. These lawsticore to develop and may be inconsis
from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. Complying withneerging and changing international requirements ozase the Company to incur substa
costs or require the Company to change its busjpragtices. Noncompliance could result in penaltiesignificant legal liability.

The Companys privacy policy and related practices concernimg se and disclosure of data are posted on itsitgelny failure by th
Company, its suppliers or other parties with whém® €Company does business to comply with its pogtacy policy or with other feder:
state or international privaaglated or data protection laws and regulationdccoesult in proceedings against the Company byegawente
entities or others.

The Company is also subject to payment card adsmtiaules and obligations under its contracts vatyment card processors. Under tl
rules and obligations, if information is comprontisthe Company could be liable to payment cardeissfor associated expenses and pen:
In addition, if the Company fails to follow paymecard industry security standards, even if no gustoinformation is compromised, -
Company could incur significant fines or experieacggnificant increase in payment card transaat@sts.
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The Company’s success depends largely on the cewtiservice and availability of key personnel.

Much of the Company future success depends on the continued aviiadoild service of key personnel, including its &Htxecutive Office
executive team and other highly skilled employ@&egerienced personnel in the technology industeyiarhigh demand and competition
their talents is intense, especially in Siliconlgg)] where most of the Company’s key personnelarated.

The Company’s business may be impacted by poléigahts, war, terrorism, public health issues, ratdisasters and other circumstances.

War, terrorism, geopolitical uncertainties, publiealth issues, and other business interruptiong ltaused and could cause damac
disruption to international commerce and the glas@nomy, and thus could have a material adverfsetedn the Company, its supplie
logistics providers, manufacturing vendors and ams&trs, including channel partners. The Comparyisiness operations are subjec
interruption by, among others, natural disastéms, power shortages, nuclear power plant accidésrorist attacks and other hostile acts, |
disputes, public health issues, and other eventeriakits control. Such events could decrease dernfanthe Companys products, make
difficult or impossible for the Company to make asheliver products to its customers, including crerpartners, or to receive compon
from its suppliers, and create delays and inefficies in the Compang’supply chain. Should major public health issireduding pandemic
arise, the Company could be adversely affected byenstringent employee travel restrictions, addaiolimitations in freight service
governmental actions limiting the movement of preidiubetween regions, delays in production rampse@af products, and disruptions in
operations of the Company’s manufacturing vendars eomponent suppliers. The majority of the Compamgsearch and developm
activities, its corporate headquarters, informattenhnology systems, and other critical businessraijpns, including certain compon
suppliers and manufacturing vendors, are in looatihat could be affected by natural disasterthénevent of a natural disaster, the Com,
could incur significant losses, require substaméabvery time and experience significant expemegun order to resume operations.

The Company expects its quarterly revenue and d¢ipgreesults to fluctuate.

The Company’s profit margins vary across its prasiand distribution channels. The Compangoftware, accessories, and service and st
contracts generally have higher gross margins tteatain of the Company’s other products. Gross imargn the Compang’ hardwar
products vary across product lines and can chanvge ttime as a result of product transitions, pdciand configuration changes,
component, warranty, and other cost fluctuatiortee Tompanys direct sales generally have higher associatessgrargins than its indire
sales through its channel partners. In additioa,Gompanys gross margin and operating margin percentagesekhsas overall profitability
may be materially adversely impacted as a resudt gifiift in product, geographic or channel mix, poment cost increases, the strengthe
U.S. dollar, price competition, or the introductioihnew products, including those that have higloest structures with flat or reduced pricing.

The Company has typically experienced higher nletssa its first quarter compared to other quarthre in part to seasonal holiday dem
Additionally, new product introductions can sigo#ntly impact net sales, product costs and opeyatipenses. The Company could be su
to unexpected developments late in a quarter, ssclower-than-anticipated demand for the Compapybducts, issues with new proc
introductions, an internal systems failure, orueel of one of the Company’s logistics, componeunpply, or manufacturing partners.

The Company’s stock price is subject to volatility.

The Companys stock continues to experience substantial pratatiity. Additionally, the Company, the technologndustry, and the sto
market as a whole have experienced extreme stac& pnd volume fluctuations that have affectedlsfmices in ways that may have b
unrelated to these companiegerating performance. Price volatility over a giyeeriod may cause the average price at which thmapgan:
repurchases its own stock to exceed the stockig atti a given point in time. The Company beliet®stock price reflects
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expectations of future growth and profitability. &'ilCompany also believes its stock price refleciseetations that its cash dividend »
continue at current levels or grow and that itsrentr share repurchase program will be fully consatech. Future dividends are subjec
declaration by the Company’s Board of Directorsd #ime Company share repurchase program does not obligatedatdoire any specit
number of shares. If the Company fails to meeta@mjese expectations related to future growthfifadality, dividends, share repurchase:
other market expectations its stock price may decsignificantly, which could have a material adeeimpact on investor confidence
employee retention.

The Company'’s financial performance is subjectgks associated with changes in the value of ti& dollar versus local currencies.

The Company’s primary exposure to movements inigoreurrency exchange rates relates to bo- dollar denominated sales and oper:
expenses worldwide. Weakening of foreign currenéative to the U.S. dollar adversely affectsth8. dollar value of the Comparsyforeigr
currencydenominated sales and earnings, and generally teadSompany to raise international pricing, pdsdiyt reducing demand for tl
Company’s products. Margins on sales of the Comigapyoducts in foreign countries, and on sales oflpets that include compone
obtained from foreign suppliers, could be mateyialilversely affected by foreign currency exchargge fluctuations. In some circumstan
for competitive or other reasons, the Company megidd not to raise local prices to fully offset tih@lar’'s strengthening, or at all, wh
would adversely affect the U.S. dollar value of @@mpanys foreign currency denominated sales and earn®gsversely, a strengthening
foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar, hjenerally beneficial to the Company’s foreignrencydenominated sales and earnil
could cause the Company to reduce internationalngriand incur losses on its foreign currency denre instruments, thereby limiting 1
benefit. Additionally, strengthening of foreign oemcies may also increase the Comparggdst of product components denominated in
currencies, thus adversely affecting gross margins.

The Company uses derivative instruments, such ragyfo currency forward and option contracts, togeedertain exposures to fluctuation
foreign currency exchange rates. The use of sudbihg activities may not offset any or more thgpoation of the adverse financial effect:
unfavorable movements in foreign exchange rates treclimited time the hedges are in place.

The Company is exposed to credit risk and fluctunatin the market values of its investment podfoli

Given the global nature of its business, the Compaas both domestic and international investme@tedit ratings and pricing of t
Companys investments can be negatively affected by lidquidiredit deterioration, financial results, economisk, political risk, sovereign ri
or other factors. As a result, the value and ligyiadf the Companys cash, cash equivalents and marketable secuntas fluctuat
substantially. Therefore, although the Companyrwsrealized any significant losses on its caskhaquivalents and marketable secur
future fluctuations in their value could resulasignificant realized loss.

The Company is exposed to credit risk on its tradeounts receivable, vendor non-trade receivabled prepayments related to lomerr
supply agreements, and this risk is heightenedhdupieriods when economic conditions worsen.

The Company distributes its products through tipiadty cellular network carriers, wholesalers, fetaiand value&dded resellers. A substan
majority of the Company’s outstanding trade recelies are not covered by collateral or credit insoea The Compang’exposure to credit a
collectability risk on its trade receivables is ling in certain international markets and its apild mitigate such risks may be limited. -
Company also has unsecured vendor tmade receivables resulting from purchases of corapts by outsourcing partners and other ver
that manufacture suaassemblies or assemble final products for the Comnga addition, the Company has made prepaymesstscéated wit
long-term supply agreements to secure supply artory components. As of September 28, 2013, afisignt portion of the Compang'trad
receivables was

19



Table of Contents

concentrated within cellular network carriers, dtsl non-trade receivables and prepayments relateldrigterm supply agreements w
concentrated among a few individual vendors locatdéharily in Asia. While the Company has procedute monitor and limit exposure
credit risk on its trade and vendor non-trade neddes as well as longrm prepayments, there can be no assurance sachdprres wi
effectively limit its credit risk and avoid losses.

The Company could be subject to changes in itsafes, the adoption of new U.S. or internationa kagislation or exposure to additional
liabilities.

The Company is subject to taxes in the U.S. andemaus foreign jurisdictions, including Ireland, w&ea number of the Compansy’
subsidiaries are organized. Due to economic anitigablconditions, tax rates in various jurisdiet®may be subject to significant change.
Companys future effective tax rates could be affected bgnges in the mix of earnings in countries withedihg statutory tax rates, chan
in the valuation of deferred tax assets and lisddj or changes in tax laws or their interpretatimcluding in the U.S. and Ireland. 1
Company is also subject to the examination ofaixsreturns and other tax matters by the InternaeRee Service and other tax authorities
governmental bodies. The Company regularly asséBedikelihood of an adverse outcome resultingrfithese examinations to determine
adequacy of its provision for taxes. There candbassurance as to the outcome of these examinatidhe Companys effective tax rates we
to increase, particularly in the U.S. or Ireland,ifothe ultimate determination of the Compasyaxes owed is for an amount in exces
amounts previously accrued, the Company’s operaénglts, cash flows, and financial condition cooddadversely affected.

ltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

The Companys headquarters are located in Cupertino, CaliforAg of September 28, 2013, the Company owned aselé approximate
19.1 million square feet of building space, prifyaim the U.S., and to a lesser extent, in Eurdlagan, Canada, and the ABiaeific region:
Of that amount approximately 12.0 million squaretfeas leased building space, which includes apmraely 4.6 million square feet rela
to retail store space. Of the Compangwned building space, approximately 2.6 milligunare feet that is located in Cupertino, Califonwilk
be demolished to build a second corporate campdditidnally, the Company owns a total of 1,428 aayéland in various locations.

As of September 28, 2013, the Company owned a raatwrfng facility in Cork, Ireland that also housaa@ustomer support call center
facilities in Elk Grove, California that includedanehousing and distribution operations and a custauapport call center. The Company
owned land in Austin, Texas where it is buildindicg space and a customer support call centerddiitian, the Company owned facilities
research and development and corporate functio@sipertino, California, including land for the foeudevelopment of the Compasysecon
corporate campus. The Company also owned datarsemeNewark, California; Maiden, North Carolinaririeville, Oregon; and Rer
Nevada. Outside the U.S., the Company owned adaditi@acilities for various purpose

The Company believes its existing facilities andipment, which are used by all operating segmets,jn good operating condition and
suitable for the conduct of its business. The Camdaas invested in internal capacity and strategfiationships with outside manufactur
vendors and continues to make investments in daggjtapment as needed to meet anticipated demarits foroducts.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The Company is subject to the various legal proeggsdand claims discussed below as well as cedthier legal proceedings and claims
have not been fully resolved and that have arisetné ordinary course of business. In the opinibmanagement, there was not at le¢
reasonable possibility the Company may have induarenaterial loss, or a material loss in excesa mcorded accrual, with respect to
contingencies. However, the outcome of legal prdicgss and claims brought against the Company igesulio significant uncertaint
Therefore, although management considers the tiketl of such an outcome to be remote, if one orenobithese legal matters were reso
against the Company in a reporting period for an®un excess of management’s expectations, the @owg consolidated financi
statements for that reporting period could be niegtgradversely affected. See the risk factdrie Company could be impacted by unfavol
results of legal proceedings, such as being foankave infringed on intellectual property righitén Part I, Item 1A of this Form 16:- unde
the heading “Risk FactorsThe Company settled certain matters during thetlfioguarter of 2013 that did not individually ortime aggrega
have a material impact on the Company’s finanaaldition and results of operations.

The Apple iPod iTunes Antitrust Litigation (forme@haroensak v. Apple Computer, Inc. and Tucképple Computer, Inc.); Somers v. Ag
Inc.

These related cases were filed on January 3, 200521, 2006 and December 31, 2007 in the UnitedeS District Court for the Northe
District of California on behalf of a purported staof direct and indirect purchasers of iPods diehés Store content, alleging various cle
including alleged unlawful tying of music and vidparchased on the iTunes Store with the purchasPaifs and unlawful acquisition
maintenance of monopoly market power under §81 Zumdl the Sherman Act, the Cartwright Act, Calif@rBusiness & Professions Ci
817200 (unfair competition), the California Consurbhegal Remedies Act and California monopolizatiaw. Plaintiffs are seeking unspecif
compensatory and punitive damages for the clasisletdamages, injunctive relief, disgorgement eéneies and/or profits and attorneys f
Plaintiffs are also seeking digital rights managenieee versions of any songs downloaded from iBusrean order requiring the Compan
license its digital rights management to all cormgemusic players. On September 3, 2013, the UihNCircuit Court of Appeals upheld 1
District Court’s dismissal of the indirect purchasase, Somers v. Apple Inc. The remaining directipaser cases are currently pending.

Apple eBooks Antitrust Litigation (United State®\aierica v. Apple Inc., et a

On April 11, 2012, the U.S. Department of Justibe (‘DOJ")filed a civil antitrust action against the Compamgd five major book publishe
in the U.S. District Court for the Southern Distrid New York, alleging an unreasonable restrafribterstate trade and commerce in viola
of 81 of the Sherman Act and seeking, among othegs, injunctive relief, the District Court’'s dachtion that the Compars/'agenc
agreements with the publishers are null and voidfanthe District Court’s reformation of such agremts. The DO& complaint asserte
among other things, that the decision by the fiublighers to shift to an agency model to sell eBoakd their agreements with the Comy
were an attempt to “raise, fix and stabilize rewibook prices, to end price competition amonigoek retailers, and to limit retail pri
competition.” The Company filed a response to tii@I@omplaint in late May 2012, denying the D©dllegations. All five publishers reacl
a settlement with the DOJ, which required the mitais to terminate their agreements with the Compent renegotiate new agreem
pursuant to the terms of their settlement with Ei@J. On July 10, 2013, the District Court found]deing a bench trial, that the Comps
conspired to restrain trade in violation of §1 lné Sherman Act and relevant state statutes toxtieatethose laws are congruent with §1 of
Sherman Act. The District Court entered a permaimganction, which took effect on October 6, 20XRlawill be in effect for five years unle
the judgment is overturned on appeal. A damagakisrset for May 2014. The Company has appeakediktrict Court’s decision.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie
The Company’s common stock is traded on the NASEBGrk Market LLC under the symbol AAPL.

Price Range of Common Stock

The price range per share of common stock presdmaiedv represents the highest and lowest intradbgs prices for the Comparsytommo
stock on the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC during eacladar of the two most recent years.

Fourth Quarter Third Quarter Second Quarter First Quarter
2013 price range per share $513.74- $401.2. $ 465.75- $385.1! $ 555.00- $419.0( $676.75- $501.2:
2012 price range per she $ 705.07- $570.0( $ 644.00- $522.1¢ $621.45- $409.0( $426.70- $354.2:

Holders
As of October 18, 2013, there were 24,710 sharensldf record.

Dividends

The Company paid a total of $10.5 billion and $Billion in dividends during 2013 and 2012, respeslil, and expects to pay quarte
dividends of $3.05 per common share each quatbjest to declaration by the Board of Directors.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Afiated Purchasers

Share repurchase activity during the three montitle@ September 28, 2013 was as follows (in milliexept number of shares, which
reflected in thousands, and per share amounts):

Total Approximate
Number of
Shares Dollar
Purchased Value of
as Part of Shares That
Total Publicly May Yet Be
Number of Average Announcec Purchased
Price Under the
Shares Paid Per Plans or Plans or
Q4 Fiscal Periods Purchasec Share Programs Programs (a’
June 30, 2013 to August 3, 2013 2,19 $451.4¢ 2,19¢
August 4, 2013 to August 31, 20 7,061 $487.1° 7,061
September 1, 2013 to September 28, 2 1,18¢ $481.3: 1,18¢
Total 10,43¢ $ 37,05(

(@ In 2012, the Company’s Board of Directors atttenl a program to repurchase up to $10 billionthef Companys common stoc
beginning in 2013. In April 2013, the CompasyBoard of Directors increased the share repurchesgram authorization from $
billion to $60 billion. The Compang’ share repurchase program does not obligateaitdqaire any specific number of shares. Unde
program, shares may be repurchased in privatelgtiségd and/or open market transactions, includinder plans complying with Rt
10b54 of the Exchange Act. The $37.1 billion represethis remaining amount available to repurchase shaneler the authoriz
repurchase prograr
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Company Stock Performance

The following graph shows a fiwgeear comparison of cumulative total shareholdeurretcalculated on a dividend reinvested basis thie
Company, the S&P 500 Index, the S&P Computer Hardwadex, and the Dow Jones U.S. Technology Supensindex. The graph assur
$100 was invested in each of the Comparggmmon stock, the S&P 500 Index, the S&P Compdsedware Index, and the Dow Jones |
Technology Supersector Index as of the market ados8eptember 30, 2008. Data points on the graplammual. Note that historic stock pi
performance is not necessarily indicative of futshack price performance.

COMPARISON OF & YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN"
Among Apple Inc,, the SEP 800 Index, the S4P Compuier Hardwars Index
and the Dew Jones US Technology Supsrescior Index

Fap-0 Bap-00 a0 Sap-11 Sap-12 Sap-13

Apple Inc. — — E4P 500 — — - Z4P Computer Hardware =~~~ == =-—- Do Jones. US Technology Supersector I

*$10Cinvested on 9/30/08 in stock or index, includingvestment of dividend:
Fiscal year ending September 30.

Copyright ©2013 S&P, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. All rights reserved.
Copyright ©2013 Dow Jones & Co. All rights reserved.

September 30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September 30

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
Apple Inc. $100 $163 $250 $335 $589 $431
S&P 500 Inde> $100 $93 $103 $104 $135 $161
S&P Computer Hardware Ind $100 $118 $140 $159 $255 $197
Dow Jones US Technology Supersector In $100 $111 $124 $128 $166 $175
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Date

The information set forth below for the five yeasded September 28, 2013, is not necessarily itikcaf results of future operations, :
should be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Manageits Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditand Results of Operationahd th
consolidated financial statements and related nib®to included in Part Il, Iltem 8 of this For-K to fully understand factors that n
affect the comparability of the information presshbelow (in millions, except number of shares,cihare reflected in thousands, and
share amounts).

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Net sales $170,91( $156,50¢ $108,24¢ $ 65,22¢ $ 42,90t
Net income $ 37,03° $ 41,73 $ 25,92; $ 14,01 $ 8,23t
Earnings per shar

Basic $ 40.0¢ $ 44.6¢ $ 28.0¢ $ 15.47 $ 9.2¢

Diluted $ 39.7¢ $ 44.1f $ 27.6¢ $ 15.1f $ 9.0¢
Cash dividends declared per sh $ 11.4 $ 2.6F $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Shares used in computing earnings per st

Basic 925,33: 934,81t 924,25¢ 909,46: 893,01¢

Diluted 931,66. 945,35! 936,64 924,71. 907,00
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sies $146,76: $121,25: $ 81,57( $ 51,01 $ 33,99.
Total asset $207,00( $176,06¢ $116,37: $ 75,18 $ 47,50:
Long-term debt $ 16,96( $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Long-term obligations (a $ 20,20¢ $ 16,66¢ $ 10,10( $ 5,531 $ 3,50
Total liabilities $ 83,45! $ 57,85¢ $ 39,75¢ $ 27,39: $ 15,86
Total shareholde’ equity $123,54¢ $118,21( $ 76,61¢ $ 47,79: $ 31,64(

(8) Long-term obligations exclude n-current deferred revenu
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Item 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

This Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and AnalygfisFinancial Condition and Results of Operationghd other parts of this For
10-K contain forward-lookingtatements, within the meaning of the Private SgesrLitigation Reform Act of 1995, that involvisks ant
uncertainties. Forwardeoking statements provide current expectatiorfsitofre events based on certain assumptions anddechny stateme
that does not directly relate to any historical current fact. Forward-looking statements can alsitdentified by words such as “future,”
“anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,”“intends,” “plans,” “predicts,” “will,” “would,” “c  ould,” “can,” “may,” and simila
terms. Forward-looking statements are not guarasitefefuture performance and the Compamgttual results may differ significantly from
results discussed in the forward-lookisgitements. Factors that might cause such diffe®imclude, but are not limited to, those discusa
Part I, Item 1A of this Form K under the heading “Risk Factors)thich are incorporated herein by reference. Thdofeing discussio
should be read in conjunction with the consolidafiedncial statements and notes thereto include@ant 1, Item 8 of this Form 10-KAll
information presented herein is based on the Cowygafiscal calendar. Unless otherwise stated, refeesnto particular years, quarte
months or periods refer to the Compasfiscal years ended in September and the assdaiptarters, months and periods of those fiscal §.
Each of the terms th*Company” and “Apple” as used herein refers collaatly to Apple Inc. and its whollgwned subsidiaries, unle
otherwise stated. The Company assumes no obligatiosvise or update any forwatdeking statements for any reason, except as requin
law.

Overview and Highlights

The Company designs, manufactures, and marketslenodinmunication and media devices, personal coenpuand portable digital mu
players, and sells a variety of related softwageyises, peripherals, networking solutions, anddtparty digital content and applications.
Company sells its products worldwide through itsitestores, online stores, and direct sales foasewell as through thirdarty cellula
network carriers, wholesalers, retailers, and valdéed resellers. In addition, the Company sellargety of thirdparty iPhone, iPad, Mac a
iPod compatible products, including applicationtsafe, and various accessories through its onliree ratail stores. The Company sell:
consumers; small and mid-sized businesses; anaggdocenterprise and government customers.

Fiscal 2013 Highlight:

Net sales rose 9% or $14.4 billion during 2013 cared to 2012. This resulted from growth in net saléiPhone; iTunes, software, i
services; and iPad. Growth in 2013 reflects strealgs of iPhone 5, strong continuing sales of iRhbmand 4s, the introduction of iPhone
and 5s, strong performance of the iPad Mini andtfogeneration iPad, and continued growth in then@any's online sales of apps, dig
content, and services. Growth in these areas wdmlpaoffset by declines in net sales of Mac daRadd. All of the Company operatin
segments experienced increased net sales in 20tt8net sales growth being particularly strong lie tAmericas, Greater China and Je
operating segments. Similar to 2012, growth inlto& sales was higher during the first half of 20fising $12.6 billion or 14.7% over |
same period in 2012. First half growth in 2013 wegen by iPhone and iPad introductions at or iearbeginning of 2013.

During the first quarter of 2013, the Company idtroed the fourth generation iPad and iPad Miniew MacBook Pro with Retina display
new iPod touch, a new iMac, and expanded the rotibiPhone 5 which began in September 2012. Ire 2013 at its Worldwide Develoy
Conference, the Company announced iOS 7 and OS véfigas, announced iTunes Radio, introduced a fogmit upgrade to MacBook A
and provided a preview of all new Mac Pro desktepgected to be introduced during 2014. In Septer2b@B, the Company introduc
iPhone 5s and iPhone 5c, released iOS 7, laundhates Radio, and announced that beginning in Sde2013 iPhoto, iMovie and iWc
apps for iOS would be available as free downloaihk all new “iOS devices,’hamely iPhone, iPad and iPod touch. In October 2@1i¢
Company announced iPad Air™, its fifth generatidad, and iPad mini with Retina display.
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In April 2013 the Company announced a significardréase to its program to return capital to shddes by raising the total amoun
expected to utilize for the program through Decenf¥5 to $100 billion. This included increasing ghare repurchase authorization to
billion and raising its quarterly dividend to $3.p&r common share beginning in May 2013. During®@ie Company utilized $23.0 billion
repurchase common shares and paid dividends o5 $ilion or $11.40 per common share. In conjunttiaith its capital return program,
May 2013 the Company issued $17.0 billion of netéh varying maturities through 2043.

Fiscal 2012 Highlight:

Overall net sales during 2012 increased $48.3hiltir 45% compared to 2011. All of the Compangperating segments experienced incre
net sales during 2012, primarily a result of straegnand for iPhone and iPad. Growth in total nkissavas particularly strong during the 1
six months of 2012, rising $34.1 billion or 66% quemed to the same period in 2011. The net salestrduring the first six months of 20
reflected the launch of iPhone 4s in the first tgraof 2012 and the Compasyability to meet demand more quickly for iPhonewtser
compared to the iPhone 4 launch. Growth duringfitts¢ half of 2012 was also favorably impacted ltsosg unit sales of iPad during
holiday season, resulting in a 111% increase id iRat sales during the first quarter of 2012 coradao the same quarter in 2011. Part
offsetting these positive factors was a decreagieédd net sales experienced across all operatmeeats.

In October 2011, the Company introduced iPhonendislaunched iCloud, the Compagsyloud service that stores user data and keejpsto
date and available on multiple iOS devices and Btadt Windows personal computers. The Company inteddhe third generation iPad w
Retina display in March 2012 and in June 2012 thiceed the MacBook Pro with Retina display and attatgd MacBook Air During the four
quarter of 2012, OS X Mountain Lion was releasedi i@ione 5 was introduced.

In March 2012, the Company announced a $10 biBivere repurchase program that would be executedimee years and announced plar
initiate a quarterly dividend commencing in thertbuguarter of 2012. During the fourth quarter, @@mpany paid dividends of $2.5 billion
$2.65 per common share.
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Sales Data

The following table shows net sales by operatingmssnt and net sales and unit sales by product ghi2@13, 2012 and 2011 (dollars
millions and units in thousands):

2013 Change 2012 Change 2011
Net Sales by Operating Segmen
Americas $ 62,73¢ 9% $ 57,51 50% $ 38,31f
Europe 37,88: 4% 36,32:¢ 31% 27,77¢
Greater China (e 25,417 13% 22,53: 78% 12,69(
Japar 13,46: 27% 10,57: 94% 5,437
Rest of Asia Pacifi 11,18: 4% 10,74: 8% 9,90z
Retail 20,22¢ 7% 18,82¢ 33% 14,127
Total net sale $170,91( 9%  $156,50¢ 45%  $108,24¢
Net Sales by Product:
iPhone (b’ $ 91,27¢ 16% $ 78,69: 71%  $ 45,99¢
iPad (b) 31,98( 3% 30,94 61% 19,16¢
Mac (b) 21,48: (M% 23,22 7% 21,78¢
iPod (b) 4,411 (21)% 5,61°F (25)% 7,45:
iTunes, software and services 16,05! 25% 12,89( 38% 9,37:
Accessories (d 5,70¢ 11% 5,14¢ 15% 4,47¢
Total net sale $170,91( 9%  $156,50¢ 45%  $108,24¢
Unit Sales by Product:
iPhone 150,25 20% 125,04¢ 73% 72,29
iPad 71,03:¢ 22% 58,31( 80% 32,39
Mac 16,34: (10)% 18,15¢ 9% 16,73t
iPod 26,37¢ (25)% 35,16 A7% 42,62(

(8) Greater China includes China, Hong Kong and Tai\
(b) Includes deferrals and amortization of related-software services and software upgrade ric

(c) Includes revenue from sales on the iTunes Stom Abp Store, the Mac App Store, and the iBooks&stand revenue from sales
AppleCare, licensing and other servic

(d) Includes sales of hardware peripherals and /-branded and thi-party accessories for iPhone, iPad, Mac and i

The Company’s fiscal year is the 52 or 53-weekqukthat ends on the last Saturday of SeptemberCoinepanys fiscal years 2013, 2012 ¢
2011 ended on September 28, 2013, September 29, &t September 24, 2011, respectively. Both figears 2013 and 2011 spannec
weeks. Fiscal year 2012 spanned 53 weeks, with tavidek added to the first quarter of 2012, as is dapgroximately every six years
realign the Company’s fiscal quarters more clogelycalendar quarters. Inclusion of the additionaklvin 2012 increased the Company’
overall net sales and operating expenses for the ye
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Product Performance
iPhone
The following table presents iPhone net sales auitdsales information for 2013, 2012 and 2011 gad¢s in millions and units in thousands):

2013 Change 2012 Change 2011
Net sales $ 91,27¢ 16% $ 78,69: 71% $ 45,99¢
Percentage of total net sa 53% 50% 42%
Unit sales 150,25 20% 125,04¢ 73% 72,29!

The growth in iPhone net sales and unit sales du?i®l3 resulted from increased demand for iPhonalliof the Companyg operatin
segments primarily due to the launch of iPhone &irbeng in September 2012 and strong ongoing denf@and®hone 4 and 4s. All of t
Company’s operating segments experienced incréagest sales and unit sales of iPhone during 2@ifpared to 2012. The year-ovwezal
impact of higher iPhone unit sales in 2013 wasiglirtoffset by a 3% decline in iPhone averageisglprices (“ASPs”)n 2013 compared
2012 primarily as a result of a shift in produckrtowards lower-priced iPhone models, particul@fligone 4. All of the Compang’geographi
operating segments experienced a decline in iPA&Rs during 2013.

The year-over-year growth in iPhone net sales amidsales during 2012 reflects strong demand faoit in all of the Company’operatin
segments, except for the Rest of Asia Pacific segn@rowth in iPhone sales during 2012 is primaailyesult of the launches of iPhone 4
the first quarter of 2012 and iPhone 5 in the fowtarter of 2012, ongoing demand during 2012 FPtrone 4 and iPhone 3GS, and expa
distribution with new carriers and resellers.

iPad
The following table presents iPad net sales antlsaés information for 2013, 2012 and 2011 (nktssim millions and units in thousands):

2013 Change 2012 Change 2011
Net sales $ 31,98( 3% $ 30,94¢ 61% $ 19,16¢
Percentage of total net sa 19% 20% 18%
Unit sales 71,03 22% 58,31( 80% 32,39/

The growth in net sales and unit sales of iPadndu2013 resulted from growth in iPad unit saleallrof the Companys operating segmen
This growth was driven by the launch of iPad mindahe fourth generation iPad beginning in thet firgarter of 2013. The year-ovgeal
growth rate of total iPad unit sales was signiftbahigher than the growth rate of total iPad redes for 2013 due to a reduction in iPad A
of 15% in 2013 compared to 2012. This decline tesuprimarily from introduction of the lower pric&@ad mini and the full year impact of
price reduction on iPad 2 made in 2012. The dedlin#ad ASPs was experienced to various degreesllbyf the Companyg operatin
segments.

The year-over-year increase in iPad net sales aitdales during 2012 was driven by strong demandfad in all of the Company’operatin
segments as a result of the launch of the thirébigetion iPad in March 2012, continued demand fadiR, and expanded distribution with r
resellers. The year-ovgear growth rate of iPad unit sales was higher thargrowth rate of iPad net sales during 2012tdwe10% reductic
in ASPs as a result of a shift in product mix tosvenwerjpriced iPad models, a price reduction on iPad 2amphcrease in indirect sales du
expanded distribution through third-party resellers
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Mac
The following table presents Mac net sales andsaiés information for 2013, 2012 and 2011 (netssad millions and units in thousands):

2013 Change 2012 Change 2011
Net sales $21,48: (N% $23,22: 7% $21,78:
Percentage of total net sa 13% 15% 20%
Unit sales 16,34 (10)% 18,15¢ 9% 16,73:

Mac net sales and unit sales for 2013 were dowrelatively flat in all of the Compang’ operating segments. Mac ASPs increased sl
partially offsetting the impact of lower unit sales net sales. The decline in Mac unit sales andales reflects the overall weakness ir
market for personal computers.

The year-over-year growth in Mac net sales and sali¢s during 2012 reflects increased demand far pbatables in all of the Compaisy
operating segments driven by 2012 releases of agdabdels of MacBook Air and MacBook Pro, includiMgcBook Pro with Retina displ
in June 2012. Partially offsetting the increas@ét sales of Mac portables was a decline in nessafl Mac desktops that reflected the ov
decline in the market for desktop personal computerring 2012. Additionally, the Company did naotramluce updated versions of its N
desktop products in 2012.

iTunes, Software and Services
The following table presents net sales informatibiTunes, software and services for 2013, 2012201dL (in millions):

2013 Change 2012 Change 2011
iTunes, software and services $16,05: 25% $12,89( 38% $ 9,37
Percentage of total net sa 9% 8% 9%

The increase in net sales of iTunes, software andcgs in 2013 compared to 2012 was primarily glugrowth in net sales from the iTui
Store, AppleCare and licensing. The iTunes Storeegged a total of $9.3 billion in net sales dur®d 3, a 24% increase from 2012. Growl
the iTunes Store, which includes the App Store Miae App Store and the iBooks Store, reflects ear@d growth in the installed base of
devices, expanded offerings of iOS apps and relatégp purchases, and expanded offerings of iTutigisal content.

The increase in net sales of iTunes, software andces in 2012 compared to 2011 was due primaoilgrowth of the iTunes Store, wh
generated total net sales of $7.5 billion for 208&&pared to net sales of $5.4 billion during 200He strong results of the iTunes Store in -
reflect growth of the App Store; growth of the Cang’'s customer base; and the continued expansidhirofparty audio, video and bo
content available for sale or rent via the iTungs&

29



Table of Contents

Segment Operating Performance

The Company manages its business primarily on grgebic basis. Accordingly, the Company determiitedeportable operating segme
which are generally based on the nature and latafidits customers, to be the Americas, EuropeatéreChina, Japan, Rest of Asia Pacific
Retail. The Americas segment includes both Nortth &outh America. The Europe segment includes Earogeuntries, as well as India,
Middle East and Africa. The Greater China segmantudes China, Hong Kong and Taiwan. The Rest d& Aacific segment includ
Australia and Asian countries, other than thosentries included in the Comparsyother operating segments. The Retail segmentatg:
Apple retail stores in 13 countries, including theS. The results of the Comparygeographic segments do not include results oR#tai
segment. Each operating segment provides similedwsae and software products and similar servi€esther information regarding t
Company’s operating segments may be found in Nbt¢Segment Information and Geographic Data.”

Americas
The following table presents Americas net salesrmftion for 2013, 2012 and 2011 (in millions):

2013 Change 2012 Change 2011
Net sales $62,73¢ 9% $57,51% 50% $38,31¢
Percentage of total net sa 37% 37% 35%

The growth in the Americas segment net sales dW018 was driven by increased sales of iPhoneviatig the introduction of iPhone 5
September 2012 and iPhone 5s and 5c in Septemi8r R@reased sales from the iTunes Store, anéased sales of iPad, particularly i
mini. These increases were partially offset by erei@se in net sales of iPod and Mac and a decliiiad ASPs.

The growth in net sales during 2012 was primarifyeh by increased demand for iPhone following ldaenches of iPhone 4s and iPhon
strong demand for the third generation iPad and IPand higher sales from the iTunes Store.

Europe
The following table presents Europe net sales méiion for 2013, 2012 and 2011 (in millions):

2013 Change 2012 Change 2011
Net sales $37,88: 4% $36,32: 31% $27,77¢
Percentage of total net sa 22% 23% 26%

Similar to the Americas segment, growth in netsalethe Europe segment during 2013 was primarilyed by increased sales of iPhone, i
and higher net sales from iTunes. These increases partially offset by decreases in net sales af ihd iPod and a decline in iPad ASPs
sales in the Europe segment continue to be nefjaiimpacted by unfavorable economic conditions amtp of the region reflected by sec
half 2013 net sales falling 4% compared to the sédwlf of 2012, which followed an 11% increas@d@t sales during the first half of 2013.

The growth in net sales during 2012 was primarifiveh by strong demand for the third generationdi@ad iPad 2, higher sales from
iTunes Store and increased demand for iPhone fharaunch of iPhone 4s. iPhone 5 was launchedlimised number of countries in t
Europe segment at the end of the fourth quart@0&® and did not contribute to the growth in néésdn the Europe segment to the exte
did in other segments. Lower year-over-year gromtmet sales in the Europe segment during 2012 eoedpto the Company’othe
geographic segments reflects growth in iPhone salés that was well below the growth rates expeeérby the Compang’other operatir
segments, partially offset by strong growth in iRait sales. Net sales in the Europe

30



Table of Contents

segment were also negatively impacted by the régiancertain economic conditions and the strengtthénU.S. dollar relative to seve
European currencies, including the euro.

Greater China
The following table presents Greater China netssaformation for 2013, 2012 and 2011 (in millions)

2013 Change 2012 Change 2011
Net sales $25,41° 13% $22,53: 78% $12,69(
Percentage of total net sa 15% 14% 12%

The growth in net sales in the Greater China segmhernng 2013 resulted from two major iPhone intretibns during the year, iPhone ¢
December 2012 and iPhone 5¢ and iPhone 5s in Skpte?@13. Further contributing to the growth in 20das the introduction of the fou
generation iPad and iPad mini during the secondtguaf 2013 and an increase in iPhone channehiiove as of the end of 2013 compare
the end of 2012. While net sales in the China segmvere up 13% for all of 2013, net sales for teeosnid half of 2013 declined 4% compe
to the second half of 2012.

The growth in net sales during 2012 was mainly umcreased demand for iPhone following the lauotiPhone 4s and strong demand
the third generation iPad and iPad 2. Growth in@neater China segment was affected by the timii¢Ploone and iPad product launct
iPhone 5 was not launched in China during 2012, thedhird generation iPad that was introducedh®y €Gompany in March 2012 was
launched in China until the fourth quarter of 2012.

Japan
The following table presents Japan net sales irdition for 2013, 2012 and 2011 (in millions):

2013 Change 2012 Change 2011
Net sales $13,46: 27% $10,57: 94% $ 5,437
Percentage of total net sa 8% 7% 5%

The increase in net sales in the Japan segmemtgdR@i13 reflects significant increases in unit woés of iPhone and iPad, strong growt
iTunes Store net sales and an increase in iPhamenehinventory as of the end of 2013 comparedh¢oeind of 2012. These positive fac
were partially offset by declines in ASPs for iPb@and iPad and by weakness in the Japanese Y¢meadtathe U.S. dollar.

The growth in net sales during 2012 was primarifyeh by increased demand for iPhone following lduenches of iPhone 4s and iPhon
expanded distribution with a new iPhone carrieqreg demand for the third generation iPad and Bddgher sales from the iTunes Store,
strength in the Japanese Yen relative to the Laltard

Rest of Asia Pacifi
The following table presents Rest of Asia Pacifit sales information for 2013, 2012 and 2011 (itionis):

2013 Change 2012 Change 2011
Net sales $11,18: 4% $10,74: 8% $ 9,90:
Percentage of total net sa 7% 7% 9%

The growth in net sales during 2013 was primariiyeh by the launch of iPhone 5 and higher salesfiTunes, partially offset by a decre
in net sales of iPad and Mac.
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The growth in net sales during 2012 was mainly tuestrong demand for the third generation iPad. Rest of Asia Pacific segme
experienced significantly lower year-over-year gitown net sales compared to all of the Comparother operating segments due primarily
decrease in iPhone sales. This decrease reflectiniing of iPhone 5 launches in the Rest of Asaift segment, which only occurred i
limited number of countries during the fourth qearf 2012.

Retail
The following table presents Retail net sales mfation for 2013, 2012 and 2011 (in millions, excigptstore counts):

2013 Change 2012 Change 2011
Net sales $20,22¢ 7% $18,82¢ 33% $14,127
Percentage of total net sa 12% 12% 13%
U.S. store: 254 25C 24t
International store 162 14C 112
Total store coun 41¢€ 39C 357

The growth in net sales during 2013 was primariiyeh by increased unit sales of iPhone and iPdvitng the new product introductions
the first half of 2013 and increased sales of ses:i With an average of 403 and 365 open storesgd013 and 2012, respectively, avel
revenue per store decreased to $50.2 million irB26dmpared to $51.5 million in 2012.

The growth in net sales during 2012 was driven arily by increased demand for iPhone following thenches of iPhone 4s and iPhon
strong demand for the third generation iPad and lRand higher Mac net sales. Lower year-gusar growth in net sales in the Retail segr
during 2012 compared to the Compangther segments reflects the significant growthPad indirect distribution channel expansion. Wt
average of 365 stores and 326 stores during 20d2@h1, respectively, average revenue per stomeased 19% to $51.5 million in 2C
compared to $43.3 million in 2011.

The Retail segment’s operating income was $4.®hill$4.6 billion and $3.1 billion during 2013, Z0land 2011, respectively. The year-ovel
year decrease in Retail operating income in 201&imarily attributable to lower gross margin siamito that experienced by the Comp
overall, partially offset by higher net sales. Tyear-overyear increase in Retail operating income in 201@rimarily attributable to high
overall net sales that resulted in significantlgh@r average revenue per store during 2012.

Gross Margin
Gross margin for 2013, 2012 and 2011 are as foll@wsnillions, except gross margin percentages):

2013 2012 2011
Net sales $170,91(  $156,50¢  $108,24¢
Cost of sale: 106,60t 87,84¢ 64,43:
Gross margit $ 64,30¢ $ 68,66: $ 43,81¢

Gross margin percenta 37.6% 43.9% 40.5%

The gross margin percentage in 2013 was 37.6% a@ta 43.9% in 2012. The year-owaar decrease in gross margin in 2013 compal
2012 was driven by multiple factors including intuztion of new versions of existing products witgher cost structures and flat or redc
pricing; a shift in sales mix to products with lawmargins; introduction of iPad mini with gross miar significantly below the Comparg/’
average product margins; higher expenses assoeidttedhanges to certain of the Company’s servigéejgs and other
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warranty costs; price reductions on certain pragjuntluding iPad 2 and iPhone 4; and unfavorahjgsict from foreign exchange fluctuations.

The gross margin percentage in 2012 was 43.9%, a@dpo 40.5% in 2011. This year-oweyar increase in gross margin was largely di
by lower commodity and other product costs, a highi& of iPhone sales, and improved leverage oadigosts from higher net sales.

increase in gross margin was partially offset by ithpact of a stronger U.S. dollar. The gross nmapgircentage during the first half of 2
was 45.9% compared to 41.4% during the secondoi@®12. The primary drivers of higher gross maigithe first half of 2012 compared
the second half are a higher mix of iPhone salesimproved leverage on fixed costs from highersaes. Additionally, gross margin in

second half of 2012 was also affected by the inictidn of new products with flat pricing that haligher cost structures and deliver gre
value to customers, price reductions on certairsting products, higher transition costs associaw@t product launches, and contini
strengthening of the U.S. dollar; partially offegtlower commodity costs.

The Company anticipates gross margin during tts¢ ¢juarter of 2014 to be between 36.5% and 37.9%.fdregoing statement regarding
Company’s expected gross margin percentage inrstegfiarter of 2014 is forward-looking and coulffet from actual results. The Company’
future gross margin can be impacted by multipleédi@cincluding, but not limited to those set foaihove in Part I, Item 1A of this Form X0-
under the heading “Risk Factorahd those described in this paragraph. In gengraks margins and margins on individual producté
remain under downward pressure due to a varietfactbrs, including continued industry wide globabguct pricing pressures, increa
competition, compressed product life cycles, prodw@nsitions, potential increases in the costamfiponents, and potential strengthening o
U.S. dollar, as well as potential increases indb&s of outside manufacturing services and a gateshift in the Companyg sales mix towart
products with lower gross margins. response to competitive pressures, the Compapgcts it will continue to take product pricing iaois
which would adversely affect gross margins. Grossgins could also be affected by the Compargbility to manage product quality ¢
warranty costs effectively and to stimulate demé&ordcertain of its products. Due to the Compangignificant international operatio
financial results can be significantly affectedhe short-term by fluctuations in exchange rates.

Operating Expenses
Operating expenses for 2013, 2012 and 2011 am@law/$ (in millions, except for percentages):

2013 Change 2012 Change 2011
Research and development $ 4,47¢ 32% $ 3,381 39% $ 2,42¢
Percentage of total net sa 3% 2% 2%
Selling, general and administrati $10,83( 8% $10,04( 32% $ 7,59¢
Percentage of total net sa 6% 6% 7%
Total operating expens: $15,30¢ 14% $13,42: 34% $10,02¢
Percentage of total net sa 9% 9% 9%

Research and Developmel'R&D") Expense

The growth in R&D expense was driven by an incréadeeadcount and related expenses to support degdaR&D activities. Although tot
R&D expense increased 32% and 39% in 2013 and 2@%pectively, it remained fairly consistent aseecpntage of net sales. The Comg
continues to believe that focused investments irDR#&e critical to its future growth and competitigesition in the marketplace and
directly related to timely development of new amtha@nced products that are central to the Compacgte business strategy. As such
Company expects to make further investments in R&EBmain competitive.

Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”) Expens

The growth in SG&A during 2013 was primarily dueth@ Companys continued expansion of its Retail segment anceased headcount &
related expenses, partially offset by decreaseddipg on professional
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services. The growth in SG&A during 2012 was prigadue to the Compang’continued expansion of its Retail segment, irezddeadcou
and related expenses, higher spending on profedsernvices, marketing and advertising programd,iacreased variable costs associated
the overall growth of the Company’s net sales.

Other Income and Expense
Other income and expense for 2013, 2012 and 2@l asafollows (in millions):

2013 Change 2012 Change 2011
Interest and dividend income $1,61¢ $1,08¢ $ 51¢
Interest expens (13€) 0 0
Other expense, n (329 (566€) (109
Total other income/(expense), I $1,15¢ 121% $ 527 26% $ 41

The year-overear increase in other income and expense duriad 2@s due primarily to higher interest and dividiémcome resulting fro
the Companys higher cash, cash equivalents and marketableisesibalances and lower premium expenses ongorekchange contrac
partially offset by interest expense on debt issndatie third quarter of 2013 and remeasuremese®$om foreign exchange rate movem
The overall increase in other income and expens2)i? compared to 2011 was attributable to hightarést and dividend income on
Companys higher cash, cash equivalents and marketableiesualances, partially offset by higher premigrpenses on foreign excha
contracts. The weighted average interest rate ddimehe Company on its cash, cash equivalentsrattetable securities was 1.03% du
2013 and 2012 and 0.77% during 2011. The Compadynbalebt outstanding during 2012 and 2011 andrdiowy did not incur any relat
interest expense.

Provision for Income Taxes
Provision for income taxes and effective tax réte2013, 2012 and 2011 are as follows (in millijpns

2013 2012 2011
Provision for income taxes $13,11¢ $14,03( $ 8,28:¢
Effective tax rate 26.2% 25.2% 24.2%

The Companys effective tax rates for all periods differ frohetstatutory federal income tax rate of 35% dumarily to certain undistribute
foreign earnings, a substantial portionndfich was generated by subsidiaries organizedeland, for which no U.S. taxes are provided bec
such earnings are intended to be indefinitely rested outside the U.S.

As of September 28, 2013, the Company had defésredssets arising from deductible temporary diffiees, tax losses, and tax credits of
billion, and deferred tax liabilities of $16.5 dlh. Management believes it is more likely than thett forecasted income, including income
may be generated as a result of certain tax plgnstirategies, together with future reversals o$ting taxable temporary differences, will
sufficient to fully recover the deferred tax assdise Company will continue to evaluate the redliliy of deferred tax assets quarterly
assessing the need for and amount of a valuatiowahce.

The Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) has conepléts field audit of the Compars/federal income tax returns for the years 200duiph
2006 and proposed certain adjustments. The Compascontested certain of these adjustments thrtheghRS Appeals Office. The IRS
currently examining the years 2007 through 2012IR$ audit issues for years prior to 2004 havenb@solved. In addition, the Compan
subject to audits by state, local, and foreignaathorities. Management believes that adequatdgioog have been made for any
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adjustments that may result from tax examinatidhawever, the outcome of tax audits cannot be ptedievith certainty. If any issu
addressed in the Company'’s tax audits are resafvadnanner not consistent with managenseaxpectations, the Company could be req
to adjust its provision for income taxes in theipeisuch resolution occurs.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table presents selected financiabinfation and statistics as of and for the yearedr&eptember 28, 2013, September 29,
and September 24, 2011 (in millions):

2013 2012 2011
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities $146,76: $121,25: $81,57(
Property, plant and equipment, | $ 16,59% $ 15,45: $ 7,77
Long-term debt $ 16,96( $ 0] $ 0
Working capital $ 29,62¢ $ 19,11: $ 17,01¢
Cash generated by operating activi $ 53,66¢ $ 50,85¢ $ 37,52¢
Cash used in investing activiti $(33,779) $(48,22) $(40,41¢)
Cash generated/(used in) by financing activi $(16,379 $ (1,699 $ 1,44¢

The Company believes its existing balances of ceabh equivalents and marketable securities wilfécient to satisfy its working capi
needs, capital asset purchases, outstanding corantgmand other liquidity requirements associatét its existing operations over the n
12 months. The Company anticipates the cash usddtioe dividends and the share repurchase progvéincome from its current domes
cash, cash generated from on-going U.S. operatitigtees and from borrowings.

As of September 28, 2013 and September 29, 2012, $billion and $82.6 billion, respectively, oetiCompanys cash, cash equivalents
marketable securities were held by foreign subs&kaand are generally based in U.S. dollar-denatadholdings. Amounts held by forei
subsidiaries are generally subject to U.S. incoaxatton on repatriation to the U.S. The Companyarketable securities investment port
is invested primarily in highlyated securities and its investment policy gengratits the amount of credit exposure to any cssuér. Th
policy requires investments generally to be investtgrade with the objective of minimizing the putal risk of principal loss.

During 2013, cash generated from operating actiwitf $53.7 billion was a result of $37.0 billiohret income, norash adjustments to |
income of $10.2 billion and an increase in net geaim operating assets and liabilities of $6.5dmill Cash used in investing activities of $:
billion during 2013 consisted primarily of net phases, sales and maturities of marketable secuafi€24.0 billion and cash used to acc
property, plant and equipment of $8.2 billion. Casted in financing activities during 2013 consispetnarily of cash used to repurch
common stock of $22.9 billion and cash used to gimidends and dividend equivalent rights of $10ilédm, partially offset by net procee
from the issuance of long-term debt of $16.9 hillio

During 2012, cash generated from operating actiwiof $50.9 billion was a result of $41.7 billiohreet income and nooash adjustments
net income of $9.4 billion, partially offset by adease in net operating assets and liabilitis28® million. Cash used in investing activi
during 2012 of $48.2 hillion consisted primarily mét purchases, sales and maturities of markesaularities of $38.4 billion and cash use
acquire property, plant and equipment of $8.3dnilliCash used in financing activities during 201317 billion consisted primarily of ca
used to pay dividends and dividend equivalent sigiit$2.5 billion.

Capital Assets

The Companys capital expenditures were $7.0 billion during 20donsisting of $499 million for retail store fitgeés and $6.5 billion for oth
capital expenditures, including product tooling andnufacturing process equipment, and other compdeilities and infrastructure. T
Company’s actual cash payments for capital experaditduring 2013 were $8.2 hillion.
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The Company anticipates utilizing approximately $1hillion for capital expenditures during 2014¢liding approximately $550 million f
retail store facilities and approximately $10.5libil for other capital expenditures, including puet tooling and manufacturing proc
equipment, and corporate facilities and infrastrieestincluding information systems hardware, soferend enhancements.

During 2014, the Company expects to open aboute3d retail stores, with approximately twioirds located outside of the U.S. During 2(
the Company also expects to remodel approximatelyf s existing stores.

Long-Term Debt

In the third quarter of 2013, the Company issued.&billion of long-term debt, which included $3dlion of floatingrate notes. To mana
the risk of adverse fluctuations in interest raassociated with the floatingtte notes, the Company entered into interestawsps with a
aggregate notional amount of $3.0 billion, whicheffect, fixed the interest rate of the floatirage notes. Of the aggregate principal amou
$17.0 billion, $2.5 billion is due in 2016 and $.4illion is due in 2018 through 2043.

Dividend and Stock Repurchase Progr

In the third quarter of 2013, the Company raissd#sh dividend by 15% to $3.05 per common shdre.Jompany expects to continue to
quarterly dividends of $3.05 per common share egetnter, subject to declaration by the Board o&Btors.

In 2012, the Company’s Board of Directors authatizeprogram to repurchase up to $10 billion of @@npanys common stock. In Api
2013, the Companyg’Board of Directors increased the share repurchamgram authorization from $10 billion to $60 ioifi, of which $23.
billion had been utilized as of September 28, 20M8e share repurchase program is expected to beleted by December 2015. 1
Companys share repurchase program does not obligate d@ctpire any specific number of shares. Under tlegram, shares may
repurchased in privately negotiated or open markesactions, including under plans complying viiile 10b5-1 of the Exchange Act.

Beginning in August 2012 through December 2015, Gloenpany anticipates it will utilize approximateht00 billion to pay dividends a
dividend equivalent rights, repurchase shares,ramit withheld taxes related to net share settléamémnestricted stock units, of which $3
billion had been utilized through September 28,20he following table presents the Compangividends, share repurchases and net
settlement activity for 2013 and 2012 since thet stithe program (in millions):

Dividends Taxes
and Related to
Dividend
Equivalent Open Settlemen
Accelerated Market
Rights Share Share of Equity
Paid Repurchase Repurchase Awards Total
2012 $ 2,48¢ $ 0 $ 0 $ 56 $ 2,54«
2013 10,56¢ 13,95( 9,00( 1,082 34,59¢
Total $13,05: $ 13,95( $  9,00( $ 1,13¢ $37,14(

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obgjations

The Company has not entered into any transactigtisumconsolidated entities whereby the Companyfimascial guarantees, subording
retained interests, derivative instruments, or ottentingent arrangements that expose the Compamyaterial continuing risks, conting
liabilities, or any other obligation under a vat@lnterest in an unconsolidated entity that presidinancing, liquidity, market risk, or cre
risk support to the Company.
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The following table presents certain payments dyehe Company under contractual obligations witmimum firm commitments as
September 28, 2013 and excludes amounts alreadsdezton the Consolidated Balance Sheet, excejrigrterm debt (in millions):

Payments Payments Payments
Payments B
Due in Due in
Less Due in Due in More
Than 1 1-3 4-5 Than 5
Year Years Years Years Total
Long-term debt $ 0 $ 2,50( $ 6,00( $ 8,50( $17,00(
Operating lease 61C 1,20(C 1,05¢ 1,85¢ 4,721
Purchase obligatior 18,61¢ 0 0 0 18,61¢
Other obligation: 1,081 24¢ 16 3 1,34¢
Total $20,30" $ 3,94¢ $ 7,07: $10,35¢ $41,68:

Lease Commitmen

The Companys major facility leases are typically for terms retceeding 10 years and generally provide renewdbros for terms n
exceeding five additional years. Leases for refpéce are for terms ranging from five to 20 yetirs,majority of which are for 10 years, i
often contain multi-year renewal options. As of ®egber 28, 2013, the Compasytotal future minimum lease payments under norelabtz
operating leases were $4.7 billion, of which $3Ibom related to leases for retail space.

Purchase Commitments with Outsourcing Partners@adhponent Suppliel

The Company utilizes several outsourcing partnemnanufacture sub-assemblies for the Compmapydducts and to perform final assen
and testing of finished products. These outsourpergners acquire components and build productdbasalemand information supplied by
Company, which typically covers periods up to 1599 The Company also obtains individual componfamtigs products from a wide varie
of individual suppliers. Consistent with industmaptice, the Company acquires components througghmabination of purchase orders, supj
contracts, and open orders based on projected dkrmndormation. Where appropriate, the purchases agmglied to inventory compone
prepayments that are outstanding with the respestiyplier. As of September 28, 2013, the Compaydutstanding off-balance sheet third
party manufacturing commitments and component @egeltommitments of $18.6 billion.

Other Obligations

In addition to the ofbalance sheet commitments mentioned above, the &onipad outstanding obligations of $1.3 billioroaSeptember 2
2013, that consisted mainly of commitments to aajeapital assets, including product tooling anchufiacturing process equipment,
commitments related to advertising, research amdldpment, Internet and telecommunications senacesother obligations.

The Company'’s other noturrent liabilities in the Consolidated Balance &keconsist primarily of deferred tax liabilitieggpss unrecogniz
tax benefits and the related gross interest andlpes. As of September 28, 2013, the Company laecarrent deferred tax liabilities of $11
billion. Additionally, as of September 28, 2013¢ tGompany had gross unrecognized tax benefits .@fldiion and an additional $590 milli
for gross interest and penalties classified asawrent liabilities. At this time, the Company isable to make a reasonably reliable estime
the timing of payments in individual years in coctien with these tax liabilities; therefore, sucmaunts are not included in the ab
contractual obligation table.

Indemnification

The Company generally does not indemnify eisdrs of its operating system and application sofiwagainst legal claims that the softv
infringes third-party intellectual property righther agreements entered into by
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the Company sometimes include indemnification mmiovis under which the Company could be subjecbstscand/or damages in the evel
an infringement claim against the Company or aermmified thirdparty. However, the Company has not been requiredake any significa
payments resulting from such an infringement classerted against it or an indemnified thpatty. In the opinion of management, there
not at least a reasonable possibility the Compaay have incurred a material loss with respect tieinnification of endisers of its operatit
system or application software for infringement thfrd-party intellectual property rights. The Company didt record a liability fc
infringement costs related to indemnification aSeptember 28, 2013 or September 29, 2012.

The Company has entered into indemnification agesgswith its directors and executive officers. Bnthese agreements, the Compan)
agreed to indemnify such individuals to the fullestent permitted by law against liabilities thatsa by reason of their status as directo
officers and to advance expenses incurred by sutiiduals in connection with related legal prodegd. It is not possible to determine
maximum potential amount of payments the Companydcbe required to make under these agreementsdodtie limited history of pric
indemnification claims and the unique facts anduwinstances involved in each claim. However, the @omw maintains directors and offic
liability insurance coverage to reduce its expogarsuch obligations, and payments made under thgssements historically have not b
material.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements and reldtedosures in conformity with U.S. generally gueel accounting principles (*“GAAP3gNc
the Company’s discussion and analysis of its firdraondition and operating results require the @any’s management to make judgme
assumptions, and estimates that affect the amoeptsted in its consolidated financial statements accompanying notes. Note Summar
of Significant Accounting Policies” of the Notes @onsolidated Financial Statements in Part Il, 18mf this Form 1< describes tF
significant accounting policies and methods usethapreparation of the Compasyconsolidated financial statements. Manageme retshi
estimates on historical experience and on varigberaassumptions it believes to be reasonable uhéecircumstances, the results of wl
form the basis for making judgments about the @agryalues of assets and liabilities. Actual resuatiay differ from these estimates and :
differences may be material.

Management believes the Compacritical accounting policies and estimates ares¢hrelated to revenue recognition, valuation
impairment of marketable securities, inventory a#ilon and valuation of manufacturimglated assets and estimated purchase comm
cancellation fees, warranty costs, income taxes |egal and other contingencies. Management corssttiese policies critical because they
both important to the portrayal of the Companfyhancial condition and operating results, arel/ttequire management to make judgment:
estimates about inherently uncertain matters. Tomganys senior management has reviewed these criticaluating policies and relat
disclosures with the Audit and Finance CommittethefCompany’s Board of Directors.

Revenue Recognitic

Net sales consist primarily of revenue from the sdlhardware, software, digital content and apgikbns, peripherals, and service and suj
contracts. The Company recognizes revenue whengmve evidence of an arrangement exists, delivasyoccurred, the sales price is fixe
determinable, and collection is probable. Prodsictoinsidered delivered to the customer once ibkas shipped and title and risk of loss |
been transferred. For most of the Compangfoduct sales, these criteria are met at the thmeproduct is shipped. For online sale
individuals, for some sales to education custonirerthe U.S., and for certain other sales, the Campdefers revenue until the custol
receives the product because the Company retgiastion of the risk of loss on these sales duriaggit. The Company recognizes reve
from the sale of hardware products, software buhdligh hardware that is essential to the functiipaif the hardware, and thindarty digita
content sold on the iTunes Store in accordance gétteral revenue recognition accounting guidanbe. T
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Company recognizes revenue in accordance with indspecific software accounting guidance for théofving types of sales transactic
(i) standalone sales of software products, (iigsaf software upgrades and (iii) sales of softwaredled with hardware not essential to
functionality of the hardware.

For multi-element arrangements that include hardwproducts containing software essential to thedvaare product functionality
undelivered software elements that relate to thidwiare product’s essential software, and/or undedigt nonsoftware services, the Compi
allocates revenue to all deliverables based om thkitive selling prices. In such circumstanche, Company uses a hierarchy to determin
selling price to be used for allocating revenuedétiverables: (i) vendor-specific objective evideraf fair value (“VSOE”), (ii) thirdparty
evidence of selling price (“TPE”) and (iii) besttiezate of selling price (‘ESP")VSOE generally exists only when the Company séié
deliverable separately and is the price actualbrghd by the Company for that deliverable. ESHeaethe Companyg best estimates of wi
the selling prices of elements would be if theyaveold regularly on a stand-alone basis.

For sales of qualifying versions of iOS devices,cMad Apple TV, the Company has indicated it manfrtime to time provide futu
unspecified software upgrades and features frehafye to customers. The Company also provideswanonsoftware services to owners
qualifying versions of iOS devices and Mac. BecahseCompany has neither VSOE nor TPE for the wifeé software upgrade rights or
non-software services, revenue is allocated toethiglhts and services based on the CommamBBPs. Revenue allocated to the unspe
software upgrade rights and non-software servieeed on the Company’s ESPs is deferred and re@mjoiz a straighline basis over tt
estimated period the software upgrades andsuofiwvare services are expected to be provideddoh ef these devices, which ranges from
to four years.

The Company’s process for determining ESPs involvesiagemens’ judgment and considers multiple factors that magy over tim
depending upon the unique facts and circumstaredated to each deliverable. Should future facts @raimstances change, the Company
ESPs and the future rate of related amortizatiorsédtware upgrades and neoftware services related to future sales of tlieséces coul
change. Factors subject to change include the uifiguesoftware upgrade rights offered, the estedatalue of unspecified software upgr
rights, the estimated or actual costs incurredrtivide non-software services, and the estimate@gesoftware upgrades and neoftware
services are expected to be provided.

The Company records reductions to revenue for estidhcommitments related to price protection ahe@rotustomer incentive programs.
transactions involving price protection, the Compaacognizes revenue net of the estimated amoutetoefunded, provided the reft
amount can be reasonably and reliably estimatedtendther conditions for revenue recognition hla@en met. The Comparsypolicy require
that, if refunds cannot be reliably estimated, nesmeis not recognized until reliable estimateslmamade or the price protection lapses. Fc
Companys other customer incentive programs, the estimatsd is recognized at the later of the date at whiie Company has sold

product or the date at which the program is offefidte Company also records reductions to revenuexpected future product returns bz
on the Company historical experience. Future market conditiond @roduct transitions may require the Companyntrdase custom
incentive programs that could result in reductitm$uture revenue. Additionally, certain customeedntive programs require manageme
estimate the number of customers who will actusdigeem the incentive. Managemeang'stimates are based on historical experiencehe
specific terms and conditions of particular inceatprograms. If a greater than estimated propoxiocustomers redeems such incentives
Company would be required to record additional ofidus to revenue, which would have an adverse @tnpa the Companyg’ results ¢
operations.

Valuation and Impairment of Marketable Securities

The Company’s investments in available-ale securities are reported at fair value. Urzedligains and losses related to changes in tt
value of securities are recognized in accumulatb@érocomprehensive income, net of tax, in the ComjzConsolidated Balance She
Changes in the fair value of available-for-saleusiies
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impact the Company’s net income only when such ri@esiare sold or an other-th&@mporary impairment is recognized. Realized gaim
losses on the sale of securities are determinedplegific identification of each securigy’cost basis. The Company regularly review
investment portfolio to determine if any secur#yother-thartemporarily impaired, which would require the Compé#o record an impairme
charge in the period any such determination is madenaking this judgment, the Company evaluatesrgg other things, the duration
extent to which the fair value of a security issléisan its cost; the financial condition of theuessand any changes thereto; and the Compan
intent to sell, or whether it will more likely tharot be required to sell, the security before recpwf its amortized cost basis. The Company
assessment on whether a security is other-thanporarily impaired could change in the future daenew developments or change:
assumptions related to any particular security.

Inventory Valuation and Valuation of Manufactur-Related Assets and Estimated Purchase CommitnaerteCation Fees

The Company must order components for its prodaietsbuild inventory in advance of product shipmertd has invested in manufactul
process equipment, including capital assets heits atuppliers'facilities. In addition, the Company has made pyements to certain of i
suppliers associated with long-term supply agredsném secure supply of inventory components. Thengany records a writdewn fol
inventories of components and products, includingdtparty products held for resale, which have becomsolete or are in excess
anticipated demand or net realizable value. The 2oy performs a detailed review of inventory thahsiders multiple factors includi
demand forecasts, product life cycle status, prodewelopment plans, current sales levels, and coent cost trends. The Company
reviews its manufacturingelated capital assets and inventory prepaymenmntsnipairment whenever events or circumstances atdichi
carrying amount of such assets may not be recoleertilthe Company determines that an asset isewaiverable, it records an impairment
equal to the amount by which the carrying valusuith an asset exceeds its fair value.

The industries in which the Company competes algestito a rapid and unpredictable pace of produntt component obsolescence
demand changes. In certain circumstances the Compay be required to record additional writewns of inventory, inventory prepayme
and/or manufacturing-related capital assets. Thsamstances include future demand or market ¢immgdi for the Company’ products beir
less favorable than forecasted, unforeseen tecitalochanges or changes to the Compsupybduct development plans that negatively i
the utility of any of these assets, or significdeterioration in the financial condition of onemore of the Compang’suppliers that hold any
the Company’s manufacturing process equipment avtiom the Company has made an inventory prepayngrth writeedowns wouli
adversely affect the Company’s results of operatiarthe period when the write-downs were recorded.

The Company records accruals for estimated camicglldees related to component orders that have loaacelled or are expected tc
cancelled. Consistent with industry practice, th@n@any acquires components through a combinatiquuathase orders, supplier contre
and open orders in each case based on projecteahdeiWhere appropriate, the purchases are appliegéntory component prepayments
are outstanding with the respective supplier. Pasehcommitments typically cover the Companfdrecasted component and manufactt
requirements for periods up to 150 days. If theran abrupt and substantial decline in demandrieray more of the Comparsyproducts,
the Company’s product development plans changétlere is an unanticipated change in technoldgeguirements for any of the Compasy’
products, then the Company may be required to deedditional accruals for cancellation fees thaulMtcadversely affect its results
operations in the period when the cancellation éxeddentified and recorded.

Warranty Costs

The Company provides for the estimated cost of avdies at the time the related revenue is recodnimsed on historical and projec
warranty claim rates, historical and projected -gmstclaim, and knowledge of specific product fegls that are outside of the Company’
typical experience. Each quarter, the Company taates
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these estimates to assess the adequacy of itsleecaarranty liabilities considering the size df thstalled base of products subject to wari
protection and adjusts the amounts as necessaagtuél product failure rates or repair costs diffem estimates, revisions to the estim
warranty liabilities would be required and couldterally affect the Company’s results of operations

Income Taxe

The Company records a tax provision for the anditgig tax consequences of the reported resultseshttpns. The provision for income ta
is computed using the asset and liability methodjem which deferred tax assets and liabilities ragnized for the expected future
consequences of temporary differences betweenirthadial reporting and tax bases of assets anditiie®, and for operating losses and
credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets andlitsds are measured using the currently enactedédses that apply to taxable income in ef
for the years in which those tax assets are exgdotbe realized or settled. The Company recoreation allowance to reduce deferred
assets to the amount that is believed more likedy thot to be realized.

The Company recognizes tax benefits from uncettainpositions only if it is more likely than notaththe tax position will be sustained
examination by the taxing authorities, based ontékénical merits of the position. The tax benefisognized in the financial statements f
such positions are then measured based on thesidrgeefit that has a greater than 50% likelihoiloking realized upon ultimate settlement.

Management believes it is more likely than not foa¢casted income, including income that may breeggted as a result of certain tax plan
strategies, together with future reversals of éxgstaxable temporary differences, will be suffiti¢o fully recover the deferred tax asset:
the event that the Company determines all or path® net deferred tax assets are not realizablaanfuture, the Company will make
adjustment to the valuation allowance that wouldh&rged to earnings in the period such deterntinasi made. In addition, the calculatior
tax liabilities involves significant judgment intesating the impact of uncertainties in the appima of GAAP and complex tax lav
Resolution of these uncertainties in a manner isistent with management’'s expectations could haweaterial impact on the Company’
financial condition and operating results.

Legal and Other Contingenci

As discussed in Part |, Item 3 of this Form 10-Klenthe heading “Legal Proceedings” and in Paitém 8 of this Form 1@ in the Notes t
Consolidated Financial Statements in Note 10, “Cdments and Contingenciesthe Company is subject to various legal proceedary
claims that arise in the ordinary course of busindfe Company records a liability when it is pholbathat a loss has been incurred ant
amount is reasonably estimable. There is signifigasgment required in both the probability deteration and as to whether an exposure
be reasonably estimated. In the opinion of managéntkere was not at least a reasonable possiltiidyCompany may have incurre
material loss, or a material loss in excess otarded accrual, with respect to loss contingenftiekegal and other contingencies. However
outcome of legal proceedings and claims broughinagséhe Company is subject to significant unceitai Therefore, although managen
considers the likelihood of such an outcome todeate, if one or more of these legal matters weselved against the Company in a repo
period for amounts in excess of management’s eapens, the Compang’consolidated financial statements for that répgnperiod could k
materially adversely affected.
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ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Interest Rate and Foreign Currency Risk Management

The Company regularly reviews its foreign exchafaward and option positions and interest rate syépth on a stand-aloftmasis and i
conjunction with its underlying foreign currencydaimterest rate related exposures. Given the éffediorizons of the Compars/'risk
management activities and the anticipatory natfithe exposures, there can be no assurance theg®p® will offset more than a portion
the financial impact resulting from movements ithei foreign exchange or interest rates. Furtlherrécognition of the gains and losses re
to these instruments may not coincide with thengnof gains and losses related to the underlyirmn@wmic exposures and, therefore, |
adversely affect the Company’s financial conditand operating results.

Interest Rate Risk
Investment:

While the Company is exposed to interest rate diations in many of the world’s leading industrializcountries, the Comparsyinteres
income is most sensitive to fluctuations in U.Seist rates. Changes in U.S. interest rates affiecinterest earned on the Compangast
cash equivalents and marketable securities, thedhie of those securities, as well as costs @socwith hedging.

The Companys investment policy and strategy are focused osepvation of capital and supporting the liquidigguirements of the Compa
A portion of the Company’s cash is managed by edlemanagers within the guidelines of the Comparyvestment policy and to object
market benchmarks. The Company'’s internal portfslibenchmarked against external manager perforenanc

The Company’s exposure to changes in interest ratates primarily to the Comparsyinvestment portfolio. The Company typically intget
highly-rated securities, and its investment policy geheriiits the amount of credit exposure to any aesuer. The policy requir
investments generally to be investment grade, thighorimary objective of minimizing the potentiali of principal loss.

To provide a meaningful assessment of the intemdst risk associated with the Companjnvestment portfolio, the Company performe
sensitivity analysis to determine the impact a gaim interest rates would have on the value ofitliestment portfolio assuming a 100 b
point parallel shift in the yield curve. Based oméstment positions as of September 28, 2013, athgfical 100 basis point increase in inte
rates across all maturities would result in a $2llibn incremental decline in the fair market valaf the portfolio. As of September 29, 201
similar 100 basis point increase in the yield cuwauld have resulted in a $2.1 billion incremerdatline in the fair market value of -
portfolio. Such losses would only be realized & thompany sold the investments prior to maturity.

Long-Term Debt

In the third quarter of 2013, the Company issued.&billion of long-term debt, which included $3dlion of floatingrate notes. To mana
the risk of fluctuations in interest rates ass@davith the floating-ate notes, the Company entered into interestswsgps with an aggregi
notional amount of $3.0 billion, which, in effefixed the interest rate of the floating-rate notes.

Foreign Currency Risk

In general, the Company is a net receiver of caiemnother than the U.S. dollar. Accordingly, chesmin exchange rates, and in particu
strengthening of the U.S. dollar, will negativeljeat the Companyg net sales and gross margins as expressed irdbll&s. There is a ri
that the Company will have to adjust local
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currency product pricing due to competitive presswhen there have been significant volatilitydrefgn currency exchange rates.

The Company may enter into foreign currency forwand option contracts with financial institutiomsgrotect against foreign exchange r
associated with certain existing assets and ltasli certain firmly committed transactions, forstea future cash flows, and net investmen
foreign subsidiaries. The Compasypractice is to hedge a portion of its materiakiign exchange exposures, typically for up to 1iths
However, the Company may choose not to hedge neftagign exchange exposures for a variety of nessmcluding but not limited
accounting considerations and the prohibitive eatin@ost of hedging particular exposures.

To provide a meaningful assessment of the foreigreacy risk associated with certain of the Comparigreign currency derivative positio
the Company performed a sensitivity analysis usinglue-at-risk (“VAR”)model to assess the potential impact of fluctuatimnexchanc
rates. The VAR model consisted of using a MontddCsimulation to generate thousands of random mamkee paths assuming normal ma
conditions. The VAR is the maximum expected losfinvalue, for a given confidence interval, t@ tBompanys foreign currency derivati
positions due to adverse movements in rates. ThR Yfodel is not intended to represent actual lobsgds used as a risk estimation
management tool. The model assumes normal markaditems. Forecasted transactions, firm commitmearsd assets and liabilit
denominated in foreign currencies were excludednftbe model. Based on the results of the model,Gbmpany estimates with 9f
confidence a maximum one-day loss in fair valu&201 million as of September 28, 2013 comparedraimum oneday loss in fair valt
of $200 million as of September 29, 2012. BecahseGompany uses foreign currency instruments fdgimg purposes, the loss in fair ve
incurred on those instruments are generally ofigahcreases in the fair value of the underlyingasures.

Actual future gains and losses associated withGbmpanys investment portfolio and derivative positions nthffer materially from th
sensitivity analyses performed as of Septembel@&3 due to the inherent limitations associatedh witedicting the timing and amount
changes in interest rates, foreign currency exobangtes and the Company'’s actual exposures arttbpes
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equityiferyears ended September 28, 2013, Septemb2028, and September 24,
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeadled September 28, 2013, September 29, 201Beptdmber 24, 201 49
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statems 50
Selected Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudjt 78
Reports of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registé?ablic Accounting Firn 79

All financial statement schedules have been omittétte the required information is not applicattds not present in amounts sufficien
require submission of the schedule, or becausmtbiemation required is included in the consolidhfimancial statements and notes thereto.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In millions, except number of shares which aréectéd in thousands and per share amounts)

Net sales
Cost of sale:
Gross margir
Operating expense
Research and developmt
Selling, general and administrati
Total operating expens:
Operating incom:
Other income/(expense), r
Income before provision for income tay
Provision for income taxe
Net income
Earnings per shar
Basic
Diluted

Shares used in computing earnings per st
Basic
Diluted

Cash dividends declared per common sl

Years ended

September 28, 201
$ 170,91(
106,60t

64,30/

4,47¢
10,83(

15,30

48,99¢

1,15¢

50,15¢

13,11¢

$ 3703

40.0:
39.7¢

& &

925,33:
931,66:

$ 11.4(

September 29, 201
$ 156,50t
87,84¢
68,66:

3,381
10,04(
13,42:
55,24

522
55,76:
14,03(

$ 44.6¢
$ 44 .1*

934,81
945,35!

$ 2.65

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financa¢®ents.

45

September 24, 201
$ 108,24¢
64,43
43,81¢

2,42¢
7,59¢
10,02¢
33,79(
41F
34,20¢
8,28:

$ 28.0¢
$ 27.6¢

924,25¢
936,64!

$ 0.0C
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In millions)
Years ended
September 2¢ September 2¢ September 2¢
2013 2012 2011
Net income $ 3703 $ 41,73% $ 25,92
Other comprehensive income/(los
Change in foreign currency translation, net ofdfrcts of $35, $13 and $18, respectiv (112) (15) (12)
Change in unrecognized gains/losses on derivatsteuiments
Change in fair value of derivatives, net of tax éfiti(expense) of $(351), $73 and $(50),
respectively 522 (131) 92
Adjustment for net losses/(gains) realized anduighet! in net income, net of tax expense/
(benefit) of $255, $220 and $(250), respectiv (45€) (399 45(
Total change in unrecognized gains/losses on derévanstruments, net of te 64 (530) 542
Change in unrealized gains/losses on marketabigiges:
Change in fair value of marketable securities,afieéax benefit/(expense) of $458, $(421)
$17, respectivel (79)) 71E 29
Adjustment for net losses/(gains) realized anduighet! in net income, net of tax expense/
(benefit) of $82, $68 and $(40), respectiv (13)) (114) (70)
Total change in unrealized gains/losses on marketaturities, net of te (922) 601 (42)
Total other comprehensive income/(lo (970 56 48¢
Total comprehensive incon $ 36,060 $ 41,78 $ 26,41

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financa¢®ents.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In millions, except number of shares which aréetéd in thousands)

ASSETS:
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-termmarketable securitie

Accounts receivable, less allowances of $99 and &3®ectively

Inventories

Deferred tax asse

Vendor nor-trade receivable
Other current asse

Total current asse

Long-term marketable securitit
Property, plant and equipment, |
Goodwill

Acquired intangible assets, r
Other asset

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS * EQUITY:

Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Deferred revenu

Total current liabilities
Deferred revenu- nor-current

Long-term debt
Other nor-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingenci
Shareholder equity:

Common stock, no par value; 1,800,000 shares aaméthr899,213 and 939,2(

shares issued and outstanding, respect
Retained earning
Accumulated other comprehensive income/(l

Total shareholde’ equity
Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity

September 28, 201

$ 14,25¢
26,28

13,10:

1,76¢

3,45:

7,53¢

6,882

73,28¢

106,21!

16,591

1,57

4,17¢

5,14¢

$ 207,00

$ 22,36
13,85¢

7,43¢

43,65¢

2,62t

16,96(

20,20¢

83,45!

19,76¢
104,25t

S CY£)
123,54¢

$ 207,00

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financaé®ents.
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September 29, 201

10,74¢
18,38
10,93(
791
2,58:¢
7,762
6,45¢
57,65¢

92,12:
15,45:
1,13¢
4,22¢
5,47¢

176,06«

21,17¢
11,41

5,95¢
38,54:

2,64¢

16,66

57,85¢

16,42:
101,28¢
49¢

118,21(

$

176,06«
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In millions, except number of shares which aréetéd in thousands)
Accum-
ulated
Other
Compre- Total
hensive Share-
Common Stock Retained Income/ holders’
Shares Amount Earnings (Loss) Equity
Balances as of September 25, 2010 915,97( $10,66¢ $ 37,16¢ $ (46 $ 47,79
Net income 0 0 25,92: 0 25,92:
Other comprehensive income/(lo: 0 0 0 48¢ 48¢
Shar+-based compensatic 0 1,16¢ 0 0 1,16¢
Common stock issued under stock plans, net of sheitbheld for
employee taxe 13,301 561 (250 0 311
Tax benefit from equity awards, including trangfeicing adjustment 0 934 0 0 934
Balances as of September 24, 2 929,27 13,33: 62,84 442 76,61¢
Net income 0 0 41,73: 0 41,73:
Other comprehensive income/(lo: 0 0 0 56 56
Dividends and dividend equivalent rights decle 0 0 (2,529 0 (2,529
Shar+-based compensatic 0 1,74( 0 0 1,74(
Common stock issued under stock plans, net of sheitbheld for
employee taxe 9,931 20C (762) 0 (562)
Tax benefit from equity awards, including trangfeicing adjustment 0 1,15] 0 0 1,15]
Balances as of September 29, 2 939,20t 16,42: 101,28¢ 49¢ 118,21(
Net income 0 0 37,03 0 37,031
Other comprehensive income/(lo: 0 0 0 (970 (970
Dividends and dividend equivalent rights decle 0 0 (20,67¢) 0 (10,676
Repurchase of common stc (46,97¢) 0 (22,950) 0 (22,95()
Sharebased compensatic 0 2,25: 0 0 2,25
Common stock issued under stock plans, net of sheitbheld for
employee taxe 6,981 (143 (444) 0 (587)
Tax benefit from equity awards, including trangieicing adjustment 0 1,23: 0 0 1,23
Balances as of September 28, 2! 899,21 $19,76- $104,25¢ $ (471)  $123,54¢

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financaé®ents.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year
Operating activities
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash geadray operating activitie:

Depreciation and amortizatic
Shar-based compensation expe!
Deferred income tax expen
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivable, n
Inventories
Vendor nor-trade receivable
Other current and n«-current assel
Accounts payabl
Deferred revenu
Other current and n«current liabilities
Cash generated by operating activi
Investing activities
Purchases of marketable securi
Proceeds from maturities of marketable secur
Proceeds from sales of marketable secur

Payments made in connection with business acarisitine

Payments for acquisition of property, plant andiponent
Payments for acquisition of intangible as
Other
Cash used in investing activiti
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common st
Excess tax benefits from equity awa
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of yquitirds
Dividends and dividend equivalent rights p
Repurchase of common sta
Proceeds from issuance of l-term debt, ne
Cash generated by/(used in) financing activi
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivs
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the

Supplemental cash flow disclosu
Cash paid for income taxes, 1

(In millions)

Years ended

September 2¢

September 2¢

September 2¢

2013 2012 2011
$ 10,746 $ 981f $ 11726:
37,03 41,73 25,92;
6,757 3,271 1,81¢
2,25¢ 1,74( 1,16¢
1,141 4,40¢ 2,86¢
(2,177) (5,557) 142
(972) (15) 27F
227 (1,419 (1,93
1,08( (3,162) (1,391)
2,34( 4,467 2,51¢
1,45¢ 2,82¢ 1,65¢
4,521 2,55: 4,49t
53,66¢ 50,85¢ 37,52¢
(148,489 (151,23)) (102,31)
20,31 13,03t 20,43
104,13( 99,77( 49,41¢
(49¢6) (350) (244)
(8,16%) (8,295) (4,260)
(911) (1,107 (3,197)
(160) (48) (259)
(33,779 (48,22) (40,419
53C 66¢ 831
701 1,351 1,13:
(1,087) (1,226) (520)
(10,562 (2,48¢) 0
(22,86() 0 0
16,89¢ 0 0
(16,37 (1,699) 1,44¢
3,51¢ 931 (1,446)
$ 1425¢ $ 1074t $ 98I
$ 9126 $ 768 $ 3,33

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financa¢®ents.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1- Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Apple Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (colieely “Apple” or the “Company”)designs, manufactures, and markets m
communication and media devices, personal compuagis portable digital music players, and sellsagety of related software, servic
peripherals, networking solutions, and thiairty digital content and applications. The Compsels its products worldwide through its re
stores, online stores, and direct sales force, &l ag through third-party cellular network carsiewholesalers, retailers and vahgde:
resellers. In addition, the Company sells a varigfythirdparty iPhone, iPad, Mac, and iPod compatible prtgjuocluding applicatic
software, and various accessories through its erdind retail stores. The Company sells to consymserall and midsized businesses, ¢
education, enterprise and government customers.

Basis of Presentation and Preparation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemimeiside the accounts of the Company. Intercompampants and transactions have t
eliminated. The preparation of these consolidaiedntial statements in conformity with U.S. genlgralccepted accounting princip
(“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assmphiat affect the amounts reported in these cataetl financial statemel
and accompanying notes. Actual results could diffeterially from those estimates. Certain prioriggtamounts in the consolidated finan
statements and notes thereto have been reclagsifeahform to the current period’s presentation.

The Company’s fiscal year is the 52 or 53-weekqukthat ends on the last Saturday of SeptemberCoingpanys fiscal years 2013, 2012 ¢
2011 ended on September 28, 2013, September 29,a20lSeptember 24, 2011, respectively. An additiareek is included in the first fisc
quarter approximately every six years to realigiedl quarters with calendar quarters. Fiscal y8a2Xpanned 53 weeks, with a 14th v
included in the first quarter of 2012. Fiscal ye2@43 and 2011 spanned 52 weeks each. Unless @kestated, references to particular ye
quarters, months and periods refer to the Compafigcal years ended in September and the assoajaterters, months and periods of tt
fiscal years.

During the first quarter of 2013, the Company addptmended accounting standards that changedébenpation of comprehensive inco
These standards increased the prominence of otingprehensive income (“*OCI')y eliminating the option to present component©Gi as
part of the statement of changes in shareholdmaity and required the components of OCI to besqirged either in a single continu
statement of comprehensive income or in two cortsexgtatements. The amended accounting standatgsnopacted the financial statem
presentation of OCI and did not change the compsribat are recognized in net income or OCI; adogig, the adoption had no impact
the Company’s financial position or results of @iems.

Revenue Recognition

Net sales consist primarily of revenue from the sdlhardware, software, digital content and apgilns, peripherals, and service and suj
contracts. The Company recognizes revenue whengmve evidence of an arrangement exists, delivasyoccurred, the sales price is fixe
determinable, and collection is probable. Prodsicoinsidered delivered to the customer once ibkas shipped and title and risk of loss |
been transferred. For most of the Compangfoduct sales, these criteria are met at the thmeproduct is shipped. For online sale
individuals, for some sales to education custonirerthe U.S., and for certain other sales, the Campdefers revenue until the custol
receives the product because the Company retgistion of the risk of loss on these sales duriaggit. The Company recognizes reve
from the sale of hardware products, software buhdligh hardware that is essential to the functiipaif the hardware, and thindarty digita
content sold on the iTunes Store in accordance gatheral revenue recognition accounting guidante Company recognizes revenu
accordance with industry specific software accaowngjuidance for the
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following types of sales transactions: (i) standelsales of software products, (ii) sales of safwepgrades and (iii) sales of software bun
with hardware not essential to the functionalitytred hardware.

For the sale of most thirgarty products, the Company recognizes revenualb@s¢he gross amount billed to customers becduges€ompan
establishes its own pricing for such products,instaelated inventory risk for physical products,the primary obligor to the customer
assumes the credit risk for amounts billed to uistemers. For thirgharty applications sold through the App Store aracMpp Store ar
certain digital content sold through the iTunesr&téhe Company does not determine the sellingeprfcthe products and is not the prirr
obligor to the customer. Therefore, the Companyaets for such sales on a net basis by recogniaingt sales only the commission it ret:
from each sale. The portion of the gross amouiédiio customers that is remitted by the Companthita-party app developers and cer
digital content owners is not reflected in the Camgs Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company records deferred revenue when it resgiayments in advance of the delivery of prodacthie performance of services. 1
includes amounts that have been deferred for uifsgeand specified software upgrade rights and-software services that are attache
hardware and software products. The Company sdllsagds redeemable at its retail and online stoamd also sells gift cards redeemabl
the iTunes Store for the purchase of digital conterd software. The Company records deferred reveipon the sale of the card, whic
relieved upon redemption of the card by the custoRevenue from AppleCare service and support eottris deferred and recognized «
the service coverage periods. AppleCare servicesapgort contracts typically include extended phenpport, repair services, wélbse:
support resources and diagnostic tools offered tmgeCompany’s standard limited warranty.

The Company records reductions to revenue for astichcommitments related to price protection ah@rotustomer incentive programs.
transactions involving price protection, the Compagcognizes revenue net of the estimated amoun¢ teefunded. For the Compasyothe
customer incentive programs, the estimated coshese programs is recognized at the later of the a@awhich the Company has sold
product or the date at which the program is offefidte Company also records reductions to revenuexXpected future product returns be
on the Company historical experience. Revenue is recorded nebafs collected from customers that are remittegbivernmental authoritie
with the collected taxes recorded as current iigsl until remitted to the relevant governmenthauity.

Revenue Recognition for Arrangements with Multipddiverables

For multi-element arrangements that include hardwaroducts containing software essential to thedware product functionality
undelivered software elements that relate to thelviare product’s essential software, and undeld/erensoftware services, the Compi
allocates revenue to all deliverables based om thkitive selling prices. In such circumstanche, Company uses a hierarchy to determin
selling price to be used for allocating revenuaétiverables: (i) vendor-specific objective evidenuf fair value (“VSOE"), (ii) thirdparty
evidence of selling price (“TPE”), and (iii) besdtinate of selling price (“ESP"WSOE generally exists only when the Company séié
deliverable separately and is the price actualprgéd by the Company for that deliverable. ESHeaethe Company best estimates of wil
the selling prices of elements would be if they aveold regularly on a stand-alone basis. For neldtinent arrangements accounted f
accordance with industry specific software accoungiuidance, the Company allocates revenue toeéillatables based on the VSOE of ¢
element, and if VSOE does not exist revenue isgeized when elements lacking VSOE are delivered.

For sales of qualifying versions of iPhone, iPad &wod touch (“iOS devices"Mac and Apple TV, the Company has indicated it rfrayn
time to time provide future unspecified softwareyigules and features to the essential software édmwith each of these hardware prod
free of charge to customers. Essential softward@& devices includes iOS and related applicatenms for Mac includes OS X and rels
applications. The Company also provides varioussuftware services to owners of qualifying versiohfOS devices and Mac.
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The Company has identified up to three deliveratdgsilarly included in arrangements involving théesof these devices. The first deliver:
is the hardware and software essential to the ifomality of the hardware device delivered at theetiof sale. The second deliverable is
embedded right included with the purchase of iOdads, Mac and Apple TV to receive on a when-araliilable basis, future unspecif
software upgrades and features relating to theymttslessential software. The third deliverabléhis nonsoftware services to be providec
qualifying versions of iOS devices and Mac. The @any allocates revenue between these deliverableg the relative selling price meth
Because the Company has neither VSOE nor TPE ésetideliverables, the allocation of revenue isdasethe Compang’ ESPs. Reven
allocated to the delivered hardware and the relasséntial software is recognized at the time Ief geovided the other conditions for reve
recognition have been met. Revenue allocated temhieedded unspecified software upgrade rights @donsoftware services is deferi
and recognized on a straight-line basis over thimated period the software upgrades and switware services are expected to be provide
each of these devices, which ranges from two to years. Cost of sales related to delivered hardwsad related essential software, inclu
estimated warranty costs, are recognized at the tifrsale. Costs incurred to provide rsmftware services are recognized as cost of sa
incurred, and engineering and sales and marketats @re recognized as operating expenses asadcurr

The Companys process for determining its ESP for deliveraklgbout VSOE or TPE considers multiple factors timaty vary depending up
the unique facts and circumstances related to datiierable. The Company believes its customersldvbe reluctant to buy unspecif
software upgrade rights for the essential softvilackided with its qualifying hardware products. Jhview is primarily based on the fact 1
unspecified software upgrade rights do not oblighte Company to provide upgrades at a particutae tor at all, and do not specify
customers which upgrades or features will be dedideThe Company also believes its customers wbaldinwilling to pay a significa
amount for access to the neaftware services because other companies offefasiservices at little or no cost to users. Theref the
Company has concluded that if it were to sell udgraghts or access to the nsoftware services on a standalone basis, incluitioge right
and services attached to iOS devices, Mac and Apylehe selling prices would be relatively low. K&actors considered by the Compan
developing the ESPs for software upgrade rightkide prices charged by the Company for similar raffgs, market trends in the pricing
Apple-branded and thirdarty Mac and iOS compatible software, the natdrhe upgrade rights (e.g., unspecified versusifipdy and th
relative ESP of the upgrade rights as comparetigddtal selling price of the product. The Compamgy also consider additional factor:
appropriate, including the impact of other produatsl services provided to customers, the pricingashpetitive alternatives if they ex
productspecific business objectives, and the length oé tarparticular version of a device has been availaghen relevant, the same fac
are considered by the Company in developing ESPsfferings such as the n@oftware services with additional considerationegito thi
estimated cost to provide such services.

In 2013, 2012 and 2011, the Company’s combined E&Pthe unspecified software upgrade rights aredribhts to receive the nasoftware
services included with its qualifying hardware de& have ranged from $5 to $25. Beginning in Seip¢er2013, the combined ESPs
iPhone and iPad were increased by up to $5 toctefléditions to unspecified software upgrade righte to expansion of essential softv
bundled with these devices. Accordingly, the ranfjeombined ESPs for iPhone and iPad as of Septe2i3 is $15 to $25. Beginning
October 2013, the Company anticipates increasiegctimbined ESPs for Mac from $20 to $40 to refadditions to unspecified softw:
upgrade rights related to expansion of bundledr¢isdesoftware. Revenue allocated to such righteiferred and recognized on a strailiy-
basis over the estimated period the rights area&gddo be provided for each device, which rangas ftwo to four years.

Shipping Costs

For all periods presented, amounts billed to custsmelated to shipping and handling are classdi®devenue, and the Companghippin
and handling costs are included in cost of sales.
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Warranty Expense

The Company generally provides for the estimatesd obhardware and software warranties at the timerelated revenue is recognized.
Company assesses the adequacy of itsepisting warranty liabilities and adjusts the amisuas necessary based on actual experienc
changes in future estimates.

Software Development Costs

Research and development costs are expensed asthddevelopment costs of computer software teddd, leased, or otherwise marketec
subject to capitalization beginning when a prodatgchnological feasibility has been establishedl emding when a product is available
general release to customers. In most instancesCtimpanys products are released soon after technologieailfidity has been establish
Costs incurred subsequent to achievement of teobgiwall feasibility were not significant, and soft@adevelopment costs were expense
incurred during 2013, 2012 and 2011.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred andded in selling, general and administrative expgnéevertising expense was $1.1 billi
$1.0 billion and $933 million for 2013, 2012 andl2Qrespectively.

Share-based Compensation

The Company recognizes expense related to diemed payment transactions in which it receivesi@yep services in exchange for (a) eq
instruments of the Company or (b) liabilities tia¢ based on the fair value of the enterpsiggjuity instruments or that may be settled b
issuance of such equity instruments. Share-basegb@asation cost for restricted stock units (“RSUs”"neasured based on the closing
market value of the Company’s common stock on thee @f grant. Sharkased compensation cost for stock options and emelstoc
purchase plan rights (“stock purchase rights”) easured at the grant date and offering date, régpht based on the fairalue as calculat:
by the Black-Scholes-Merton (“BSM”) option-pricingnodel. The BSM optiompricing model incorporates various assumptionsuiticic
expected volatility, estimated expected life andiiest rates. The Company recognizes share-basgueosation cost over the awardequisit
service period on a straight-line basis for tibesed RSUs and on a graded basis for RSUs thatamtengent on the achievement
performance metrics. The Company recognizes a lbdrwh share-based compensation in the Consolidgtatements of ShareholdeEsjuity
if an incremental tax benefit is realized. In aubdif the Company recognizes the indirect effectshafrebased compensation on research
development tax credits, foreign tax credits andhestic manufacturing deductions in the Consolid&@éatements of Operations. Fur
information regarding share-based compensatiorbedound in Note 9, “Benefit Plans” of this Form-KO

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes is computed usirggahset and liability method, under which defeteedassets and liabilities are recogn
for the expected future tax consequences of tempdifferences between the financial reporting éadbases of assets and liabilities, an
operating losses and tax credit carryforwards. Defetax assets and liabilities are measured ubiagurrently enacted tax rates that app
taxable income in effect for the years in whichsthdax assets are expected to be realized ordsefttee Company records a valua
allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the aintloat is believed more likely than not to be iz,

The Company recognizes the tax benefit from an iaicetax position only if it is more likely tharohthe tax position will be sustained
examination by the taxing authorities, based ontélnical merits of the position. The tax benefsognized in the financial statements f
such positions are then measured based on thestdrgeefit that has a greater than 50% likelihobbleing realized upon settlement. See |
5, “Income Taxes” of this Form 10-K for additioriaformation.
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Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividirgprime available to common shareholders by the weitgnterage number of shares
common stock outstanding during the period. Dilutadnings per share is computed by dividing incaweglable to common shareholders
the weightedaverage number of shares of common stock outstgraliring the period increased to include the nundbexdditional shares
common stock that would have been outstandingefgbtentially dilutive securities had been issuedtentially dilutive securities inclu
outstanding stock options, shares to be purchaseerihe Compang’employee stock purchase plan and unvested RS$lgsdilutive effect ¢
potentially dilutive securities is reflected inwiéd earnings per share by application of the tngastock method. Under the treasury s
method, an increase in the fair market value ofGoenpanys common stock can result in a greater dilutiveaffrom potentially dilutiv
securities.

The following table shows the computation of basid diluted earnings per share for 2013, 2012 .281id. (in thousands, except net incorr
millions and per share amounts):

2013 2012 2011
Numerator:
Net income $ 37,033 $ 41,73¢ $ 25,92;
Denominator
Weightec-average shares outstand 925,33 934,81¢ 924,25¢
Effect of dilutive securitie 6,331 10,53} 12,38
Weightec-average diluted shar 931,66: 945,35! 936,64!
Basic earnings per she $ 40.0¢ $ 44.6¢ $ 28.0f
Diluted earnings per sha $ 39.7¢ $ 44.1F $ 27.6¢

Potentially dilutive securities representing 4.2lion, 1.0 million and 1.7 million shares of commatock for 2013, 2012 and 20
respectively, were excluded from the computationdidited earnings per share for these periods lsecaleir effect would have be
antidilutive.

Financial Instruments
Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

All highly liquid investments with maturities of ri.ee months or less at the date of purchase arsif@asas cash equivalents. The Company
marketable debt and equity securities have beessified and accounted for as available-for-sManagement determines the approp
classification of its investments at the time ofghase and reevaluates the designations at eaghckatheet date. The Company classifit
marketable debt securities as either short-terdorg-term based on each instrumentnderlying contractual maturity date. Marketatbédy
securities with maturities of 12 months or lessdassified as shoterm and marketable debt securities with maturgiiesater than 12 mont
are classified as long-term. The Company classifeemarketable equity securities, including mutfuadds, as either short-term or loteysr
based on the nature of each security and its ditiyafor use in current operations. The Compangiarketable debt and equity securities
carried at fair value, with the unrealized gaind &osses, net of taxes, reported as a componestiaveholderséquity. The cost of securiti
sold is based upon the specific identification rodth

Derivative Financial Instrument

The Company accounts for its derivative instrumesteither assets or liabilities and carries thefaiavalue.

For derivative instruments that hedge the exposureariability in expected future cash flows thae aesignated as cash flow hedges
effective portion of the gain or loss on the detiiva instrument is reported as a component of acdat®d other comprehensive incc

(“AOCI") in shareholders’equity and reclassified into income in the sameopepr periods during which the hedged transactéfiect:
earnings. The ineffective portion of the gain or
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loss on the derivative instrument, if any, is ratagd in current income. To receive hedge accogntieatment, cash flow hedges mus
highly effective in offsetting changes to expechaire cash flows on hedged transactions. For optitesignated as cash flow hedges, chi
in the time value are excluded from the assessofemédge effectiveness and are recognized in incéimederivative instruments that he
the exposure to changes in the fair value of astassa liability and that are designated as falug hedges, both the net gain or loss o
derivative instrument as well as the offsettingngaii loss on the hedged item attributable to thdghd risk are recognized in earnings in
current period. The Company had no fair value hedge2013, 2012 and 2011. The net gain or losshereffective portion of a derivati
instrument that is designated as an economic hefijee foreign currency translation exposure of et investment in a foreign operatiol
reported in the same manner as a foreign curreaoglation adjustment. For forward exchange cotgrdesignated as net investment hec
the Company excludes changes in fair value relatmghanges in the forward carry component from dgdinition of effectivenes
Accordingly, any gains or losses related to thimponent are recognized in current income. Derieatithat do not qualify as hedges
adjusted to fair value through current income.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company records its allowance for doubtful aote based upon its assessment of various fackbes.Company considers histori
experience, the age of the accounts receivablenteda credit quality of the Compasytustomers, current economic conditions, and
factors that may affect customers’ ability to pay.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, coegbuising the first-in, firsbut method, or market. If the cost of the invergsrexceeds the
market value, provisions are made currently fordifierence between the cost and the market value.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at casgtrdziation is computed by use of the straight+imathod over the estimated useful live
the assets, which for buildings is the lesser of@&&rs or the remaining life of the underlying Hiry; between two to five years for machir
and equipment, including product tooling and maacuwfdang process equipment; and the shorter of léagas or ten years for leasef
improvements. The Company capitalizes eligibleststacquire or develop internade software that are incurred subsequent to tlampnary
project stage. Capitalized costs related to intewsa software are amortized using the straligiet-method over the estimated useful lives o
assets, which range from three to five years. Degiien and amortization expense on property angpagent was $5.8 billion, $2.6 billion a
$1.6 billion during 2013, 2012 and 2011, respedyive

Long-Lived Assets Including Goodwill and Other Acqured Intangible Assets

The Company reviews property, plant and equipmamnentory component prepayments, and certain iflebte intangibles, excludir
goodwill, for impairment. Londived assets are reviewed for impairment wheneven&s or changes in circumstances indicate the/iog
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Reduligraof these assets is measured by comparisotheif carrying amounts to futt
undiscounted cash flows the assets are expectgdnerate. If property, plant and equipment, invgntmmponent prepayments, and cel
identifiable intangibles are considered to be imguli the impairment to be recognized equals theuamioy which the carrying value of 1
assets exceeds its fair value. The Company didegotrd any significant impairments during 2013, 2@hd 2011.

The Company does not amortize goodwill and intalegdssets with indefinite useful lives, rather sasisets are required to be testec
impairment at least annually or sooner wheneventsver changes in circumstances indicate that $iseta may be impaired. The Comg
performs its goodwill and intangible asset impainiiests in the fourth quarter of each year. Thex@any did not recognize any impairm
charges related to

55



Table of Contents

goodwill or indefinite lived intangible assets dwgi 2013, 2012 and 2011. The Company establisheortieg units based on its curn
reporting structure. For purposes of testing gotidaii impairment, goodwill has been allocated hege reporting units to the extent it relate
each reporting unit. In 2013 and 2012, the Compaggodwill was allocated to the Americas and Eurgpertable operating segments.

The Company amortizes its intangible assets wifimitie useful lives over their estimated usefukkvand reviews these assets for impairr
The Company is currently amortizing its acquiretdmgible assets with definite useful lives overiges typically from three to seven years.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company applies fair value accounting for imfcial assets and liabilities and niimancial assets and liabilities that are recoghiat
disclosed at fair value in the financial statemamtsa recurring basis. The Company defines fainezals the price that would be received 1
selling an asset or paid to transfer a liabilityaim orderly transaction between market participabthe measurement date. When determ
the fair value measurements for assets and li@silitvhich are required to be recorded at fair #athe Company considers the principe
most advantageous market in which the Company wdnadsact and the marke&sed risk measurements or assumptions that r
participants would use in pricing the asset oriliigh such as risks inherent in valuation techr@gutransfer restrictions and credit risk.
value is estimated by applying the following hietay, which prioritizes the inputs used to measaie falue into three levels and bases
categorization within the hierarchy upon the lowesel of input that is available and significaotthe fair value measurement:

Level 1- Quoted prices in active markets for identicakéssr liabilities.

Level 2— Observable inputs other than quoted prices in aatiarkets for identical assets and liabilities, tqdgorices for identical or simil
assets or liabilities in inactive markets, or otimguts that are observable or can be corroboitayenbservable market data for substantially
full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3- Inputs that are generally unobservable and tjipicaflect managemerd’estimate of assumptions that market participaotdd us:
in pricing the asset or liability.

The Companys valuation techniques used to measure the fairevaf money market funds and certain marketablétyegecurities wetr
derived from quoted prices in active markets feniical assets or liabilities. The valuation teciueis used to measure the fair value of all «
financial instruments, all of which have countetigar with high credit ratings, were valued basedgapnted market prices or model dri
valuations using significant inputs derived froncorroborated by observable market data.

In accordance with the fair value accounting regmients, companies may choose to measure eligitdadial instruments and certain ot
items at fair value. The Company has not electedalr value option for any eligible financial instinents.

Foreign Currency Translation and Remeasurement

The Company translates the assets and liabilifiets aonU.S. dollar functional currency subsidiaries intsUdollars using exchange rate
effect at the end of each period. Revenue and agsdior these subsidiaries are translated usieg that approximate those in effect during
period. Gains and losses from these translatiomgerognized in foreign currency translation inelddn AOCI in shareholdergquity. The
Companys subsidiaries that use the U.S. dollar as theictfanal currency remeasure monetary assets dpitlties at exchange rates in eff
at the end of each period, and inventories, prgpamnd nonmonetary assets and liabilities at Histbrates. Gains and losses from tl
remeasurements were not significant and have medurdied in the Company'’s results of operations.
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Note 2 — Financial Instruments
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

The following tables show the Company’s cash arallable-for-sale securitiesidjusted cost, gross unrealized gains, gross limeddosse
and fair value by significant investment categoegarded as cash and cash equivalents or shorbngrérm marketable securities as
September 28, 2013 and September 29, 2012 (ironsli

2013
Cash and Short-Term Long-Term
Adjusted Unrealizec Unrealizec Fair Cash Marketable Marketable
Cost Gains Losses Value Equivalents Securities Securities
Cash $ 8,70t $ 0 $ 0 $ 8,70t $ 8,70¢ $ 0 $ 0
Level 1:
Money market fund 1,797 9] 0 1,79 1,792 0 0
Mutual funds 3,99¢ 0 (197) 3,802 0 3,802 0
Subtotal 5,79: 0 (197 5,59t 1,79¢ 3,80z 0
Level 2:
U.S. Treasury securiti¢ 27,64 24 (47) 27,61¢ 431 7,55¢ 19,63¢
U.S. agency securiti¢ 16,87¢ 12 (52) 16,83¢ 177 3,412 13,24¢
Nor-U.S. government securiti 5,54t 35 (237) 5,44 50 313 5,08(
Certificates of deposit and time depo: 2,34¢ 0 0 2,34¢ 1,26¢ 844 23¢
Commercial pape 2,99¢ 0 9] 2,99¢ 1,83¢ 1,167 0
Corporate securitie 54,58¢ 27¢ (252) 54,60¢ 0 8,077 46,53:
Municipal securitie: 6,257 4E (22) 6,28( 4 1,11¢ 5,16:
Mortgage and ass-backed securitie 16,39¢ 28 (89) 16,33( 0 8 16,32
Subtotal 132,64t 414 (599) 132,46: 3,761 22,48t 106,21!
Total $147,14: $ 414 $ (796 $146,76: $  14,25¢ $ 26,28 $ 106,21!
2012
Cash and Short-Term Long-Term
Adjusted Unrealizec Unrealizec Fair Cash Marketable Marketable
Cost Gains Losses Value Equivalents Securities Securities
Cash $ 3,10¢ $ 0 $ 0 $ 3,10¢ $ 3,10¢ $ 0 $ 0
Level 1:
Money market fund 1,46( 9] 9] 1,46( 1,46( 0 0
Mutual funds 2,38t 7¢ (2) 2,462 0 2,462 0
Subtotal 3,84¢ 7¢ (2 3,922 1,46( 2,462 0
Level 2:
U.S. Treasury securitie 20,08t 21 (2) 20,10¢ 2,60¢ 3,52¢ 13,97t
U.S. agency securiti¢ 19,54( 5¢ 1) 19,597 1,46( 1,88¢ 16,25
Non-U.S. government securitit 5,48 18z (#)] 5,66¢ 84 1,03¢ 4,54¢
Certificates of deposit and time depo: 2,18¢ 2 9] 2,191 1,10¢€ 202 88¢
Commercial pape 2,11 9] 9] 2,11z 90¢ 1,207 0
Corporate securitie 46,26. 56¢ 8) 46,82 10 7,45t 39,35¢
Municipal securitie: 5,64t 74 0 5,71¢ 0 61€ 5,101
Mortgage and ass-backed securitie 11,94¢ 6€ (6) 12,00¢ 0 0 12,00¢
Subtotal 113,26t 972 (18) 114,22( 6,171 15,92: 92,12:
Total $120,22( $ 1,05] $ (20 $121,25: $ 10,74t $ 18,38 $  92,12:

The net unrealized losses as of September 28, 20d3he net unrealized gains as of September 29, afe related primarily to longrmr
marketable securities. The Company may sell cedhits marketable securities prior to their stateaturities for strategic reasons includ
but not limited to, anticipation of credit detemtion and duration management. During 2013, 201228111, the net realized gains recogn
by the Company were not significant. The maturiiéthe Company’s long-term marketable securitiesegally range from one to five years.
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As of September 28, 2013 and September 29, 20b8s gmrealized losses related to individual seéesrihat had been in a continuous
position for 12 months or longer were not significa

As of September 28, 2013, the Company consideredd#tlines in market value of its marketable séegriinvestment portfolio to |
temporary in nature and did not consider any oint®stments other-than-temporarily impaired. TlenPany typically invests in highlsatec
securities, and its investment policy generallyiténthe amount of credit exposure to any one isstige policy requires investments genel
to be investment grade, with the primary objectdfeminimizing the potential risk of principal losBair values were determined for e
individual security in the investment portfolio. \&h evaluating an investment for other-thamporary impairment, the Company revi
factors such as the length of time and extent tachvfair value has been below its cost basis, thential condition of the issuer and |
changes thereto, changes in market interest rmtesthe Compang’intent to sell, or whether it is more likely thaot it will be required to se
the investment before recovery of the investmeentst basis. During 2013, 2012 and 2011 the Coynpahnot recognize any significe
impairment charges.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company uses derivatives to partially offsethiisiness exposure to foreign currency and irtteags risk. The Company may enter
forward contracts, option contracts, swaps, or rodezivative instruments to offset some of the nisk expected future cash flows, on
investments in certain foreign subsidiaries, andentain existing assets and liabilities.

To help protect gross margins from fluctuationddreign currency exchange rates, certain of the @om's subsidiaries whose functio
currency is the U.S. dollar hedge a portion of dasted foreign currency revenue. The Compagybsidiaries whose functional currency is
the U.S. dollar and who sell in local currenciesyrhadge a portion of forecasted inventory purchasgsdenominated in the subsidiaries
functional currencies. The Company hedges a ponibiits forecasted foreign currency exposure as$edi with revenue and invent
purchases, typically for up to 12 months.

To help protect the net investment in a foreignrapen from adverse changes in foreign currencyharge rates, the Company may enter
foreign currency forward and option contracts tfseif the changes in the carrying amounts of thesestments due to fluctuations in fore
currency exchange rates.

To help protect against adverse fluctuations ieriggt rates, the Company may enter into interéstswaps, options, or other instrument
offset a portion of the changes in income or expehse to fluctuations in interest rates.

The Company may also enter into foreign curreneywéod and option contracts to partially offset foeeign currency exchange gains

losses generated by the re-measurement of ceda@isaand liabilities denominated in rfanctional currencies. However, the Company

choose not to hedge certain foreign currency exgph@axposures for a variety of reasons including niotilimited to, accounting consideratir
and the prohibitive economic cost of hedging patéic exposures. There can be no assurance the hedgeffset more than a portion of
financial impact resulting from movements in foreigurrency exchange rates.

The Company records all derivatives in the Considid Balance Sheets at fair value. The Compaagtounting treatment of these instrum
is based on whether the instruments are desigmatégdge or non-hedgestruments. The effective portions of cash flovddees are record
in AOCI until the hedged item is recognized in éags. The effective portions of net investment redgre recorded in OCI as a part of
cumulative translation adjustment. The ineffectpartions of cash flow hedges and net investmengégdre recorded in other income
expense. Derivatives that are not designated agifgeéhstruments are adjusted to fair value throeghmings in the financial statement
item to which the derivative relates.
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The Company had net deferred losses of $175 midiwh $240 million associated with cash flow hedges,of taxes, recorded in AOCI as
September 28, 2013 and September 29, 2012, regggctDeferred gains and losses associated with dasv hedges of foreign currer
revenue are recognized as a component of netisales same period as the related revenue is rezadjrand deferred gains and losses re
to cash flow hedges of inventory purchases aregrézed as a component of cost of sales in the gmmed as the related costs are recogn
Deferred gains and losses associated with cash Hiedges of interest income or expense are recafj@gea component of other income
(expense), net in the same period as the relatama or expense is recognized. The Compmahygdged foreign currency transactions
hedged interest rate transactions as of Septen8h)@023 are expected to occur within 12 monthsfasedyears, respectively.

Derivative instruments designated as cash flow ésdgust be ddesignated as hedges when it is probable the fetextdedged transact
will not occur in the initially identified time pa&rd or within a subsequent twoenth time period. Deferred gains and losses in A@¥Sociate
with such derivative instruments are reclassifieanediately into other income and expense. Any sylesa changes in fair value of s
derivative instruments are reflected in other ineand expense unless they arelesignated as hedges of other transactions. The&uondic
not recognize any significant net gains or lossésed to the loss of hedge designation on discoetl cash flow hedges during 2013, 2012
2011.

The Companys unrealized net gains and losses on net investhegtges, included in the cumulative translatiorustijient account of AOC
were not significant as of September 28, 2013 amte®nber 29, 2012. The ineffective portions of anmbunts excluded from the effectiver
test of net investment hedges are recorded in agtheme and expense.

The gain/loss recognized in other income and expémsforeign currency forward and option contrawds designated as hedging instrum
was not significant during 2013, 2012 and 2011peetvely. These amounts represent the net gdimssron the derivative contracts and dc
include changes in the related exposures, whickrgdiy offset a portion of the gain or loss on tlegivative contracts.

The following table shows the notional principal @mts of the Company’ outstanding derivative instruments and credi asnount
associated with outstanding or unsettled derivatigguments as of September 28, 2013 and SeptezBb&012 (in millions):

2013 2012
Credit Credit
Notional Risk Notional Risk
Principal Amounts Principal Amounts
Instruments designated as accounting hec
Foreign exchange contra $35,01: $ 15¢ $41,97( $ 14C
Interest rate contrac $ 3,00( $ 4 $ 0 $ (
Instruments not designated as accounting het
Foreign exchange contrac $16,13: $ 25 $13,40: $ 12

The notional principal amounts for outstanding kgtive instruments provide one measure of the &etien volume outstanding and do
represent the amount of the Company’s exposureehitcor market loss. The credit risk amounts repné the Compang’gross exposure
potential accounting loss on derivative instrumehég are outstanding or unsettled if all countdies failed to perform according to the te
of the contract, based on then-current currendgterest rates at each respective date. The Corpgnyss exposure on these transactions
be further mitigated by collateral received frommtain counterparties. The Compasyéxposure to credit loss and market risk will vave!
time as a function of currency and interest rafdthough the table above reflects the notional @pal and credit risk amounts of
Companys derivative instruments, it does not reflect théng or losses associated with the exposures anddctions that the instruments
intended to hedge. The amounts ultimately realizeon settlement of these financial instrumentsetiogr with the gains and losses on
underlying exposures, will depend on actual macketditions during the remaining life of the instremts.
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The Company generally enters into master nettimgngements, which are designed to reduce credithyspermitting net settlement
transactions with the same counterparty. To furtimeit credit risk, the Company generally entersoicollateral security arrangements
provide for collateral to be received or posted wiige net fair value of certain financial instrurteefiuctuates from contractually establis
thresholds. The Company presents its derivativetasand derivative liabilities at their gross faalues. As of September 28, 2013
September 29, 2012, the Company posted $164 miiah $278 million, respectively, of cash collatehted to the derivative instrume
under its collateral security arrangements, whielnearecorded as other current assets in the Cdasadi Balance Sheet. The Company dic
have any derivative instruments with creudlitk related contingent features that would reqitite post additional collateral as of Septemt®
2013 or September 29, 2012.

The following tables show the Compasyderivative instruments at gross fair value atecedd in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
September 28, 2013 and September 29, 2012 (ironsl)i

2013
Fair Value of Fair Value of
Derivatives Derivatives Not
Designated as Designated as Total
Hedge Instruments Hedge Instruments Fair Value
Derivative assets (a
Foreign exchange contrac $ 14k $ 25 $ 17C
Interest rate contrac $ 44 $ 0 $ 44
Derivative liabilities (b):
Foreign exchange contrac $ 38¢ $ 46 $ 43t
2012
Fair Value of Fair Value of
Derivatives Derivatives Not
Designated as Designated as Total
Hedge Instruments Hedge Instruments Fair_Value
Derivative assets (a
Foreign exchange contra $ 13¢ $ 12 $ 15C
Derivative liabilities (b):
Foreign exchange contra $ 51¢€ $ 41 $ 557

(@) The fair value of derivative assets is measuredgukevel 2 fair value inputs and is recorded agiothurrent assets in the Consolidi
Balance Sheet:

(b) The fair value of derivative liabilities is meastdnesing Level 2 fair value inputs and is recordedecrued expenses in the Consolic
Balance Sheet:
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The following table shows the pre-tax effect of ©@mpanys derivative instruments designated as cash flavreet investment hedges in
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeaded September 28, 2013 and September 29, 20t#lpns):

Gains/
Gains/(Losses) Recognized i (Losses) Reclassified from AOCI Gains/(Losses) Recognize- Ineffective Portion
OCI — Effective Portion into Net Income — Effective Portion and Amount Excluded from Effectiveness Testing
September 2¢ September 2¢ September 2¢& September 2¢ September 2¢& September 2¢
2013 2012 2013 (a) 2012 (b) Location 2013 2012
Cash flow hedge:
Foreign
exchange Other income/
contracts $ 891 $ (17%) $ 67€ $ 607 (expense), ne $ (30)) $ (65¢)
Interest rate Other income/
contracts 12 0 (6) 0 (expense), n¢ 0 0
Net investment hedge
Foreign
exchange Other income/
contracts 143 (5) 0 0 (expense), n¢ 1 3
Total $ 1,04¢ $ (180) $ 67C $ 607 $ (300) $ (655)

(@) Includes gains/(losses) reclassified from AOCI in& income for the effective portion of cash floedges, of which $44 million, $6
million and $(6) million were recognized within netles, cost of sales and other income/(expenst), respectively, within tt
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the yrdee September 28, 20!

(b) Includes gains/(losses) reclassified from AOCI imcome for the effective portion of cash flow hedgof which $537 million and $
million were recognized within net sales and cdssales, respectively, within the Consolidated Statnt of Operations for the yi
ended September 29, 20:

Accounts Receivable
Trade Receivables

The Company has considerable trade receivablesaodiag with its third-party cellular network cars, wholesalers, retailers, valadde:
resellers, small and misized businesses, and education, enterprise anerrgoent customers. The Company generally does etptire
collateral from its customers; however, the Compaillrequire collateral in certain instances tmif credit risk. In addition, when possit
the Company attempts to limit credit risk on tradeeivables with credit insurance for certain comtes or by requiring thirgharty financing
loans or leases to support credit exposure. Thesht-dinancing arrangements are directly betwdenthirdparty financing company and 1
end customer. As such, the Company generally doiegssume any recourse or credit risk sharinge@lat any of these arrangements.

As of September 28, 2013, the Company had two met® that represented 10% or more of total tradeivables, one of which accounted
13% and the other 10%. As of September 29, 2082Cthmpany had two customers that represented 10f0@ of total trade receivables,
of which accounted for 14% and the other 10%. The@anys cellular network carriers accounted for 68% aB% ®f trade receivables as
September 28, 2013 and September 29, 2012, resggctlThe additions and write-offs to the Compangllowance for doubtful accou
during 2013, 2012 and 2011 were not significant.

Vendor Non-Trade Receivables

The Company has ndmade receivables from certain of its manufactusiagdors resulting from the sale of componentfiégseé manufacturii
vendors who manufacture saksemblies or assemble final products for the Compehe Company purchases these components difeath
suppliers. Vendor non-trade receivables from tlofethe Company’s vendors accounted for 47%, 21%1&8d of total nortrade receivables

of September 28, 2013 and vendor non-trade redeiswdiom three of the Company’s vendors accounted$5%, 21% and 12% of total non-
trade receivables as of September 29, 2012. Thep@ayndoes not reflect the sale of these comporiemtst sales and does not recognize
profits on these sales until the related produetssald by the Company, at which time any profitedisognized as a reduction of cost of sales.
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Note 3— Consolidated Financial Statement Details

The following tables show the Company’s consoliddialance sheet details as of September 28, 2@l September 29, 2012 (in millions):

Inventories
2013 2012
Components $ 682 $ 124
Finished good 1,081 667
Total inventories $ 1,76¢ $ 79
Property, Plant and Equipment
2013 2012
Land and buildings $ 3,30¢ $ 2,43¢
Machinery, equipment and inter-use softwart 21,24 15,98
Leasehold improvemen 3,96¢ 3,46¢
Gross property, plant and equipm 28,51¢ 21,88
Accumulated depreciation and amortizat (11,929 (6,43%)
Net property, plant and equipme $ 16,59: $ 15,45:
Accrued Expenses
2013 2012
Accrued warranty and related costs $ 2,967 $ 1,63¢
Accrued taxe: 1,20( 1,53¢
Deferred margin on component sa 1,262 1,492
Accrued marketing and selling expen 1,291 91C
Accrued compensation and employee ben 95¢ 73t
Other current liabilitie: 6,171 5,104
Total accrued expens $13,85¢ $11,41¢
Non-Current Liabilities
2013 2012
Deferred tax liabilities $16,48¢ $13,847
Other nor-current liabilities 3,71¢ 2,817
Total other no-current liabilities $ 20,20¢ $ 16,66
Other Income and Expense
The following table shows the detail of other in@and expense for 2013, 2012 and 2011 (in millions)
2013 2012 2011
Interest and dividend income $ 1,61¢ $ 1,08t $ 5i¢
Interest expens (13€) 0 0
Other expense, n (329) (56€) (109
Total other income/(expense), | $ 1,15¢ $ 522 $ 41!
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Note 4 — Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Companys acquired intangible assets with definite useftdd primarily consist of patents and licenses ared amortized over peric
typically from three to seven years. The followitapble summarizes the components of gross and m&hgible asset balances as
September 28, 2013 and September 29, 2012 (ironsli

2013 2012
Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
Definite lived and amortizable acquired intangia$sets $6,081 $ (2,007 $4,07¢ $5,16¢ $ (1,049 $4,12¢
Indefinite lived and nc-amortizable trademarl 10C 0 10C 10C 0 10C
Total acquired intangible asst $6,181 $ (2,007 $4,17¢ $5,26¢ $ (1,047 $4,22¢

During 2013 and 2012, the Company completed varmsiness acquisitions. In 2013, the aggregate cassideration, net of cash acqui
was $496 million, of which $419 million was alloedtto goodwill, $179 million to acquired intangitdesets and $102 million to net liabilit
assumed. In 2012, the aggregate cash consideragomf cash acquired, was $350 million, of whi@4% million was allocated to goodw
$113 million to acquired intangible assets and $8an to net liabilities assumed.

The Companys gross carrying amount of goodwill was $1.6 hilliand $1.1 billion as of September 28, 2013 ancdteBaper 29, 201
respectively. The Company did not have any goodmiflairment during 2013, 2012 or 2011.

Amortization expense related to acquired intangisets was $960 million, $605 million and $192liaml in 2013, 2012 and 201
respectively. As of September 28, 2013 the remginmeightedaverage amortization period for acquired intangésets is 4.5 years. 1
expected annual amortization expense related toir@chintangible assets as of September 28, 28%& follows (in millions):

2014 $1,05(
2015 98t
2016 832
2017 60€
2018 434
Thereaftel 171

Total $4,07¢
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Note 5 — Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes for 2013, 2012 a@#12 consisted of the following (in millions):

2013 2012 2011
Federal:
Current $ 9,33« $ 7,24C $ 3,88¢
Deferred 1,87¢ 5,01¢ 2,99¢
11,21: 12,25¢ 6,88
State:
Current 1,08¢ 1,18: 762
Deferred (317 (129 37
77% 1,05¢ 79¢
Foreign:
Current 1,55¢ 1,202 76¢
Deferred (42€) (490 (167)
1,13 71z 60:
Provision for income taxe $13,11¢ $14,03( $ 8,28¢

The foreign provision for income taxes is basedarign pretax earnings of $30.5 billion, $36.8 billion and4$2 billion in 2013, 2012 a
2011, respectively. The Companytonsolidated financial statements provide for exlgited tax liability on undistributed earningstthhe
Company does not intend to be indefinitely reingdstutside the U.S. Substantially all of the Conypsiundistributed international earnii
intended to be indefinitely reinvested in operatiautside the U.S. were generated by subsidiarganzed in Ireland, which has a statu
tax rate of 12.5%. As of September 28, 2013, Lh&rme taxes have not been provided on a cumulttiakof $54.4 billion of such earnin
The amount of unrecognized deferred tax liabilghated to these temporary differences is estimatda approximately $18.4 billion.

As of September 28, 2013 and September 29, 2012, $billion and $82.6 billion, respectively, oktiCompanys cash, cash equivalents
marketable securities were held by foreign subs&kaand are generally based in U.S. dollar-denatadholdings. Amounts held by forei

subsidiaries are generally subject to U.S. incaamatton on repatriation to the U.S.

A reconciliation of the provision for income taxegith the amount computed by applying the statufederal income tax rate (35% in 20

2012 and 2011) to income before provision for inedaxes for 2013, 2012 and 2011, is as followsn(ilions):

2013 2012 2011
Computed expected tax $17,55¢ $19,51° $11,97:
State taxes, net of federal effi 50¢ 677 552
Indefinitely invested earnings of foreign subsigia (4,619 (5,895 (3,899
Research and development credit, (287) (103 (167)
Domestic production activities deducti (30¢) (329 (16%)
Other 26E 162 (9)
Provision for income taxe $13,11¢ $14,03( $ 8,28:¢
Effective tax rate 26.2% 25.2% 24.2%

The Companys income taxes payable have been reduced by theetaedits from employee stock plan awards. Forkstqations, the Compal

receives an income tax benefit calculated as theffact of the difference
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between the fair market value of the stock issudtieatime of the exercise and the exercise pfoe RSUs, the Company receives an inc
tax benefit upon the award’s vesting equal to #xeefffect of the underlying stockfair market value. The Company had net excesbdagfit:
from equity awards of $643 million, $1.4 billion du$1.1 billion in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectivelich were reflected as increase
common stock.

As of September 28, 2013 and September 29, 20&2sighnificant components of the Compangeferred tax assets and liabilities wer¢
millions):

2013 2012
Deferred tax asset
Accrued liabilities and other reserv $ 1,892 $ 1,34¢
Deferred revenu 1,47¢ 1,14¢
Basis of capital assets and investme 1,02C 451
Shar+-based compensatic 45¢ 411
Other 1,02¢ 947
Total deferred tax asse 5,87¢ 4,30(
Less valuation allowanc 0 0
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowe 5,87 4,30(
Deferred tax liabilities
Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiar 18,04« 14,71:
Other 112 45¢€
Total deferred tax liabilitie 18,15¢ 15,16¢
Net deferred tax liabilitie $(12,28)  $(10,869)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect theef of tax losses, credits, and the future inctaneffects of temporary differences betweer
consolidated financial statement carrying amouh&xesting assets and liabilities and their respediax bases and are measured using er
tax rates that apply to taxable income in the yaavghich those temporary differences are expetidik recovered or settled.

Uncertain Tax Positions

Tax positions are evaluated in a ta@p process. The Company first determines whethgmore likely than not that a tax position whi¢
sustained upon examination. If a tax position méssmore-likely-thamot recognition threshold it is then measured tiemieine the amou
of benefit to recognize in the financial statemefitse tax position is measured as the largest atraflyenefit that is greater than 50% likel
being realized upon ultimate settlement. The Commdassifies gross interest and penalties and ogrézed tax benefits that are not expe
to result in payment or receipt of cash within gear as non-current liabilities in the ConsolidaBadance Sheets.

As of September 28, 2013, the total amount of grosecognized tax benefits was $2.7 billion, of ebh#$1.4 billion, if recognized, wot
affect the Company' effective tax rate. As of September 29, 2012,ttit@l amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits 21 billion, o
which $889 million, if recognized, would affect t@mpany’s effective tax rate.
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The aggregate changes in the balance of grossagmized tax benefits, which excludes interest asmbfiies, for 2013, 2012 and 2011, i
follows (in millions):

2013 2012 2011

Beginning Balance $2,062 $1,37¢ $ 94z
Increases related to tax positions taken duringa pear 74E 34C 49
Decreases related to tax positions taken duringoa year (11¢) (207) (39
Increases related to tax positions taken duringtheent yea 62€ 467 42~
Decreases related to settlements with taxing aitig (592) 3 0]
Decreases related to expiration of statute of &tiohs (9) (10 3)
Ending Balanct $2,71¢ $2,06: $1,37¢

The Company includes interest and penalties relatathrecognized tax benefits within the provisfonincome taxes. As of September
2013 and September 29, 2012, the total amountasisgnterest and penalties accrued was $590 mdliwh$401 million, respectively, whict
classified as nowgurrent liabilities in the Consolidated Balance &keln connection with tax matters, the Comparmpgeized interest ai
penalty expense in 2013, 2012 and 2011 of $18%mijl$140 million and $14 million, respectively.

The Company is subject to taxation and files incdaxereturns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction andnany state and foreign jurisdictions.
U.S. federal income tax purposes, all years poa2@04 are closed. The Internal Revenue Serviee“(RRS”) has completed its field audit
the Companys federal income tax returns for the years 2004uthiin 2006 and proposed certain adjustments. Thep@aynhas contest
certain of these adjustments through the IRS Appé@xdfice. The IRS is currently examining the yea@97 through 2012. In addition,
Company is also subject to audits by state, logdlfareign tax authorities. In major states andaméreign jurisdictions, the years subseq
to 1989 and 2002, respectively, generally remaenaggnd could be subject to examination by the tpaurthorities.

Management believes that an adequate provisiorbbas made for any adjustments that may result filmmexaminations. However, 1
outcome of tax audits cannot be predicted withadety. If any issues addressed in the Compangk audits are resolved in a mannel
consistent with managemesitexpectations, the Company could be required jusshds provision for income tax in the period kuesolutiol
occurs. Although timing of the resolution and/ooszire of audits is not certain, the Company be$igvés reasonably possible that tax a
resolutions could reduce its unrecognized tax benigy between $125 million and $225 million in thext 12 months.

Note 6 — Long-Term Debt

In May 2013, the Company issued floating- and fixat® notes with varying maturities for an aggregatacipal amount of $17.0 billic
(collectively the “Notes”). The Notes are seniosecoured obligations, and interest is payable i@aas; quarterly for the floatingite notes ar
semi-annually for the fixed-rate notes.

The principal amounts and associated interest cdtd® Notes as of September 28, 2013, are asfsll

Amount Effective
(in_millions) Rate
Floating-rate notes, due 2016 $ 1,00( 0.51%
Floatin¢-rate notes, due 20! 2,00( 1.1(%
Fixec-rate 0.45% notes due 20 1,50 0.51%
Fixec-rate 1.00% notes due 20 4,00( 1.06%
Fixec-rate 2.40% notes due 20 5,50( 2.44%
Fixec-rate 3.85% notes due 20 3,00( 3.91%
Total $ 17,00(
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The floating-rate notes due 2016 and 2018 bearastat the three-month London InterBank OffereteR4.IBOR”) plus 0.05% and 0.25¢
respectively. To manage the risk of fluctuationsniterest rates associated with the floatiatg notes, the Company entered into interes
swaps with an aggregate notional amount of $3.I@bbildesignated as cash flow hedges of its floatatg notes. These hedges effecti
convert the floating interest rate on the floatrate notes to a fixed interest rate. The gainslasgks related to changes in the fair value ¢
interest rate swaps are recorded in OCI with aiqonteclassified to interest expense each periodffeet changes in interest rates on
floatingrate notes. The effective rates for the Notes dhelihe interest on the Notes, amortization of ieealint and, if applicable, adjustme
related to hedging. The Company recognized $136omibf interest expense for the year ended Septer@®, 2013. As of September
2013, the aggregate unamortized discount for thagamy’s Notes was $40 million.

Future principal payments for the Company’s NotesfaSeptember 28, 2013, are as follows (in mi#ijon

2014 $ 0
2015 0
2016 2,50(
2017 0
2018 6,00(
Thereaftel 8,50(

Total $17,00(

As of September 28, 2013, the fair value of the Gamny’s Notes, based on Level 2 inputs, was $13li®rhi

Note 7 — Shareholders’ Equity
Preferred Stock

The Company has five million shares of authorizezfeared stock, none of which is issued or outstamdJnder the terms of the Compasy’
Restated Articles of Incorporation, the Board ofddtors is authorized to determine or alter thategpreferences, privileges and restrictior
the Company’s authorized but unissued shares ¢énpeel stock.

Dividend and Stock Repurchase Program
The Company declared and paid cash dividends pemom share during the periods presented as follows:

2013

Amount

Dividends (in

Per Share millions)
First quarter $ 2.6t $ 2,48¢
Second quarte $ 2.6t 2,49(
Third quartel $ 3.0t 2,78¢
Fourth quarte $ 3.0t 2,761
$10,52¢

The Company paid cash dividends of $2.65 per shataling $2.5 billion, during the fourth quartefr 2012. Future dividends are subjec
declaration by the Board of Directors.

In 2012, the Company’s Board of Directors authatiagprogram to repurchase up to $10 billion of@menpanys common stock beginning
2013. In April 2013, the Compars/Board of Directors increased the share repurghasgam authorization from $10 billion to $60 tafi, of
which $23.0 billion had been utilized
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as of September 28, 2013. The Comparsfiare repurchase program does not obligateaitdaire any specific number of shares. Unde
program, shares may be repurchased in privatelgtizgégd and/or open market transactions, includinder plans complying with Rule 1045-
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as ameftied'Exchange Act”).

In August 2012, the Company entered into an acatdrshare repurchase arrangement (“ASRth a financial institution to purchase ug
$1.95 billion of the Compang’common stock in 2013. In the first quarter of 2.6 million shares were initially delivered teetCompany. |
April 2013, the purchase period for the ASR ended an additional 1.5 million shares were delivetedhe Company. In total, 4.1 milli
shares were delivered under the ASR at an aveemeahase price of $478.20 per share. The shares netred in the quarters they w
delivered, and the up-front payment of $1.95 hillwas accounted for as a reduction to sharehol@epsty in the Compang’ Consolidate
Balance Sheet in the first quarter of 2013.

In April 2013, the Company entered into a new ASBgpam with two financial institutions to purchage to $12 billion of the Company’
common stock. In exchange for up-front paymentaliteg $12 billion, the financial institutions coniteid to deliver shares during the ASR’
purchase periods, which will end during 2014. Toét@ltnumber of shares ultimately delivered, andefoze the average price paid per st
will be determined at the end of the applicablechase period based on the volume weighted averéggeqf the Compang’ stock during th:
period. During the third quarter of 2013, 23.5 maill shares were initially delivered to the Company retired. This does not represent the
number of shares to be delivered under the ASR.upheont payments of $12 billion were accountedds a reduction to shareholdeeguity
in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The Company reflected the ASRs as a repurchaserofmon stock for purposes of calculating earningssbare and as forward contr:
indexed to its own common stock. The forward cartranet all of the applicable criteria for equitgsification, and, therefore, were
accounted for as derivative instruments.

During 2013, the Company repurchased 19.4 milllmarss of its common stock in the open market avamage price of $464.11 per share
a total of $9.0 billion. These shares were retiupdn repurchase.

Note 8 — Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income consists of two components,jmeeme and other comprehensive income. Other cehgmsive income refers
revenue, expenses, and gains and losses that GAdd? are recorded as an element of sharehol@epsity but are excluded from net inco
The Companys other comprehensive income consists of foreigneaagy translation adjustments from those subsafanot using the U.
dollar as their functional currency, net deferreaing and losses on certain derivative instrumeot®unted for as cash flow hedges,
unrealized gains and losses on marketable secucitissified as available-for-sale.

The following table shows the components of AOEH, of taxes, as of September 28, 2013 and Septe28b@012 (in millions):

2013 2012

Cumulative foreign currency translation $(105) $ 8
Net unrecognized gains/losses on derivative instnis (175) (240
Net unrealized gains/losses on marketable secu (191) 731
Accumulated other comprehensive income/(lt $(471) $ 49¢
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Note 9 — Benefit Plans
Stock Plans
2003 Employee Stock Plan

The 2003 Employee Stock Plan (the “2003 Plan”) shareholder approved plan that provides for biwegkd equity grants to employse
including executive officers. The 2003 Plan perrttis granting of incentive stock options, nonstatystock options, RSUs, stock apprecia
rights, stock purchase rights and performabased awards. Options granted under the 2003 Ria@rally expire seven to ten years afte
grant date and generally become exercisable oypariad of four years, based on continued employmaith either annual, senginnual o
quarterly vesting. RSUs granted under the 2003 gdarerally vest over two to four years, based amicoed employment and are settled L
vesting in shares of the Company’s common stoclk ame-forene basis. Each share issued with respect to ardaywanted under the 20
Plan (other than a stock option or stock appremiatight) reduces the number of shares availahlegfant under the plan by two sha
whereas shares issued in respect of an optiorock sippreciation right count against the numbeshaires available for grant on a one-6oE
basis. All RSUs, other than RSUs held by the Chiefcutive Officer, granted under the 2003 Plan hdivielend equivalent rights (“DER;
which entitle holders of RSUs to the same divideallie per share as holders of common stock. DERwfct to the same vesting and ¢
terms and conditions as the corresponding unvésgids. DER are accumulated and paid when the uridgrihares vest. As of September
2013, approximately 28.3 million shares were res@ffor future issuance under the 2003 Plan.

1997 Director Stock Plan

The 1997 Director Stock Plan (the “Director Plaig)a shareholder approved plan that (i) permitsGbenpany to grant awards of RSU:
stock options to the Company’s non-employee dirsci@) provides for automatic initial grants oSRs upon a noemployee director joinir
the Board of Directors and automatic annual grahlRSUs at each annual meeting of shareholders(i@npermits the Board of Directors
prospectively change the relative mixture of stopkions and RSUs for the initial and annual awashts and the methodology for determir
the number of shares of the Compangbmmon stock subject to these grants withouteslodder approval. Each share issued with resp
RSUs granted under the Director Plan reduces th#auof shares available for grant under the platwlo shares. The Director Plan exp
November 9, 2019. All RSUs granted under the Dine€lan are entitled to DER. As of September 28,32@pproximately 176,000 sha
were reserved for future issuance under the Dirdizn.

Rule 10b-1 Trading Plans

During the fourth quarter of 2013, executive off&c@imothy D. Cook, Peter Oppenheimer, D. Bruce @gwWhilip W. Schiller, Daniel Ricc
and Jeffrey E. Williams and director William V. Cpbell had equity trading plans in place in accoogawith Rule 10b3c)(1) under th
Exchange Act. An equity trading plan is a writtescdment that prestablishes the amounts, prices and dates (or farfoudetermining th
amounts, prices and dates) of future purchaseales sf the Company’s stock, including shares aedupursuant to the Compasyemploye
and director equity plans.

Employee Stock Purchase PI

The Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Purchase)R&aa shareholder approved plan under which subaligrall employees may purche
the Companys common stock through payroll deductions at aepeigual to 85% of the lower of the fair market ealwf the stock as of t
beginning or the end of six-month offering periods employees payroll deductions under the Purchase Plan argell to 10% of th
employee$ compensation and employees may not purchase theme$25,000 of stock during any calendar yearofASeptember 28, 201
approximately 1.8 million shares were reserveddture issuance under the Purchase Plan.
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401(k) Plan

The Company’s 401(k) Plan (the “401(k) Plaig)a deferred salary arrangement under Sectiork®@f the Internal Revenue Code. Under
401(k) Plan, participating U.S. employees may defg@ortion of their préax earnings, up to the IRS annual contributionitli¢gg17,500 fo
calendar year 2013). The Company matches 50% t% IfiCcecach employes’contributions, depending on length of servicetaip maximur
6% of the employee’s eligible earnings. The Compsumgatching contributions to the 401(k) Plan wer855illion, $114 million and $¢
million in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Restricted Stock Units
A summary of the Company’s RSU activity and relatddrmation for 2013, 2012 and 2011, is as follows

Weighted-
Average Aggregate
Number of Grant Intrinsic
RSUs Date Fair Value
(in thousands Value (in millions)
Balance at September 25, 2010 13,03¢ $165.6:
RSUs grantei 6,667 $312.6:
RSUs veste! (4,519 $168.0¢
RSUs cancelle (742) $189.0¢
Balance at September 24, 2( 14,44¢ $231.4¢
RSUs grante: 7,79¢ $431.3¢
RSUs veste! (6,305) $205.2°
RSUs cancelle (935) $256.0:
Balance at September 29, 2( 15,00¢ $344.8"
RSUs grante: 5,63 $547.6.
RSUs veste! (6,047) $321.7:
RSUs cancelle (1,26%) $401.1°
Balance at September 28, 2( 13,32¢ $435.7( $ 6,43¢

The fair value as of the respective vesting dafteR31s was $3.1 billion, $3.3 billion and $1.5 ioifi for 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectiv
The majority of RSUs that vested in 2013, 2012 201 were neshare settled such that the Company withheld shetbs/alue equivalent
the employeesiminimum statutory obligation for the applicable ante and other employment taxes, and remitted thle ttathe appropria
taxing authorities. The total shares withheld wagpproximately 2.2 million, 2.3 million and 1.6 nwlh for 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectiv
and were based on the value of the RSUs on thgiertive vesting dates as determined by the Compatgsing stock price. Total payme
for the employeedax obligations to taxing authorities were $1.1idnil, $1.2 billion and $520 million in 2013, 2018ch2011, respectively, a
are reflected as a financing activity within thenSolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Thesesin@te settlements had the effect of <
repurchases by the Company as they reduced aneldrétie number of shares that would have otherlbésm issued as a result of the ve
and did not represent an expense to the Company.
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Stock Options
A summary of the Company’s stock option activitglamlated information for 2013, 2012 and 2011 siscdlows:

Outstanding Options

Weighted-
Average
. Remainin
Weighted- Contractugl
Aggregate
Number of Average Intrinsic
Options Exercise Term Value

(in thousands Price (in years) (in millions)
Balance at September 25, 2010 21,72¢ $ 90.4¢
Options grante 1 $342.6:
Options cancelle (163%) $128.4:
Options exercise (9,699 $ 67.6:
Balance at September 24, 2( 11,86¢ $108.6¢
Options assume 41 $ 30.8¢
Options cancelle (25 $103.2:
Options exercise (5,33)) $ 84.8¢
Balance at September 29, 2( 6,54~ $127.5¢
Options grante 8 $ 30.3¢
Options assume 29 $210.0¢
Options cancelle (8) $108.8:
Options exercise (2,480 $108.3:

Balance at September 28, 2( 4,09/ $139.6¢ 11 $ 1,40t

Exercisable at September 28, 2( 4,07 $140.07 1.C $ 1,39¢

Expected to vest after September 28, 2 22 $ 61.9¢ 7.8 $ 9

Aggregate intrinsic value represents the valuehef Companys closing stock price on the last trading day & period in excess of t
weightedaverage exercise price multiplied by the numbepptions outstanding or exercisable. Total intringiddue of options at time
exercise was $1.0 billion, $2.3 billion and $2.8idm for 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Share-based Compensation

The Company granted 8,000 and 1,370 stock optiariagl 2013 and 2011, respectively. The weiglagdrage grant date fair value per s
of stock options granted during 2013 and 2011 v2g1 84 and $181.13, respectively. The Company didgrant any stock options dur
2012.

During 2013 and 2012, in conjunction with certairsiness combinations, the Company assumed 29,@D813000 stock options, respectiv:

which had a weightedverage fair value per share of $407.80 and $4083pectively. The Company did not assume anyksiptions durin
2011.

The weighted-average fair value of stock purchages per share was $115.19, $108.44 and $71.4@gdR013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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The following table shows a summary of the shaased compensation expense included in the Coasaticstatements of Operations for 2
2012 and 2011 (in millions):

2013 2012 2011
Cost of sales $ 35C $ 26t $ 20C
Research and developmt 917 66¢ 45C
Selling, general and administrati 98¢ 807 51¢

Total shar-based compensation expel $ 2,25¢ $1,74( $1,16¢

The income tax benefit related to shaeesed compensation expense was $816 million, $56@mand $467 million for 2013, 2012 and 20
respectively. As of September 28, 2013, the totakbcognized compensation cost related to outstgnstiock options and RSUs was
billion, which the Company expects to recognizeraveveighted-average period of 3.0 years.

Note 10 — Commitments and Contingencies
Accrued Warranty and Indemnification

The Company offers a basic limited parts and lalkarranty on its hardware products. The basic wayrgeriod for hardware products
typically one year from the date of purchase byehd-user. The Company also offers a 904utzsic warranty for its service parts used to r
the Companys hardware products. The Company provides currdotiyhe estimated cost that may be incurred uitddrasic limited produ
warranties at the time related revenue is recogniFactors considered in determining appropriatruadts for product warranty obligatic
include the size of the installed base of prodseigject to warranty protection, historical and pot¢d warranty claim rates, historical
projected cost-per-claim, and knowledge of spegifioduct failures that are outside of the Compartypical experience. The Compi
assesses the adequacy of its gxisting warranty liabilities and adjusts the amsuas necessary based on actual experience andesha
future estimates.

The following table shows changes in the Compaagtgued warranties and related costs for 2013, 2882011 (in millions):

2013 2012 2011
Beginning accrued warranty and related costs $1,63¢ $1,24( $ 761
Cost of warranty claim (3,709 (1,786 (1,147
Accruals for product warrani 5,032 2,18¢ 1,62¢
Ending accrued warranty and related c $ 2,961 $1,63¢ $ 1,24(

The Company generally does not indemnify @isdrs of its operating system and application sofiwagainst legal claims that the softv
infringes thirdparty intellectual property rights. Other agreemsestitered into by the Company sometimes includenmdfication provision
under which the Company could be subject to cost¥oa damages in the event of an infringement clagainst the Company or
indemnified thirdparty. However, the Company has not been requoanake any significant payments resulting from saohnfringemer
claim asserted against it or an indemnified thgedty and, in the opinion of management, does awéla potential liability related to unresol
infringement claims subject to indemnification thaduld materially adversely affect its financialnclition or operating results. Therefore,
Company did not record a liability for infringemerusts related to indemnification as of either 8eyiter 28, 2013 or September 29, 2012.

The Company has entered into indemnification agesgsnwith its directors and executive officers. Binthese agreements, the Compan)
agreed to indemnify such individuals to the fullegtent permitted by law against liabilities thasa by reason of their status as directo
officers and to advance expenses incurred by such
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individuals in connection with related legal prodiegs. It is not possible to determine the maximpatential amount of payments

Company could be required to make under these imgms due to the limited history of prior indemeéfiion claims and the unique facts
circumstances involved in each claim. However, @@mpany maintains directors and officers liabilibsurance coverage to reduce
exposure to such obligations, and payments maderuihese agreements historically have not beenriaiate

Concentrations in the Available Sources of SupplyfdMaterials and Product

Although most components essential to the Commahysiness are generally available from multiplerses, a number of components
currently obtained from single or limited sourcés.addition, the Company competes for various camepds with other participants in -
markets for mobile communication and media devams personal computers. Therefore, many componseis$ by the Company, includ
those that are available from multiple sources, aréimes subject to industwide shortage and significant pricing fluctuatiaihat cau
materially adversely affect the Company’s financiahdition and operating results.

The Company uses some custom components that ai@manonly used by its competitors, and new praslirttroduced by the Compe
often utilize custom components available from onlye source. When a component or product uses aelndlogies, initial capaci
constraints may exist until the suppliers’ yields/é matured or manufacturing capacity has incredséte Companys supply of componer
for a new or existing product were delayed or aemséd, or if an outsourcing partner delayed shipeof completed products to
Company, the Company’s financial condition and afpirg results could be materially adversely affect€he Companyg business ai
financial performance could also be materially adely affected depending on the time required taialsufficient quantities from the origi
source, or to identify and obtain sufficient quaes from an alternative source. Continued avditghof these components at acceptable pr
or at all, may be affected if those suppliers coteged on the production of common componentgatsbf components customized to r
the Company’s requirements.

The Company has entered into various agreementisdasupply of components; however, there can bguasantee that the Company will
able to extend or renew these agreements on siteilars, or at all. Therefore, the Company remaingest to significant risks of supj
shortages and price increases that can matergraely affect its financial condition and opargtresults.

Substantially all of the Compargyhardware products are manufactured by outsoupanmers that are located primarily in Asia. Ansiigant
concentration of this manufacturing is currentlyfpemed by a small number of outsourcing partneftgn in single locations. Certain of th
outsourcing partners are the sole-sourced suppliesomponents and manufacturers for many of theng@mys products. Although tl
Company works closely with its outsourcing partn@msmanufacturing schedules, the Compargperating results could be adversely affe
if its outsourcing partners were unable to meetrtpeoduction commitments. The Compasypurchase commitments typically covel
requirements for periods up to 150 days.

Other Off-Balance Sheet Commitments
Lease Commitments

The Company leases various equipment and facjlitnetuding retail space, under noncancelable dpgrdease arrangements. The Comy
does not currently utilize any other dfélance sheet financing arrangements. The majditfdeases are typically for terms not exceedir(
years and generally provide renewal options fangenot exceeding five additional years. Leasesdtail space are for terms ranging from

to 20 years, the majority of which are for 10 yearsd often contain multi-year renewal options.oASeptember 28, 2013, the Companigta
future minimum lease payments under noncancelgi#eating leases were $4.7 billion, of which $35dri related to leases for retail space.
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Rent expense under all operating leases, inclualitig cancelable and noncancelable leases, wasriiiis, $488 million and $338 million
2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Future minimeasé payments under noncancelable operating lbasiggy remaining terms in exces:
one year as of September 28, 2013, are as followsillions):

2014 $ 61C
2015 61
2016 587
2017 551
2018 50&
Thereafte! 1,85¢

Total minimum lease paymer $4,721

Other Commitments

As of September 28, 2013, the Company had outstgnafif-balance sheet thingarty manufacturing commitments and component [ast
commitments of $18.6 billion.

In addition to the ofbalance sheet commitments mentioned above, the &oniad outstanding obligations of $1.3 billioroaSeptember 2
2013, which consisted mainly of commitments to @&®guapital assets, including product tooling ananofacturing process equipment,
commitments related to advertising, research amdldpment, Internet and telecommunications senacesother obligations.

Contingencies

The Company is subject to various legal proceedamgsclaims that have arisen in the ordinary coafdmisiness and that have not been
adjudicated. In the opinion of management, thers m@ at least a reasonable possibility the Compaay have incurred a material loss,
material loss in excess of a recorded accrual, vétpect to loss contingencies. However, the outcofmlitigation is inherently uncerta
Therefore, although management considers the Hiketi of such an outcome to be remote, if one orenodithese legal matters were reso
against the Company in a reporting period for an®un excess of management's expectations, the oy consolidated financi
statements for that reporting period could be ntgradversely affected.

Apple Inc. v. Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd, €

On August 24, 2012, a jury returned a verdict awaydhe Company $1.05 billion in its lawsuit agaisamsung Electronics Co., Ltd
affiliated parties in the United States Districtugty Northern District of California, San Jose Biwin. On March 1, 2013, the District Cc
upheld $599 million of the jurg’ award and ordered a new trial as to the remailBkrause the award is subject to entry of findbjuent
partial re-trial and appeal, the Company has naigrized the award in its results of operations.

VirnetX, Inc. v. Apple Inc. et al.

On August 11, 2010, VirnetX, Inc. filed an actiogamst the Company alleging that certain of itsdpieis infringed on four patents relating
network communications technology. On November@®,2 a jury returned a verdict against the Compamg, awarded damages of $
million. The Company is challenging the verdictlidéees it has valid defenses and has not recordessaaccrual at this time.
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Note 11 — Segment Information and Geographic Data

The Company reports segment information based erirttanagementapproach. The management approach designatesténeainreportin
used by management for making decisions and aeggssiformance as the source of the Company’s t&persegments.

The Company manages its business primarily on grgebic basis. The Compasyteportable operating segments consist of the o
Europe, Greater China, Japan, Rest of Asia Paaifit Retail operations. The Americas segment inslimgh North and South America. ~
Europe segment includes European countries, asasdhdia, the Middle East and Africa. The Gre&@hima segment includes China, Hi
Kong and Taiwan. The Rest of Asia Pacific segmewtudes Australia and Asian countries, other thamsé countries included in 1
Companys other operating segments. The Retail segmenatgseApple retail stores in 13 countries, includihg U.S. The results of t
Companys geographic segments do not include results oR#tail segment. Each operating segment proviga#asihardware and softwe
products and similar services. The accounting mdiof the various segments are the same as thesmilibd in Note 1, Summary ¢
Significant Accounting Policies.”

The Company evaluates the performance of its dpgraegments based on net sales and operating énddet sales for geographic segm
are generally based on the location of customehslevRetail segment net sales are based on salesgtih the Company’ retail store:
Operating income for each segment includes nes gal¢hird parties, related cost of sales and dpgy@&xpenses directly attributable to
segment. Advertising expenses are generally indudehe geographic segment in which the expenetare incurred. Operating income
each segment excludes other income and expensecaaih expenses managed outside the operatingesggnCosts excluded from segn
operating income include various corporate expermésh as research and development, corporate rmarkekpenses, shabase:
compensation expense, income taxes, various namiggcharges, and other separately managed geaedahdministrative costs and cer
manufacturing period expenses. The Company doesiciatle intercompany transfers between segmenisidmagement reporting purposes.

Segment assets include receivables and invente@naksfor the Retail segment also includes capiaets. Segment assets exclude corg
assets, such as cash and cash equivalents, smorated long-term marketable securities, vendor tnade receivables, other longrr
investments, manufacturing and corporate facilitipsoduct tooling and manufacturing process equigmeniscellaneous corpori
infrastructure, goodwill and other acquired intdmgiassets. Except for the Retail segment, capéisét purchases for lotiged assets are r
reported to management by segment and thereforexateded from the geographic segment assets atelaoh included in corporate ass
Cash payments for capital asset purchases by ttal Regment were $495 million, $858 million andlg6million for 2013, 2012 and 20:
respectively. The Comparg/total depreciation and amortization was $6.8dnijl $3.3 billion and $1.8 billion in 2013, 20122011
respectively, of which $382 million, $319 milliomé& $273 million was related to the Retail segmarthe respective years. Depreciation
amortization on segment assets included in thergpbgc segments was not significant.
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The following table shows information by operatsggment for 2013, 2012 and 2011 (in millions):

2013 2012 2011
Americas:

Net sales $62,73¢ $57,51: $38,31¢

Operating incomi $22,81" $23,41¢ $13,11:
Europe:

Net sales $37,88: $36,32: $27,77¢

Operating incomi $13,02¢ $14,86¢ $11,20¢
Greater China

Net sales $25,417 $22,53: $12,69(

Operating incomi $ 8,541 $ 9,84: $ 5,24¢
Japan

Net sales $13,46: $10,57: $ 5,43

Operating incomi $ 6,81¢ $ 5,861 $ 2,41¢
Rest of Asia Pacific

Net sales $11,18: $10,74: $ 9,90

Operating incomi $ 3,758 $ 4,25: $ 4,004
Retail:

Net sales $20,22¢ $18,82¢ $14,127

Operating incomi $ 4,02¢ $ 4,618 $ 3,07t

A reconciliation of the Compang’segment operating income to the consolidateaéiahstatements for 2013, 2012 and 2011, is dsvisl (in
millions):

2013 2012 2011
Segment operating income $58,98( $62,85: $39,06(
Other corporate expenses, (7,729 (5,872 (4,102
Shar-based compensation expel (2,257) (1,740 (1,16¢)

Total operating incom $48,99¢ $55,24: $33,79(

The following table shows total assets by segmadtareconciliation to the consolidated financtatements as of September 28, 2013
September 29, 2012 (in millions):

2013 2012
Segment asset
Americas $ 565: $ 552t
Europe 3,13¢ 3,09¢
Greater Chini 2,94: 1,321
Japar 2,93 1,69¢
Rest of Asi-Pacific 922 91z
Retail 3,32¢ 2,72%
Total segment asse 18,91 15,27,
Corporate asse 188,08t 160,78
Total asset $207,00(  $176,06:
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The U.S. and China were the only countries thab@aated for more than 10% of the Compangét sales in 2013, 2012 and 2011. There w
single customer that accounted for more than 10%eb8ales in 2013, 2012 or 2011. Net sales foB2P0212 and 2011 and lotiged assets :
of September 28, 2013 and September 29, 2012 dod@sgs (in millions):

2013 2012 2011
Net sales
U.S. $ 66,197 $ 60,94¢ $ 41,81
China (a) 25,94¢ 22,791 12,47
Other countrie: 78,76 72,76: 53,96¢
Total net sale $170,91(  $156,50¢ $108,24¢
2013 2012
Long-lived assets
U.S. $ 7,39¢ $ 6,012
China (a) 7,40z 7,314
Other countrie: 2,78¢ 2,56(
Total lon¢-lived asset: $ 17,58t $ 15,88¢

(@ China includes Hong Kong. Lotiged assets located in China consist primarilypadduct tooling and manufacturing process equip
and assets related to retail stores and relateasinficture

Information regarding net sales by product for 204®L2 and 2011, is as follows (in millions):

2013 2012 2011
Net Sales by Product:

iPhone (a $ 91,27¢ $ 78,69 $ 45,99¢
iPad (a) 31,98( 30,94¢ 19,16¢
Mac (a) 21,48:¢ 23,22 21,78¢
iPod (a) 4,411 5,61¢F 7,45:
iTunes, Software and Services 16,05! 12,89( 9,37:
Accessories (c 5,70¢ 5,14¢ 4,472

Total net sale $170,91(  $156,50¢ $108,24¢

(&) Includes deferrals and amortization of related-software services and software upgrade ric

(b) Includes revenue from sales on the iTunes Stom Abp Store, the Mac App Store, and the iBooks&stand revenue from sales
AppleCare, licensing and other servic

(c) Includes sales of hardware peripherals and /-branded and thi-party accessories for iPhone, iPad, Mac and i
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Note 12 — Selected Quarterly Financial Information(Unaudited)

The following tables show a summary of the Compamyarterly financial information for each of theuf quarters of 2013 and 2012
millions, except per share amounts):

Fourth Quarter Third Quarter Second Quarte First Quarter
2013
Net sales $ 37,47: $ 35,32! $ 43,60: $ 54,51
Gross margir $ 13,87 $ 13,02: $  16,34¢ $ 21,06(
Net income $ 7,512 $ 6,90( $ 9,547 $ 13,07¢
Earnings per share (¢
Basic $ 8.31 $ 7.51 $ 10.1¢ $ 13.9¢
Diluted $ 8.2¢ $ 7.47 $ 10.0¢ $ 13.81
Fourth Quarter Third Quarter Second Quarte First Quarter
2012
Net sales $ 35,96¢ $ 35,02! $ 39,18¢ $ 46,33
Gross margir $ 14,40 $ 14,99 $ 18,56¢ $ 20,70
Net income $ 8,22: $ 8,82¢ $ 11,62: $ 13,06«
Earnings per share (¢
Basic $ 8.7¢ $ 9.4z $ 12.4¢ $ 14.0¢
Diluted $ 8.67 $ 9.3z $ 12.3( $ 13.8i

(&) Basic and diluted earnings per share are compuatgkgbendently for each of the quarters presenteereftre, the sum of quarterly be
and diluted per share information may not equaliahbasic and diluted earnings per sh
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Appée In

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Apple Inc. as of September 28, 20tiSBaptember 29, 2012, and the rel
consolidated statements of operations, comprehenstome, shareholdersquity and cash flows for each of the three yearthé perio
ended September 28, 2013. These financial statsnaeitthe responsibility of the Compasiyhanagement. Our responsibility is to expre:
opinion on these financial statements based omodits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebta@asonable assurance about whether the finaptaggments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on altasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princigled and significant estimates made by managenmemtelhas evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referre@lbove present fairly, in all material respedis, ¢onsolidated financial position of Apple |
at September 28, 2013 and September 29, 2012harmbhsolidated results of its operations andaghdlows for each of the three years ir
period ended September 28, 2013, in conformity WitB. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@ddnited States), Apple Ing.’
internal control over financial reporting as of Sapber 28, 2013, based on criteria establishelditarnal Control —Integrated Framewol
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatainthe Treadway Commission (1992 framework) andreport dated October 29, 2(
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Jose, California
October 29, 2013
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Appée In

We have audited Apple Inc.’s internal control ofirancial reporting as of September 28, 2013, basecriteria established internal Contro
- Integrated Frameworkssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatafnihe Treadway Commission (1992 frameworkh¢* COS(
criteria”). Apple Inc.5 management is responsible for maintaining effeatiternal control over financial reporting, ara fts assessment
the effectiveness of internal control over finahegporting included in the accompanying ManagenseAnnual Report on Internal Cont
Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility isexpress an opinion on the Companiriternal control over financial reporting basedou!
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statslof the Public Company Accounting Oversight ifq@nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordgrar financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, testing and etiafpthe design and operating effectiveness ofriratiecontrol based on the assessed risk
performing such other procedures as we considezeessary in the circumstances. We believe thahadit provides a reasonable basis fol
opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranagiregthe reliability of financi:
reporting and the preparation of financial stateimidor external purposes in accordance with gelyeealcepted accounting principles
companys internal control over financial reporting inclgdidose policies and procedures that (1) pertatheéanaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseottimpany; (2) provide reasonable assui
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accorédamdth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanalsksurance regarding prevention or timely deteafounauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohwver financial reporting may not prevent or @ttmisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Apple Inc. maintained, in all magdrespects, effective internal control over fingh reporting as of September 28, 2013, b
on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@tnited States), the 20
consolidated financial statements of Apple Inc. andreport dated October 29, 2013 expressed amalifigd opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Jose, California
October 29, 2013

80



Table of Contents

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Aecunting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on an evaluation under the supervision atid thve participation of the Company’s managemedrd, Companys principal executiv
officer and principal financial officer have condkd that the Company’s disclosure controls andgatoes as defined in Rules 1Ba(e) an
15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1@34amended (“Exchange Actiere effective as of September 28, 2013 to pr¢
reasonable assurance that information requirecetdigclosed by the Company in reports that it fdesubmits under the Exchange Ac
(i) recorded, processed, summarized and reportddnathe time periods specified in the Securitied &xchange Commission rules and fc
and (ii) accumulated and communicated to the Coigamanagement, including its principal executiveceff and principal financial office
as appropriate to allow timely decisions regardiguired disclosure.

Inherent Limitations Over Internal Controls

The Companys internal control over financial reporting is dped to provide reasonable assurance regardingetlability of financia
reporting and the preparation of financial statet;idar external purposes in accordance with U.®egmly accepted accounting princif
(“GAAP”). The Company’s internal control over finaal reporting includes those policies and procedhat:

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, inaraisle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thensactions and dispositions of
Compan’s assets

(i) provide reasonable assurance that transaction®eoeded as necessary to permit preparation ofidiahstatements in accorda
with GAAP, and that the Comparsyreceipts and expenditures are being made ongcaordance with authorizations of
Compan’s management and directors; ¢

(i) provide reasonable assurance regarding preventiotimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, ,use disposition of th
Compan’s assets that could have a material effect onitla@dial statement

Management, including the Company’s Chief Executdféicer and Chief Financial Officer, does not egp¢hat the Company’ interna
controls will prevent or detect all errors andfedlud. A control system, no matter how well desiyaed operated, can provide only reason
not absolute, assurance that the objectives ofdhérol system are met. Further, the design ofrarobsystem must reflect the fact that tt
are resource constraints, and the benefits of alsntnust be consideradlative to their costs. Because of the inherenitditions in all contre
systems, no evaluation of internal controls canvigi® absolute assurance that all control issuesimstdnces of fraud, if any, have b
detected. Also, any evaluation of the effectivenassontrols in future periods are subject to tis& that those internal controls may bec:
inadequate because of changes in business corglitiothat the degree of compliance with the pedi@r procedures may deteriorate.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Companys management is responsible for establishing aridtaiaing adequate internal control over finanaigborting (as defined
Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Managencenducted an assessment of the effectiveness dfahgpanys internal control o
financial reporting based on the criteria set fothinternal Control —Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ofnSpiing
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (1992 &awork). Based on the Compasyassessment, management has concluded t
internal control over financial reporting was effee as of September 28, 2013 to provide reasonatderance regarding the reliability
financial reporting and the preparation of finah@tatements in accordance with GAAP. The Compangtependent registered pul
accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, has issued adiareport on the Compars/internal control over financial reporting, whiappears i
Part Il, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in the Comparipternal control over financial reporting duritige fourth quarter of 2013, which were identifi@
connection with management’s evaluation requiregpésagraph (d) of rules 13a-15 and I&dunder the Exchange Act, that have mate!
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallfeaf, the Company'’s internal control over financigporting.

Item 9B. Other Information
Not applicable
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PART lIl
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

The information required by this Item is set fouthder the headings “Directors, Executive Officard &orporate Governance” and “Section 1
(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” fire tCompanys 2014 Proxy Statement to be filed with the U.SuBiges and Exchan
Commission (“SEC”) within 120 days after SeptemP&r 2013 in connection with the solicitation of yies for the Companyg’ 2014 annu
meeting of shareholders and is incorporated hdrgieference.

Item 11. Executive Compensatior

The information required by this Item is set foutihder the heading “Executive Compensation” and utide subheadingsBbard Oversight «
Risk Management,” “Compensation of Directors,” “8itor Compensation-2013” andC6émpensation Committee Interlocks and Ins
Participation” under the heading “Directors, Ex@gitOfficers and Corporate Governance” in the Comyfm2014 Proxy Statement to be fi
with the SEC within 120 days after September 28328nd is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andvlanagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

The information required by this Iltem is set foutider the headings “Security Ownership of Certaémdicial Owners and Managemeatic
“Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the Compa 2014 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEQiwil20 days after September
2013 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transaans, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item is set fouhder the heading “Review, Approval or RatificatiohTransactions with Related Persons
and under the subheading “Board Committees” urtteheading “Directors, Executive Officers and Coap® Governance” in the Compaay’
2014 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC with20 days after September 28, 2013 and is incatpdherein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is set fouthder the subheadings “Fees Paid to Auditors” &ulity on Audit Committee PrApprova
of Audit and Non-Audit Services Performed by theldpendent Registered Public Accounting Firm” untter proposal Ratification o
Appointment of Independent Registered Public ActimgnFirm” in the Company 2014 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEQiwifL2(
days after September 28, 2013 and is incorporategirhby reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule
(8) Documents filed as part of this report

(1) Allfinancial statements

Index to Consolidated Financial Statement Page
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeaded September 28, 2013, September 29, 2013eptdmber 24, 2011 45
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomthéoyears ended September 28, 2013, Septemb2028, and September 24,

2011 46
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 28,&0d September 29, 20 47
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equityiferyears ended September 28, 2013, Septemb2028,and September 24,

2011 48
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeaaled September 28, 2013, September 29, 2013eptdmber 24, 201 49
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statems 50
Selected Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudjt 78
Reports of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registé?ablic Accounting Firn 79

(2) Financial Statement Schedule

All financial statement schedules have been omittette the required information is not applicattes not present in amounts sufficien
require submission of the schedule, or becauséntbanation required is included in the consolidafaancial statements and notes the
included in this Form 10-K.

(3) Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation K
The information required by this Section (a)(3)tem 15 is set forth on the exhibit index thatdelk the Signatures page of this Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

APPLE INC.

Date: October 29, 2013 By: /s/ Peter Oppenheimer
Peter Oppenheimi
Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Office

Power of Attorney

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemshose signature appears below constitutes anoirgpprimothy D. Coo
and Peter Oppenheimer, jointly and severally, tisraeys-in-facteach with the power of substitution, for him in amd all capacities, to si
any amendments to this Annual Report on Form 1@+ to file the same, with exhibits thereto anceotiocuments in connection therew
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, heraktifying and confirming all that each of saidaoatteys-in-fact,or his substitute
substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtnedi.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpithe following persons on behalf of
registrant and in the capacities and on the datlisated:

Name Title Date
/s Timothy D. Cook Chief Executive Officer and Director October 29, 2013
TIMOTHY D. COOK (Principal Executive Officer)
/s| Peter Oppenheimer Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer October 29, 2013
PETER OPPENHEIMEF (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ Luca Maestri Vice President and Corporate Controller (Princ October 29, 2013
LUCA MAESTRI Accounting Officer)
/sl William V. Campbell Director October 29, 2013
WILLIAM V. CAMPBELL
/s/ Millard S. Drexler Director October 29, 2013
MILLARD S. DREXLER
/sl Al Gore Director October 29, 2013
AL GORE
/sl Robert A. Iger Director October 29, 2013
ROBERT A. IGER
/s/ Andrea Jung Director October 29, 2013
ANDREA JUNG
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Name Title Date

/s/ Arthur D. Levinson Director October 29, 2013
ARTHUR D. LEVINSON

/s/ Ronald D. Sugar Director October 29, 2013
RONALD D. SUGAR
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Exhibit
Number

3.1

3.2
4.1
4.2

4.3

10.1*
10.2*

10.3*
10.4*
10.5*
10.6*
10.7*
10.8*

12.1**
21.1*%
23.1**
24.1**
31.1**
31.2**
32.1%**

EXHIBIT INDEX
Incorporated by
Reference

Filing Date/

Period End
Exhibit Description Form  Exhibit Date
Restated Articles of Incorporation, filed with tBecretary of State of the State of California dy Ju
10, 2009 10-Q 3.1 6/27/09
Amended Bylaws of the Registrant, as of April 201 2. 1¢-Q 3.2 3/26/11
Form of Common Stock Certificate of the Registr: 1¢-Q 4.1 12/30/06
Indenture, dated as of April 29, 2013, betweernRbgistrant and The Bank of New York Mellon
Trust Company, N.A., as Truste S-3 4.1 4/29/13
Officer's Certificate of the Registrant, dated &d/ay 3, 2013, including forms of global notes
representing the Floating Rate Notes due 2016tiRtp&ate Notes due 2018, 0.45% Notes due
2016, 1.00% Notes due 2018, 2.40% Notes due 2023 .&5% Notes due 204 8K 4.1 5/3/13
Amended Employee Stock Purchase Plan, effectivd Barch 8, 2010 1¢-Q 10.1  3/27/10
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Regig and each director and executive officer
of the Registrant 1¢-Q 10.2 6/27/09
1997 Director Stock Plan, as amended through May@#2. 1¢-Q 10.3 6/30/12
2003 Employee Stock Plan, as amended through Fgt26a2010 8-K 10.1 3/1/10
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement dfifecas of November 11, 200 1C-Q 10.10 12/27/08
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement dfifecas of November 16, 201 1C-Q 10.10 12/25/10
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement efifecas of April 6, 2012 1¢-Q 10.8 3/31/12
Summary Description of Amendment, effective as @fy\24, 2012, to certain Restricted Stock Unit
Award Agreements outstanding as of April 5, 2C 1¢-Q 10.8 6/30/12

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Chart

Subsidiaries of the Registra

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registétablic Accounting Firm
Power of Attorney (included on the Signatures pafghis Annual Report on Form -K).
Rule 1314(a) / 15-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Office

Rule 13-14(a) / 15-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Office

Section 1350 Certifications of Chief Executive ©fii and Chief Financial Office
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Incorporated by

Reference

Filing Date/
Exhibit Period End
Number Exhibit Description Form  Exhibit  Date
101.INS** XBRL Instance Documen
101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Documg
101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntn
101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhe
101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum
101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doeni
* Indicates management contract or compensatorygslarrangemen

**  Filed herewith
***  Furnished herewitt
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Exhibit 12.1

Apple Inc.
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
(In millions, except ratios)

Years ended

September 2€ September 2¢ September 24 September 2E September 2€
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Earnings
Earnings before income tax $ 50,15t $ 55,768 $ 34,20 $ 18,54( $ 12,06¢
Add: Fixed Charge 26E 98 68 54 46
Total Earnings $ 50,42( $ 55,86 $ 34,27 $ 18,59« $ 12,11
Fixed Charges(a)
Interest Expens $ 13€ $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Interest component of rental expel 12¢ 98 68 54 46
Total Fixed Charge $ 26t $ 98 $ 68 $ 54 $ 46
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Chargegb) 19C 57C 504 344 263

(a) Fixed charges include the portion of rental expghaemanagement believes is representative ghtheest componen
(b) The ratio of earnings to fixed charges is compugdividing Total Earnings by Total Fixed Charg



Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF

APPLE INC.*
Jurisdiction
of Incorporation
Apple Sales International Ireland
Apple Operations Internation Ireland
Apple Operations Eurog Ireland
Braeburn Capital, Inc Nevada, U.S

* Pursuant to Item 601(b)(21)(ii) of Regulation S4#Kke names of other subsidiaries of Apple Inc. argtted because, considered in

aggregate, they would not constitute a significartsidiary as of the end of the year covered ts/riport.



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registerd Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

(1)
(2)

(3)
(4)
()
(6)

(7)

(8)
(9)

Registration Statement (Forn-3 ASR No. 33-188191) of Apple Inc.

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 383706) pertaining to AuthenTec, Inc. 2007 Stockehtive Plan and AuthenTec, Inc. 2
Incentive Plan, as amendk

Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-180981) pertaining to Chomp Inc. 2009 Equity InoenPlan,
Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-179189) pertaining to Anobit Technologies Ltd. GibBhare Incentive Plan (200
Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-168279) pertaining to Siri, Inc. 2008 Stock Optitack Issuance Pla

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 3%5%214) pertaining to Apple Inc. 2003 Employee 8tBtan, la la media, inc. 2005 Stock F
and Quattro Wireless, Inc. 2006 Stock Option ananGPlan

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 331%026) pertaining to Apple Inc. 2003 Employee Bt&tan and Apple Inc. Amend
Employee Stock Purchase Pl

Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-125148) pertaining to Employee Stock Purchase &t@?003 Employee Stock Plan, ¢
Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-75930) pertaining to 1997 Employee Stock OptiomF

of our reports dated October 29, 2013 with resfettie consolidated financial statements of Apple,land the effectiveness of internal cor
over financial reporting of Apple Inc., includedtims Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year en8egitember 28, 2013.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Jose, California
October 29, 2013



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

[, Timothy D. Cook, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Apple Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgrinuntrue statement of a material fact or omitade a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts under which such statements were made, nteadisg with respect to the per
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, ather financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifile establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstiand procedures {
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15€k)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rt
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procedumesawsed such disclosure controls and proceduréde tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatneg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@gorting to be designed uni
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangardang the reliability of financial reporting anide preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtinis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amutgutures, as of the end of the period covered lsy réport based on sL
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegegnt’s internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrarfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbr§ that has materially affected, o
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosbdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrob over financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacoimmittee of the registrast’board of directors (or persons performing theiedent
functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal controgiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize, and refitahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that in@dvmanagement or other employees who have a s@mifrole in the registrarst’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: October 29, 2013

By: /s/ Timothy D. Cook
Timothy D. Cook
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Peter Oppenheimer, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Apple Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgrinuntrue statement of a material fact or omitade a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts under which such statements were made, nteadisg with respect to the per
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, ather financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifile establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstiand procedures {
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15€k)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rt
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procedumesawsed such disclosure controls and proceduréde tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatneg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@gorting to be designed uni
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangardang the reliability of financial reporting anide preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtinis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amutgutures, as of the end of the period covered lsy réport based on sL
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegegnt’s internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrarfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbr§ that has materially affected, o
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosbdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrob over financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacoimmittee of the registrast’board of directors (or persons performing theiedent
functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal controgiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize, and refitahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that in@dvmanagement or other employees who have a s@mifrole in the registrarst’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: October 29, 2013

By: /s/ Peter Oppenheimer
Peter Oppenheimer
Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF  FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Timothy D. Cook, certify, as of the dates hergmirsuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopteslipat to Section 906 of the Sarbane:
Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report of Appie. on Form 1K for the fiscal year ended September 28, 2013 faimplies with th
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SdearExchange Act of 1934 and that informationtedmed in such Form 1R-fairly present

in all material respects the financial conditior aasults of operations of Apple Inc. at the dated for the periods indicated.

Date: October 29, 2013

By: /s/ Timothy D. Cook
Timothy D. Cook
Chief Executive Office

I, Peter Oppenheimer, certify, as of the datesdiepursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptesguant to Section 906 of the Sarbane
Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report of Appie. on Form 1K for the fiscal year ended September 28, 2013 faimplies with th
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the S@earExchange Act of 1934 and that informationta@med in such Form 1B-fairly present

in all material respects the financial conditiom aasults of operations of Apple Inc. at the dated for the periods indicated.

Date: October 29, 2013

By: /s/ Peter Oppenheimer
Peter Oppenheimt
Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Office

A signed original of this written statement reqdidgy Section 906 has been provided to Apple Ind.will be retained by Apple Inc. a
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commigsidts staff upon reques



